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Note o the prenaration of this report
The abbreviations used throughout this document are as follows:

£R(3 = Eurasian Resources Group 8.2 1. (the ultimate parent company of the Group)

Group = ERG and ils subsidiaries
EREG BY = Eurasian Resources Group BV, (a wholly owned subsidiary of ERG)

ENRC = Eurasian Natura! Resocurces Corporation Limited, formerly Eurasian Natural Resources
Corporation PLC

The review and analysis of the business, {inancial and operational performance, as well as the
computation of key performance indicators of the Group in these financial statements have been
nased on a consolidated proforma batance sheet and income sfaternent for the Group. The
infarmation in these sections fs unaudifed unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated proforma balance sheet and noome siatermant, which are unaudited, have baen
prepared on the basis that ENRC and #s subsidiaries have been pari of the Group since 1 January
2043 and hence the 2013 financial results of ENRC and its subsidiaries have been inciuded for the
entire financial year. This proforma balance sheet and income statemegnt have been prepared by
aggregating the financial statements of ERG, FRG BY and ENRC and its subsidiaries, This illustrative
proforma information excludes the impact of any fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of
ENRC in 2013 which the Group had recorded in its financial statements. The purpese of the
ifustrative proforma information is to provide a comparable basa to analyse the Group’s performance
in 2014 against prior yaar,
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Rusiness Reviow

Acouisition of ENRG

On 24 June 2013, ERG BY, 2 wholly owned subsidiary of ERG, announced the terms of an offer for
the entire issued share capital of ENRC, other than the shares aiready held by ERG BV, ERG is a
consortium comprised of the Group’s founding shareholders, Mr Alexander Machkevitch, Mr Alijan
ibragimov and Mr Patokh Chodiev, as well as fhe State Property and Privatisation Committee of the
Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhatan. Under the tenms of the offer, ENRC sharehoiders
received USS2.B5 in cash and 0.230 Kazakhmys shares for each ENRC share. The offer went
unconditional on 25 October 2013 and ENRC was delisted from the London Stock Exchangs on 25
Novembar 2013, The offer to shareholders closed on 18 December 2013, with ENRC delisting from
the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange on 27 December 2013 and being re-rogistered as a Limited
company on 16 January 2014, ERG currently owns approximately 99.81% of the shares in ENRC.
with the remaining shares held by minority shareholders whe did not to participate in the offer.

Sirateqgy

The Group has undartaken a complete strategic review ol all of its assels as well as an in-depth study
of the long-term viability of its investmerts, which has allowed the Group to priovitise its core assets
and certain strategic projects for further development, both in Kazaknstan and internationally.

Non-core assets within the Group's asset portfolio (mainly greenfield and minority share projects) are
to be divesied. The process has stzried in 2014 with the disposal of the Chambishi slag dump {Other
Non-ferrous Division), Zhairemsky GOK JSC, and continued in 2015 with the disposal of Serov
Ferroalioy Plant JSC and Saranovskaya Mine Rudnaya {Ferroalioys Division).

The Group has also launched across-the-board business improvement programmaes focusing on best
working practice in each of the associated industries, optimising output, cost control and capital
expenditure requirements to maximize the profit and return on its assets. The programmes have
already produced significent achisvements, particularly in terms of unit cost control, and wil be
implemented further in line with the Group's continuous improvement initiative.

After the Group had been delisted from the London Stock Exchange and taken private, the corporate
headguarters were successfully moved from London fo Luxembeoury in 2014, The management team
has been reinforced, and changes in the corporate governance system have been initiated in order {0
bring business process management closer o the Group's value creation centres.

Corporate Governance and Compliance

The Board of Managers of ERG, composed of two reprasentatives of the Government of Kazakhstan
and three founding sharehoiders, give the direction to the Group for all aspects of corporate
governance and comphiance, Tha Board is committed to ensuring that the Group complies with laws
relevant 1o its business wherever it operates. The Group is commitiad to continually improving the
existing compliance framework across all of its husinesses for the prevention of,

Bribery and corruption;

Assisting or facilitating money laundering;
Anti-competitive behaviour; and

Breaches of internationa! sanctions regimeas.

g ®& & @&
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Substantial effort has been made to further sirangthen and develop the compliance framework of the
Group. 1t is designed around five elementis:

s Board policies {including the code of conduct), which define the Board requirements with
regard to key compliance risks;

« Competent compliance organisation, systems, toois and training;

¢ Regular management reporting on the status of compliance 1o the Compliance Committee and
the Board;

» internal Audit, which independently and objectively verifies compliance of business units and
staff with the Group code of conduct and compliance policies; and :

s A Whistleblowing Hatling and internal invesiigation process, which zilows empioyees to report
anonymously any suspicions of misconduct and which defines the reguirament for nandling
such allegations by the Group in a competent, independent and chiective way.

This work includes further implementation of procedures for approvai of counterparties throughout the
Group; embedding the counterparty due difigence process; and online training across the Group on
counterparty due diligence, anti-monegy laundering and terrorist financing. Further training of staff
celated to the Group’s updated code of canduct will take place during 2015

The Serious Fraud Office {the ‘'SFO’) Process

The Serious Fraud Office is an indepandent government department that investigates and prosecutes
serious or complex fraud and corruption, The SFO forms part of the UK criminal justice system with
jurisdiction in England. Between 2011 and 2013, ENRC was engaged in an internal investigation into
ceriain matters, including allegations around its operations and assets in, and transactions nwolving,
Kazakhsian and Africa (in particular, the Democratic Republic of Congo ‘DRCY. Throughout that
period, ENRC voluntarily provided the SFO with 2 considerable amount of information resulting from
this investigation. In late April 2013, the SFO decided to open a formal investigation into ENRC. The
SFO has recently confirmed that it is no longer "actively investigating” the Company's operations in
Kazakhstan. The SFO have not indicated to ENRC the precise scope of their investigation into Africa.
ENRC is represented by specialist external counsel. The investigation is continuing.

tHealth and safety

ERG is greatly saddened by 17 fatalities that securred during the year (2013: 15), of which 13 were
employess (2013 12). The number of contractor fatalities increased to 4 in 2014 (2013: 3). The Board
and senior management team would like 10 exprass sincere condolences fo sl the families involved in
thess fragic circumstances.

in 2014 97 lost time injuries {'LTIs") o employses (2013: 85) were recorded. The LT1 frequency rate
was 0.70 (2013 0.80). These numbers include all the reporied employee fatality cases.

The Groun remains committed to improving the safety of our employees and contractors and continue
to make progress with our Group-wide safety improvement programme. We are paying increased
attention to risk mitigation and to (he process of satety improvements. With the help of DubPont we
have finslised e implementation of the basic teols to control unsafe behaviour, We are commitied to
continue developing a safety culture with special attention o changing personal values for safety
among our empioyees.

Proforma business perfonnance

in response 1o challenging market conditions, the Group reviewed its production plan in order to
enhance production efficiency and 1o maximise profitability. During 2014 we continued ramping up
copper production in the Other Non-ferrous Division, with Froptier's output increasing almost 50%
year-on-year, Ferroalioys production saw minor growth, while producticn of iron ore was reduced
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driven by adverse pricing environment. In addition, production of alumina and aluminium was adjusted
in accordance with the changing envirenment — lower at the beginning of the year and then later
increased in order to benefit from improved LME prices and lower electricity tariffs resulting from the
devaluation of the Kazakhstani tenge.

Total saleable ferroalioy production increased 0.7% against the prior year f¢ 1,552 ki {2013: 1,541 k).
Total saleable ron ore concentrate and pellets production decreased by 8.6% 1o 14,925 kt (2013
15,983 kt). Alumina production was 1,419 ki (2013: 1,590 kt), down 10.8% from 2013 and aluminium
production 208 kt (20137 251 ki), 17.1% down from the previous year. Totsl saleable copper
contained production increased by 45% year-on-yeer fo 1234 ki (2013 85.1 ki), In 2014, coal
extraction remained at the same level as in 2013, with higher output from Shubarkol, up 8.5%,
compensating for lower volumes from EEC, down by 2.8%.

The tenge devaluation in February 2014 had & positive impact on operating costs and along with
various oplimisation programmes implemented across operationat units, helped to mitigate a severe
reduction in commaodity prices and drop i sales volumes. As a result of the devaluation, unit costs of
commaodities produced in Kazakhstan were noliceably lower than in the prior year. Ferrogziloys and
alumina unit costs benefited the most, while the devaluation effect on fron ore and coal was partially
offset by a higher share of mine development costs, associated with accelerated overburden removal
i order io reduce the backlog and a higher absorption rate of fixed cosis spread over lower
production volumes.

Proformsa financial performance

Despite the pressure of a further drop in commodity prices, the Group was able to sustain proforma
underlying EBITDA at the same level as in 2013, primarily benefiting from the tenge devaluation. For
the vear ended 31 December 2014, proforma underlying EBITDA amounted to US$1,847 million
(2013 US$1,874 million).

Proforma revenue in 2014 amounted o US$5,831 million (2013 1J5%6,429 million) which was
US$508 million, or 8.3% lower compared to the previous year. 1J8%427 million of the revenus
docrease was attributable to lower commodity prices, particularly for iron ore. A further US$189
million decresse was associated with a shortfall in sales volumes of ferroalioys, ron ore, alumina and
alurinium. This was partially offset by a higher contribution from e Other Non-farrous Division, with
a higher output of copper and copper suiphide concentrate resulting from a further production ramp-
up @i Frontier.

Sroforma cost of sales amounted to US$3,308 milion (2013 US$3,844 miltion) which was US$536
million, or 13.9% lower than in the previous year. The cost of sales reduction was mainly a result of
the fenge devaluation, since the majority of costs at production entities located in Kazakhstan are
denominated in tenge. Additionally, there was an effect of volume reduction on cost of sales in
comparison with 2013, with weaker sales of ferrcalioys, iron ore, aluming and aluminium, being
partially offset by a higher output of copper.

Drofarma distribution costs decreased substantially to US$471 million (2013 US$EE51 million} due to
lower sales of iron ore to China and lower railway costs for goods transported within Kazakhstan,
mainly @ result of the tenge devaluation.

Proforma general and administrative expenses remained af approximately the same level as in 2013
and amounted 1o US$6E82 miilion (2013 US$850 million). The slight increase was mainly associated
with the restructuring of corporate offices.

Proforma exploration costs were reduced 10 USS$30 million (2013: US$79 milliony due to cutbacks in
exploration programmes within the Other Non-ferrous Division.
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ERG Group financial performance
The Group finalised its review of the fair value of assets and liabiliies recognised at the date of
acquisition for the ENRC transaction. As a resuil, the gain on acquisition recognised within the

Consclidated income statement for the period ended 31 December 2013 has increased by US$564
miton, from USSE 846 million to US$5,710 milion.

Financing

The Group secured additional kquidity during the year with the signing of a USE350 million loan
agreement with Development Bank of Kazakhstan. The loan is secured by guarantess from ceriain
Group companies and was fully draws as at 31 December 2014.

Thare were also several changes to existing faciiies:

» The Group entered into an agreement to restructure its USE500 million FQM Promissory Note.
A principal repayment of USS$70 milfion was made on the original note and 2 new promissory
note agreement of US$430 million was entered into with a maturity date of 31 December 2015.
The note is secured by guarantees from cerfain Group companies. The original promissory
note was extinguished in March 2014,

» The Group entered into an amendment to an existing L53$2,000 million loan facifity with
Sherbank of Russia. This amendment rescheduies the capital repayments, which reduced the
existing contracied capital repayments during 2014 and querter one of 2015, with the
rescheduled balance being payable along with the final instalment in January 2017. An
agreement was also signed with Sherbani of Russia to push down the existing facility, together
with an existing term loan facility of US$500 million, into JSC TNU Kazchrome and SSGRO
JSC. The pushdown was completed in May 2013,

« in October 2014, the Group’s US$1,000 million facility with Russian Commercial Bank (Cyprus)
Limited (part of the VTB group) was extended in two tranches. Tranche A for US3500 million
was initially extended unlii the 318 March 2015 and subsequently further extended until the 31
March 2017, whereas Tranche B for US$500 million was extended untii the 30" September
20186,

Eull details of the new facility, amendments to existing facilities and facilities repaid are provided in
note 30 and 42 fo the Consolidated financial statements.

Diebt Struciure
The table below shows the Group's maturity profile of principal amounts at 31 December 2014, which
excludes accruad inferest and fee amortisation.

in USE millions

2015 1,187
20186 2,764
2017 1,012
2018 2,203
201¢ ' 96
2020 592
2021 ~ 2025 244

As at the end of 2014, the average maturity profile of outstarding debt was 3.1 years (2013 36
YREIS).
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The Group's debt structure is analysed further in notes 30 and 35 1o the Consolidated financial
siatements.

Going Concarn

In addition to the increased debt burden following the acquisition of ENRC, the Group requires on-
going access io capiial to refinance debt maturities and support its sustaining and expansionary
pusiness plans. The Group continuously monitors iis financial position to ensure sufficient liguidity
headroom is in place to support its business needs and to ensure compliance with loar covenants or
to obtain waivers where appropriate. Howsver, due to this additional debt burden, both liguidity and
compliance with corfain loan covenants have become more sensitive to market changes, in particular
those which impact the Group's underlying cash flows, such as commaodity prices.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group has taken a number of actions to ensure that there is sufficient
resilierice o such movements and provide additional headroom in hoth liguidity and loan covenant
compliance, such as negotiating amendments o existing debt agreements, entering info new debi
- agreements and disposal of certain assefs, as defailed in note 1 to the Consolidated financial
statemenis.

The Board has reviewed the liguidity available to it for the period until 30 June 2016, There are
pericds of forecast limited liquidity as a result of the deterioration in market sanditions primarily in
respect of lower expected commodity prices and higher costs and the requirements o repay of
refinance existing facilities (the Group's acquisition facility of US$1.7 billion falls due for repayment in
June 20186).

The Managers note the unceriainties, in particular the material uncertainty in respect of the US$H1.7
billion acquisition facility, above in reaching their conclusion in respect of the Group's ability ¢
continue as a going concern. The Managers of the Group continue believe that their strong
relationships with existing banking partners and the Kazakhstan government will ensure continued
support for the Group's business plans. Although there is currently no firm commitment with our
banking partners (o refinance the Group’s acquisition facility, the Group is confident that given the
continued suppott it has received that the maturity of this amount will be extended during the course
of the year. In addition, the Board caontinue 1o review and optimize the Group’s business plans in
respect of operations and working capital management and are confident that addiliona! liguidity
improvements can be achisved.

Taking all of these factors inlo consideration, the Manzgers consider that the Group has adequate
access to resources to continue its business operations for the foreseeable fature.

Investment in assets

Management comprehensively reviewed iis capital expenditure programme in order to refiect
worsening market conditions and capital constraints faced by the Group and to outline the priorities in
e approach io capital investments. The Group's focus in 2014 was on completion of the projects
commenced in the last few years and on maintaining production capacity at the required fevel. Thus
the New Aktobe Ferroalloy Plant began trial production at the end of 2014 with a designed annual
capacity of 440kt of high-carbon ferrochrome. The additional capacity from the new plant, based on
advanced technology, aims to boost ferrochrome production in 2018 and retain Kazchrome as a low
cost ferrochrome producer.

The investments in Africa were fo%zz.zsed on coppar expansion prejects, where the Group continued K8
devaiopmant of Frontier,

Page & of 145



Document émis électroniquement

Looking ahead

The latest update on the global economic outicok emphasises slower than expected growth in China
and 2 much weaker outiock in Russia. China’s investmeni growth declined at the end of 2014 and
jeading indicators point to a further slowdown. The projection for Russia reflects the economic impact
of drastically reduced ol prices and increased geopolitical tensions. By contrast the Kazakhstani
tenge is currently overvalued, and shouid this continue will impact the Group's costs as a substantial
portion of the Group's cosis are in Kazakhetan. n addiion to a slowdown in the Group's major
markets, there is a strong expectation of & further decline in iron ore and copper prices.

Given the above, the Group's management is highly committed to ensure immadiate responses to

changing circumstances, together with a focus on careful resource altocation in order to meet future
expectations.
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The kev performance indicators (‘KPi's) provide a means by which the Group measures its financiat
and sustainabie development performance. The Group's performance against these measures is

explained below.

Financial KPis

Oespite challenging financial environment and continuing market pressure, the Group was able to
sustain its financial performance in line with the prior year.

Proforma undsrlying ERITDA'

This is a measure of ihe underlying
profitability of the Group. Despite severe
decline i prices for some of the key
commodities produced by the Groun, the
proforrna Underlying EBITDA in 2014 has
remaingd at similar levels in comparison {o
the two prior years. This was a result of
thorough production planning anc cargful
rescurces aliocation combined with positive
impact of devalustion of the Kazakhstani
tenge.

‘Owfiniion of Lindertying EBITTA can be found in note 40 i
the Consolidated Bnanaial slaloments

Proforma net debt to proforma
Underlying EBITDA"

Net debt is defined as external borrowings
less cash and cash equivaienis. The
proforma net debt to proforma underiying
EBITDA ratic reflects the liquidity position of
the Group and the number of vears it would
take the Group to repay its debis based on
its underlying profitability. The proforma ratio
in 2014 remained at the same leve! as last
year, reflacting stable Underlying EBITLA
and similey level of net debl

‘Dafinition of Underlying EBITDA can be found in nole 40 fo
the Conaslidatad finanofal statements,

2
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Sustainability K¥is

Fn 2014 the Group continued {o mainialn key processes and controls over sustainabiity KPis and fo
integrate our non-financial data into risk assessment and investmaent planning. Further detais can be
found in the susiainable development review on page 25,

Work-related fatalities

The fatalities number for 2011, 2012,
2013 and 2014 includes both employees
and contractors {2010 includes only
employess’ work-related fatslities). In
2014, 17 fataities occurred during the
year {2013 15), of which 13 were
emplovees (2013:12) and 4 contractors
{2013 3). Managsment are paying
increased attention {o employse and
contractor safety management and
supervision.

l.ost time injury frequency rate
{LTIFR’}

insignificant increass in LTIFR is
associated with increase of injuries at
production entities of the Group. The
root causes of each case were
investigated and action plans to improve
existing controls were developed.

7]

Community social investment (‘C8I}
Community development is a major part 156
of the Group's social and culturai
responsibiiities particularly in
Kazakhstan, but increasingly in Africa
and Brazil.

in 2014, the Group’s worldwide proforma
81 contributions ware USS47 milfion
(2013 L8342 miltion), of which US$7.3
million was in Africa, US30.7 million in
Brazil and US$1 million in Russia with
the remainder in Kazakbstan.
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Operational review

ERG is a global diversified mining group and operates through six divisions supported by central
sales and marketing department. Five of these divisions are predominantly based in Kazakhstan with
the Other Non-ferrous Division based in Afiica.

Farroalloys Division

The Ferroalloys Division primarily produces and sells ferrochrome, as wall as other ferroalioys, for use
as alloving products in the production of steel, whilst manganese and chrome ore are soid to third
parly producers of ferrcalioys as well as the chemical industry. The Group is one of the large
ferrochirome producers in the world by chrome content with the lowest production cost of high-carben
ferrochrome.

Iran Ore Division

The Iron Ore Division consisis of producing assets i Kazakhstan and exploration and development
assats in Brazil In Kazakhstan the lron Ore Division produces and sells iron ore concentrate and
petlets primarily to stesl producers and 1t is a material axportar of won ore.

Alumina and Aluminium Division
The Alumina and Aluminium Division produces and sells alumina to aluminium producers, and aiso
produces and sells the Group's own aluminium.

Other Non-farrous Division

The Other Nor-ferrous Division operates principally in the DRC, where it mines copper and cobalt and
processes the ore. It also owns the Chambishi copper refinery in Zambia. In addition, the Group has a
niumber of exploration and development assels primarily in the DRC, Mozambique, Zimbabwe and
South Africa.

Energy Division
The Energy Division is ong of the largest electricity providers and coal and semi-coke producers i
Kazakhstian.

Logistics Division

The Logistics Division provides transportation and logistics services 1o the Group's principal
Kazakhstani operating divisions, as well as 1o third parties. '
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Ferroalioys Division

2013 ERG %
Key Facts 2014 ERG Proformg’ Change®
Third-party Sales YVolumes
High-carbon ferrochrome G0t 1,132 1,125 0.56%
Medium-carbon ferrochrome ‘000t 30 39 23. 1%
Low-carbon ferrochromes 000t 61 73 (16.4)%
Ferrosilicochrome ‘000t L o5 1.1%
Ferrosilicomanganese ‘000t 132 158 {16.5)%
rerrosilicon gt 33 32 3.1%
Total Farroalloys 0G0t 1,484 1,622 (2.5)%
Chrome ore ‘000t 484 704 (34.1)%
Manganese concentraie 0001 606 624 (2.8)%
Produstion _
Chrome ore 0O 4,047 3,216 3.3%
Manganese ore congentraie GO0 969 995 {2.6}%
Ferroalloys tolal gross 000t 1,781 1,757 1.4%
Farroalloys total net 000t 1,552 1,541 0.7%
High-carbon ferrochrome ¢gross 006G 1,256 1,235 1.7%
_High-carbon farrochrome net 000t 1,141 1,124 1.5%
Resuilts for the yearfperiod
2014 ERG 2013 ERG
Group Group 2014 ERG 2013 ERG %
In miflions of US$ (Audited) (Audited) Proforma Profarina’ Change®
Revenue 2,378 507 2,37¢ 2,501 (5.01%
Underlying EBITDA 599 {9} 999 215 22.6%

" Tne ERG Proforma nurmbers have been compiied on the basis that ENRC was a subsidiary of ERG from the start of the
2013 financial year and not only for the period post acquisition, See page 3 for detalls.

% Represents the difference between 2014 ERG and 2013 ERG Proforma,

* Represents the difference between 2014 ERG Proforna and 2013 ERG Proforma.

The Eerroalloys Division contributed US$299 milion o the Group’s proforma Underlying EBITDA
(2013; US$815 million). Weaker demand for ferroalloys resulted in lower sales volumes, which
reduced the Division’s proforma revenue by US$T18 miliion. Average realised prices remained
approximately at the same level as tast year. The higher operating profit margin of the Division was
mostly due to the tenge devaluation as the majority of costs in Kazakhstan are denominated in tenge.
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fron Ors Division \

_ 2013 ERG %
Key Facts 2014 ERG Proforma’ Changs”
Third-party Sales Volumes
lron ore concentrate ‘00Ot 9,274 9,478 {2.2)%
lron ore paliet ‘060t 5,726 6,741 (15.1)%
Production
iron ore mined 000t 38,827 40,840 {(4.9}%
lron ore primary concentrate ‘000t 15,645 18,748 (7.2)%
Results for the yeadperiod

014 ERG 2013 ERG
Groun Group 2014 ERG 2013 ERG i
iy millions of USS (Audited) {Audited) Proforma Proforma’ Change’
Revenue 1,323 31 1,323 1,840 {28.1)}%
Underlying EBITDA 448 105 448 806 {44.4)%

Vrhe BRG Proforma numbers have been computed on the basis that ENRC was 2 subsidiary of ERG from the stari of the
2013 financial year and not only for the period post acquisition. See page 3 for details.

*represents the difference between 2014 ERG and 2013 £RG Proforma.

i Represents the difference hetween 2{14 ERG Proforma and 2013 ERG Proforma.

The lron Ore Division contributed USS448 million or 24.3% to the Group's proforma underiying
EBITDA (2013 US$808 million). A sharp reduction in the Division's nerformance as compared to last
year was caused by a dramatic fall in fron ore prices, not seen since the global economic downtum in
2000 Lower sales volumes of iron ore pellet to China alse had a negative impact on revenue,
Divisional results were positively impacied by the tenge devaluation. At the same time, higher costs
were driven by increased stripping volumes and a higher absorption rate of fixed costs spread over
lower production volumes.
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Alumina and Aluminium Division

2013 ERG %
Key Facts 2014 ERG pProforma’ Change”
Third-party Sales Volumes
Ajumina RUbE 1,318 1,107 {8.0)%
Aluminium D00t 244 252 {15.1}%
Production
Bauixite mined 000t 4,516 5,192 {13.0)%
Alumina produced GO0t 1,419 1,590 {10.8)%
Aluminium produced 000t 208 251 (17.1)%
Resuits for the yeariperiod

2044 ERG 2013 ERG
Group Group 2014 ERG 2013 ERG %
In mitiions of US$ {Audited) (Audited Proforma Proforma’ Change®
Rovenue T8z 132 782 877 {10.8})%
Underilying EBITDA 147 {17} 147 {14y {(1150.0)%

“rhe ERG Proforma numbers have been computed on ihe basis hat ENRC was a subsidiary of ERG from the start of the
202 fnancial yesr and not only for the peried post acugssiion. See page 3 for details.

? Represents the difference between 2014 ERG and 2013 ERG Proforma.

* Represents the difference butwesn 2014 ERG Proformna and 2013 ERG Proforna,

The Alumina and Aluminium Division contributed US$147 million to the Group’s proforma Underlying
EBITDA (2013:U8%(14) milion), The division's proforma revenue dechined by US$95 million, primarily
as a result of lower sales volumes. The average sales prices were slightly higher compared o 2013.
in 2014, the Group shipped 1,004 ki (2013t 1,107 ki) of alumina to RUSAL under a long-term supply
contract. The division's proforma operating costs decreased due to the tenge devaluation and lower
production.
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Other MNon-derrous Division

2013 ERG %
Key Facts 2014 ERG Proforma’ Change®
Third-party Sales Volumes
Copper metal ‘000t 56.8 51.¢ 11.0%
Copper concentrate {Frontier) ‘006t 884 32.8 64.0%
Copper concentrate (Gomide) 00G 0.6 o n/a
Tolat cobalt contained OOt 84 84 {10.6)%
Cobalf as a by-product 000t 4.5 4.2 7.1%
Production’
Saleable copper metal ‘000t 4.4 518 8.9%
Saleable copper concentraie {Frontier) 000t 54.9 33.3 64.9%
Saleabla copper concentrate (Comidea; ‘Tt 12.1 - n/a
Saleable coball contained ‘000t 9.2 a.7 (5.2
Results for the yeaviparicd
2614 ERG 2013 ERG
Group Group 2014 ERG 2013 ERG %
In rpitions of USH {Audited} {Audited) Proforma Proforma” Change”
Revenue 964 200 864 848 13.7%
Underlying EBITDA 53 (8) 53 24 120.8%

T preduction numbers for saleable copper and coball refers to tonnes of contained metal. Contained metal consists of total
units, whether In metal form o metal units contained in concentrate and sludge, net of intermal consumption.

“The ERG Proforma mumbers have been compuiad on the basis that ENRC was a subsidiary of ERG fram ihe star of the
20113 financial year and not only for the period post acquisition. Ses page 3 for detalls,

“ Represents the difference between 2014 ERG and 2013 ERG Proforma,

TRepresents the difference between 2014 ERG Proforma and 2013 ERG Proforma.

The Division's proforma revenue increased by US$116 million. This was achieved mostly by
sroduction ramp-up at the Frontier plant which resulted in higher sales of copper sulphide concenirate
{US$131million), higher sales of copper metal resulting from enhanced production at both Boss
Mining and Chambishi (US$40 million} and external sales of surplus of DMS copper concentrate
produced by Comide not consumed internally in copper metal production (US$29 million). Weaker
sales of cobalt reduced revenue by US$26 million and decline of copper prices reduced revenug by
LUS387 million.

Proforma costs of sales increased following production ramp-up. There was also a negative impact
due to increased cverburden removai Costs.

Proforma distribution costs and general and administrative expenses increased following higher
nroduction and reduced capitalisation of Metakol expenditure gue 1o project being placed under care
and maintenance for this period. Proforma exploration costs were sigrificantly reduced as a resuit of
cuibacks in exploration programmes,
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Energy Uivision

NI ERG Y
Key Facts 2014 ERG Proforma’ Change”
Third-narty Sales Yolumes
Coat EEC ‘000t 5,888 6,280 {6.2)%
Coat Shubarkot '000t 8,412 7,271 15.7%
Semi-coke P00k 51 52 (1.8)%
Eleciricity GWwh 4,702 3,122 50.6%
Consumption
Coal consumed in the production of EEEI 4,310 8,157 1.7%

electricily
Fiectricity produced and consumed for GWh 1,127 1,082 4.2%
oWn use
Production
Coal EEC 000t 19,728 20,506 {3.8)%
Coal Shubarkol 000t $,668 8,827 9.5%
Semi-coke ‘000Gt 173 197 {(12.2)%
Elactricity GWh . 16,401 15,213 7.8%
Resuits for the year/period
2014 ERG 2013 ERG

Group Groug 2014 ERG 2013 ERG g2
i millions of US$ {Audited) (Audited) Proforma Proforma’ Changs’
Revenue 655 185 655 687 {4.7}%
Underlying EBITDA 274 60 271 298 {9.1)%

*The BERG Proforma numbers have been computed on the basis that ENRC was a subsidiaty of FRE from the start of the
2015 financiat year and not only for the period post acguisition. See page 3 for detalls.

2 Represents the difference between 2014 ERG and 2013 ERG Proforma.

® Represents the difference between 2014 ERG Profarma and 2013 ERG Proforma.

Total extraction of coal was at the same level as in 2013, Lower coal production at EEC resulted from
a breakdown of the overburden equipment, was compensated by higher coal production at Shubarkal.
Etectricity production was higher in order 1o meet the needs of the New Aktobe Ferroalloy Plant at
Kazchrome,

The Energy Division's proforma revenue decreased to LS$655 milion as a result of lower
consumption of coal and electricity within the Group due to decreased production of atuminium.
Surplus of coal and electricity was sold outside the Group which resuited in higher third party revenue.
There was also negative impact of tange devaluation reducing revenue received from sales of coal
and electricity in Kazakhstan.

Proforma cost of sales increase was mainly associated with higher electricity production. Proforma

distribution costs and proforma general and administrative expenses slighily decreased compared fo
2013 due to the tenge devaluation.
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Logistics Division

2013 ERG Yo
Key Facts 2014 ERG Proforma.’ Changs”
Transportation
Total tonnage ransported by rail ‘000t £6 028 58,792 {(4.7)%
Zales Volumes
Third-party freight forwarding 000t 7,560 6,844 10.5%
Results for the year/period

2014 ERG 2013 ERG
Group {Sroup 2014 ERG 2013 ERG U

in miliions of U3§ {Audited) {(Audited) Proforma Proforma’ Change”
Revenue 205 38 205 248 (17.3}%
Underlying EBITDA 81 16 81 108 {25.0)%

e FRG Oroforma numbers have been computed on the basis thay ENRG was a subsidiary of ERG from the start of the
26313 financial year and not only for the period post acquisition. See page 3 for detalls.

* Represents the difference between 2074 ERG and 2013 ERG Proforma.

*Represents e diferance between 20144 ERG Broforma and 2013 ERG Proforma.

The Division's proforma revenue decreased by USS43 million o US$205 million (2013; US$248
raillion} mainly as 2 result of the reduction of iron ore transported by the Division to China and lower
volume of bauxite transported from mines to alumina refinery due fo reduction in alumina praduced.
Droforma cost of sales decreased primarily as a result of lower transportation volumes and tenge
gevaluation.
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Financial review
income sfatement

Summary income siatement

Yaar/period ended Years ended
31 December 31 December
2013
ERG
2014 Group
ERG (Audited) 2014 2013
Group Az ERG ERG
i rBtions of LSS funless stated othenwiss) {Audited) restated  Proforms  Proforma’ Chang_ez_
Hevenus 5,831 1,235 5,831 8,429 {598}
Cost of sales {3.738) (883) {3,308) (3,844 536
Grous profit 2,073 252 2,523 2 585 3r3]
DHetribution costs {471} {108} {471) {551) 80
General and administrative expensas {882} {135) (682) (B50} 32y
Syploration costs {30) 1 (34} {79 49
impairmenis (102) - 9 {4240 4,268
Onerous contract reversall{charge) 186 14 186 {18} 204
Nom-recurring dems — operating {13 {145} {4} (193} 192
Gain on disposal of subsidianes 98 - 274 - 274
Net other operaiing incormeliaxpense) 39 {123 39 {12) 51
Ouverating profit{loss) 1,108 (143) 1,887 {3,158) 5,025
Operating profifoss) margin 32.0% (48.1)%
Net inance cost {730} (103 (670} (400} {2703
Nor-recuring items — finance - {1y - {(59) 59
Met gain arising from business combinations e 5710 - - -
Share of tess of inint ventures and associates (3) — 23 - {3}
Profiti{loss) befors income tax 376 5463 1,184 {38617} 4811
income tax {(expensey/credit (213} {19} (385) 146 {531)
Profit!{joss) for the year/period 162 H,444 309 (3471} 4,280

! The ERG proforma nusnhers have been computed on the basis that ENRC was a subsidiary of ERG from the start of the
2013 financial year and not onty for the period post acquisition. Ses paga 3 for detalls.
? Represents the difference between 2014 ERG Proforma and 2013 ERG Proforma.

A summary review of ihe Group's proforma underlying oparating results is included in the Business
review on page 4, with additional divisional reviews in the relevant sections of tha Operational review.
Incluged below is a commentary of material non-operating and non-recurting items included withiri the
Group's income statement.
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214 FRG Proforma

Impairments and onerous contract provision

As @ result of the annual impairment review of cash-generating units ('CGUS’), the Group recognised
ar impairment charge of US$92 million of the coal CGU within Eurasian Energy Corporation, Known
as the Vostochryi pit, resulting from on-going pressure on costs and decreased revenue and
increased capital expenditure as a resuit of the tenge devaluation.

On a proforma basis, the Group also recogrised reversals of previous impairmert on property, plant
and equipment of Kazakhstan Aluminium Smetter (US$H103 million), and Serov Feroalloy Plant JSC
and Saranovskava Mine Rudnaya (‘Serov) {LIS$27 million).

The Group had praviously recognised an onerous contract provision relating to its alumina contract
with RUSAL. n 2014, cerlain terms of the contract were amended snd the contract was extended
undif 2020, The LME price of aluminium aiso improved, and as a result, the criferia to recognise the
contract as onerous are no fonger met and the provision has been reversed (US$186 million),

Further detall regarding impairments and the onerous contract provision is set out in note 10 io the
Consolidated financial statements.

Net finance cost

Net finance costs increased by 68% to US$670 million (2013 1S3400 million) as & result of intarest
on the faciliies drawn down to fund the acquisition of ENRC in 2013. For the year ended 31
December 2014, the facilitics bore interest for a full year, as opposed W a portion of the year ended
31 December 2013

Taxation

The Group's proforma income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2014 is US$385 million
(2013 income tax credit US$148 million), with an Effective Tax Rate (ETR) of 32.2% (2013: 4.0%).
Exciuding the impact of impairmeris, the Group's adjusted proforma income [ax expense is US$382
million (2013: US$454 miliicn), with an ETR of 32.8% (2013: 84.9%).
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2014 ERG Group

Net finance cost
et finance costs increased by 809% to US$730 million (2013: US$103 million) as & result of interest
on the faciliies drawn down o fund the acquisition of ENRC in 2013, For the year ended 31

Necamber 2014, the faclities bore interest for a full year, as opposed to a portion of the period ended
31 December 2013.

Taxation

The Group's income tax expense for the period endad 31 December 2014 was US3213 million (2013:
US$19 mitlion}, with an Effective Tax Rate (ETR') of 56.8% (20131 0.3%).

2013 Comparatives
During the year, the Group finalised the accounting for the acguisition of ENRGC, which was
determined provisionally in the prior period.

Rafar ’_to note 5 husiness combination for further details.
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Batance shegt

Summary balance sheet

As zt 31 Decembey

2013

ERG

2014 Group

ERG {Audited) 2044 2013
Group As FRG ERG
tn riflions of LSS {Auditsd) cesiated  Proforma  Proforma’  Change”
Property. plant and equipment 15,037 17,288 10,754 11,715 (2,249}
Goodwill and intangiblte asseis 157 480 ar7 1,066 {3}
Qiber non-curran! agsets 378 597 374 579 {221}
15,570 18,043 12,108 13,350 (2.473)
oarent assels fexcluding cash) 2,406 2547 2,442 2,450 (241}
Cash and cash equivalents 797 478 Tet 478 318
3,203 3,128 3,209 2928 78
Asseds held {or sale 77 — 107 e I¥i
Total assels 18,8480 21,188 15,4214 16,278 (23181

Eguily atinbutable {o owners of the Company 6,808 8,567 & 487 B D%t {1,761}
Equity aiributable to non-controlling interests 371 a5 198 217 {24}
Tolal equily 7,477 8,952 4,685 5,298 {1,785}
Non-current borrowings 6,076 6,671 §,275 6,514 {BY5)
Defared fax liabilities 2,452 2,804 1,335 1,406 {452}
Oiher non-gurrant liabilites 234 474 233 474 {240}
8,762 10,048 7.843 £,784 {1,287}
Currant Borawings 4,805 8385 1,805 g925 910
Other current liabilitiss 1,680 1,262 1,082 1,261 {152}
2,885 2457 2,887 2,186 728
{ iabilities held for sale 26 - 8 e 26
Total liabilities 11,673 12,208 10,756 10,980 {5333
Total iabilities and equity 18,854 21,188 158,421 16,278 {2,318}

1 The ERG Proforma numbers have boen computed on the basis that ENEC was a subsidiary of ERG from the start of the
| 2013 financial year and not only for the periad post aoquisiion.
* Represents the difference between 2014 ERG Group {Audited) and 2013 ERG Group {Auditad).
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2014 ERG Group

The decrease of US$2,473 million in non-current assets is primarily drivert by foreign exchange
differences resulting from the devaluation of the Kazakhstani Tengs (‘KZT"). Further detail is set outin
note 36 to the Consolidated financial statements. Net year to date foreign exchange differences on
properly, plant and equipment totalled US$2 057 million. Additions to property, plant and equipment
totalled LSS 030 million less the related depreciation charge of US$845 million less disposals of
U5$286 miliion.

Net borrowings have increased by US$315 miliion as a result of a new US$350 million loan facility

with the Development Bank of Kazakhstan. A summary of the Group’s horrowings is set cutin note 30
to the Consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flow
Summary cash tlow statement
Year/periud ended Years ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
ERG ERG path b 2013
Zroun Group ERG ERG
in reittions of UBS {Audited) (Audited)  Proforma  roforma’ Ch;;wr'ige2
Nei cash generated from operating activities 733 128 733 1,036 {303}
Net cash used for investing aciivities (694} (2113 {694} (1,251} 1,257
MNet cash used for investing activities -
accssition of BENRC sharss - {1,084} - {1.084) 1,084
Net cash generated from financing activities 297 1,629 297 1,771 {1,474
Net changes in cash and cash equivalenis 336 487 338 {228} 564
Cash and cash aauivalenis at beqinning of year 483 - 453 488 {235}
Foreign exchange ioss 1 1 1 {7 g
Net cash and cash equivalents classified as held for sale {3} = {3} - {3
Cash and cash sguivalents at end of yearfpariod T8% 483 787 463 334

" The ERG Proforma numbers have been computed on the basis that ENRC was & subsidiary of ERG from the stait of the
2013 financial year and not only for the period post acquisition.
* Represents the difisrence between 2014 ERG Profurma and 2013 ERG Proforma.

Net cash generated from operating activities

The Group generated US$733 million of net cash from operating activities (2013: US$1,036 mitlion), a
fali of 29.2%. Although the Group’s Underlying ERITDA remained relalively stable, cash generated
from operating activities reduced mainly due to & higher intarest expense and higher working capital
raquirements during 2014,

Net cash used for investing activities

During the year, the Group utilised 2 net fotal of 11858604 million for investing activities (2013:
US$3,035 million). This Includes US$998 million (2013: US$1,535 million} for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assels as foltows:

Year/period ended 31 December

in mitions of US$ 2014 2013
Expansionary 558 1,068
Sustaining 440 467
Total 2898 1,835

The geographical split of capital expenditure for 2014 was as follows: Kazakhstan US$809 mitiion,
Africa US$173 million, Brazil US$10 million and cther US$6 midlion.

The cash autflows above are offset mainly by the cash proceeds from sates of subsidiaries of USE357
miflion (2013 USSnih. On 11 December 2014, the Group disposed of iis subsidiary Zhairemsky GOK
JBC for LUS$307 million. On 14 February 2014, the Group disposed of a siag dump at Chambishi for
LSS50 miliion.

Net cash flow generated from financing activities

Net cash inflow relating to financing activities genarated during the year ended 31 December 2014
was US$297 million (2013 US$1,771 million). This includes US3$979 million (2013: US$2,629 million)
drawn from vartious credit facifities, fess repayment of borrowings of LUS$658 million (2013: US$756
million) and payment of borrowing costs of U5$24 mitlion {2013: US$11 million;.
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Sustainable deveiopment review

In 2044 the Group consolidated different components of its organisational structure to improve
working practices throughout the business. Key slements of the sustainable development programme
are being embedded into the business through clear ownership and accountability. As part of this,
format oversight over Heaith, Safety, Environment and Community areas has remained.

We continue 1o focus on compliance as one of the key areas to support the sustainable development
of the Group, in particuiar, the implementation of updated compliance policies, code of conduct ang
onfine trainings on compliance and sthical values related topics.

We continue to develop the alignment of our incentivisation and reward programmes within key
processes to improve control over critical business areas, inciuding setting clear business objectives
in the context of our long- and medium-farm sirategy, which are the key elements to support long-
ierm business resilientce.

Safety

We remain commitied to improving the safety of our employees and contraciors. We have revisited
our Group-wide safety improvement programme and launched a work place safety risk management
project in 2014. We are saddened by 17 fatalities that ook place during the year {2013: 15), 13 of
which were employees (2013 12) and 4 were contractors (2013 3). We express our sincere
condolences o &l the families involved in these tragic circumstances.

in 2014, we continued i include the exploration sitas in our data 1o determine any work-related lost
time injuries (LTIs). There were 97 LTIs involving employees (2013 85), and ithe lost time injury
frequency rate was 0.70 (2013: 0.80). These numbers inciude all the reported empioyee fatality
cases.

Foliowing the 2014 end of year performance review, a Corporate Fatalities Investigation Commission
was established in Kazakhatan to ensure that ail fataliies are properly investigated and sufficient
measures implemented fo prevent reoccurence.

In addition, high risk contro! standards are being updated to include additional controls for new and
sxisting risks such as blasting operations and open-pit transport that led fo the most accidents in
9014, Accountability in Kazakhstan of site management for implementatiors of these controls was
reinforced by the establishment in November 2014 of our operational Heaith, Safety and Environment
{HSE") Commitlee,

In 2014 the safety management system across ERG Africa's copper & cobalt operations was
completed. The system aims to address the 16 highest risks through dedicated procedures. internal
haseline audits were conduciad in 2014. All of our operations are now progressively working towards
fuill compliance with the 16 risk procedures. To improve pecple behaviour the main focus in 2014 has
been on empowering cur employees to recognise hazards. This was done through training in risk
assessment and job safety analysis. A start was made with training on Behaviour Based Satfety at
Chambishi_ This program will be rofled out in 2015 to all of our operations in the DRC.

On 24 August 2014 the DRC notified the WHO of an Ebola outbreak in the Equator province of the
DRC. A risk assessment was conducied esrly September by ERG Africa and an action plan was put
in place to minimise any negative impact on our susiness. The outbreak was declared over on 15
November with a fotal of 66 cases and 49 deaths reporied. The company suffered nu negative
affects.
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Measuring carbon impact and energy consumption
The commercial and environmental imporisnce of energy use and carbon emissions is well
recognised by management and these remain the Group’s focus in improving operational practices,

The Government of Kazakhstan has been taking steps to address the GHG emissions challenge. In
the last 5 years, the Government has ratified the Kyoto Frotocol, established an emissions trading
scheme {‘ETS'} and commenced a Green Economy initiative in 2013. We continue 1o participate i a
number of consultations with various stakeholders in Kazakhstan on ETS implementation. During
2014, the Group was one of {he first businesses in Kazakhstan to sell GHG units and participate in
GG frading

Compliance and improving disclosure on a GHG were areas of management attention during 2014,
We conduct BHG emissions forecast on a regular basis to develop a robust GHG compliance
strategy. AW of our sites in Kazakhstan have fufilled requirements to receive free aliocation units
nased on the Nationai Allocation Plan and two sites have received additional free allowances, Nong of
the sites exceeded the allocated amount.

During 2014 we continued o assess GHG footprint of cur African operations to anticipate potential
risks and opportunities related to carbon management. Our operations in Africa do not have
reguiatory GHG compliance obligations but we recognise potential for development of GHG
emissions regulatory mechanisms for African operations similar t¢ those applied i the Repubiic of
South Africa.

The Group energy consumption for 2014 was 303,101 TJ (2013: 303,250 T} of which 85.8% (2013
85.3%) was sourced from coal. Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with direct and indirect
energy consumption were 28 Mt of COrequivalent (2013: 28.0 Mi). The 0.5 Mt COzequivaient
decrease is primarily due to a reduction in the infernal and axternal electricity demand.

Our Ferroalioys Division in Kazakhstan was the first mining and metaiiurgy business to be certified
with 180 50001/EN 18001 in 2073, In 2014, our Aluminium Division was also externally certified while
the rest of Group entities in Kazakhstan are in process of implementing structured energy
management systems and are expected to be certified during 2015-2016.

During 2014, energy audits have commenced of all major divisions in Kazakhstan. Results of these
audits will form the basis for review of our energy management programme.

Employees
We emploved 75,122 peopie at the end of 2014 (2013: 78,883). More than 80% of our staff are
located in Kazakhstan

The Group is committed to upholding the UN Universal Decleration of Human Rights. Introduced on
15 November 2014, our Code of Conduct sets out the minimum standards of acceptable behaviowrs
across fhe Group, supporting our commitment to respeciing the righis of our empioyees. We are
committed to ensuring full and fair consideration and reatment of alt our people and do not tolerate
any form of discrimination or unfair raatment. Al employment decisions, such as hiring, fraining and
promotion, are required o be mased on merit. We operate a whistleblowing hotline that enables our
people to confidentialiy raise any concerns of 185Ues, including issues relating to hurman rights.

Diversity and equalily are an imporfant part of our people management practices. We Work
sonstructively with the representatives of our employees and respect their right to join unions and
enter collective agreements. Around 90% of the Group’s employees are trade union members and
colleciive bargalning agreements are i place at the majority of our operational entities.
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The Group steadily refocuses its efforts to strengthen the Group-wide knowledge on compliance and
sthical valuss related topics. ERG is working on the implementation of courses on the updated ERG
Code of Conduct and further comoliance related trainings. Additionally, Safety and Susizinable
Thinking and Practice courses have been updated and will be iaunched in 2015,

Community Social Investment {C8F)

Community development is @ major part of our social responsibility. In 2014, our worldwide O8I
contributions were more than US$47 million (2013: US$42 million). This includes USS7.3 million in
Africa, US$0.7 mition in Brazil and US$1 million in Russia In Kazakhsian, mors than 80% of our
investments were implemented through ERG's Corporate Foundation, Komek. More than half of CSi
in Kazakhstan are implemented through formai agreements {memoranda of understanding) signed
annually by the Group and the regional governments.

In Africa the Group has supported a number of educational and infrastructure projects such as the
construction of a new school ai Frontier, as well as varlous activities aimed &t improving the water
access for local communities at Boss Mining and Frontier. Also, we continued to support iocal farmers
by providing 2,000 hectares of maize to workers as per the Collective bargaining agreement,

To address the hausing nieeds of our employees in Kazakhstan the Group has launched a housing
programme aimed at constructing one million of square meters of sffordable housing or around 19
thousand apartiments in the regions of Group operations by 2020. More thamn 3,500 apariments are
planned to be constructed during 2015-2016.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The information below is unaudited uniess stated atherwise.
Geopoliticat, economical and industry context

The wmajority of the Group's production assels are jocated in Kazakhstan with the remaining
operations located in Africa, Brazil and Russia. Overall the polifical climate in the emerging markets
where we operate is different and reguistory limitations Jor business activities in mining vary between
jurisdictions. Local governments have enough freedom 1o change the terms of contracts as well the
import and export regulations and introduce new forms or rates of taxation, duties and royalties.
Although the probabiiity of interstate conflicts and emergency situations remain, none of these factors
have had a material impact on our operations so far. However, the Group is still challenged by these
uncertaintias.

FEconomic uncertainty, pasticularly in China and Russia, along with the continued volatility of
commodity prices, has had a material impact on the Group’s financial performance and may affect
future results and restrici the access to capital in the future.

The mining industry is exposed to inherent technological risks, which, along with extreme weather
conditions in countries where we operate, couid result in material losses for our assets. Also, the
increased number of cyber-attacks and data fraud around the world could adversely affect the
Group's value protection.

During 2014, the Group continusd 1o focus on a number of business risks and these are set out
below,

_Risk ' Mitigation
Commodity price volatility » The (roup regularly monitors market prices,
Commodity pricing is @ highly sensitive risk globai sales volumes and internal levels of
factor for our industry. A substantial decline inventory;
or volatity in commodity prices could + Sensitivity analysis is performed fo slress test
materially affect the Group's business and business models;
financial results and asset carrying valuas as . The Salss and Marketing function produces
well as the cash fiow projections. regular forecasts of the sales volumes and

prices for each of the Group's commodities; and

¢« The Sales and Marketing function discusses and
agrees appropriate production and distribution
plans with the management of the operating
COMPANESs.
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Risk

Mitigation

Liguidity risks

The downgrades of the Group's credit ratings
over the last three years led fo restricted
access to financial resources for the Group.
This could resull in failure to arrange or
provide sufficient financing for the Group’s
operating and investment aclivities.

Also, any deterioration of the Group's cash
flow and profitability couldt adversely affect
our abidity o meet financial obligations
related to future debt payment outstanding.

« The Group confinues to build refationships with
potential new providers of finance o broaden the
Group's lender base. In addition the Group
works closely with existing lenders to refinance
the current debt portfolio; and

« Detailed cash flow budgets and foracasis are
oroduced and updated on a regular basis 1o
provide the most up 1o date view of the Group's
liquidity requirements.

Volatility in exchange rates, interesi rates
and inflation

The majority of the Group’s production costs
are denominated in Kazakhstani lange,
Russian roubles and US dollars while the
majority of sales are denominated in US
dollars.

The Group is exposed fo inerest rate
volatitity risk on borrowings with a floating
interest rate. Intergst rates could aiso be
affected by changes in exchange rates and
inflation,

« The Group manages interest rate risk on debt by
keeping exposure to floating interest rates within
a 30% - 70% range using a mix of floating and
fixed rafe borrowings;

« Where possible the Group seeks 10 manags
exposure to movements in foreign currencies by
netting cash fiows in the same currency, and

« Significant transactional sxposures in foreign
currencies will be identified as they arise, and if
considered appropriate, a hedging programme
will be put in place. it follows therefore, that
fransachions in foreign currencies that have not
been hadged, will be settled by spot market
deais.
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Risk

Mitigation

Technical disaster risks

Tecnnological processas within the mining
and metals industry along with extreme
woather conditions can be susceplibie fo
incidents and  disasters.  Large-scale
techrical incidents could lead to fatalites,
environmental impact and interruption 1o
business opergtions.

« Site safety declarations are in place for each of
the Kazakhstani hazardous sites and these
examine potential incidents related fo site
operations and their impacy;

« For each of the Kazakhstani sites the Group has
developed and regulary updates post-incident
plans 10 minimize the impact of an incident;

- Operational site risk surveys are conducted on &
rotational basis by external surveyors; and

- Appropriate  property damage and business
interruption insurance is purchased and renawed
an annuai basis.

Safely risks

There is a risk of unauthorised actions and
errors mads by employees and contraciars,
which could result in work-related Injuries
and fatalities. Management is committed to
achieving zero safety related incidents.

« Work place Safety Policy and Standards are in
piace;

» Weekly reporting on incidenits to Management;

« Certified Qccupational Health and Safety
Management System in fine with OHSAS 18001
and

« Continuation of Safety improvement programme
started with ithe support of DuPont.
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Risk _ Mitigation
Compliance risks « We adhere 1o the principles of self-regulation
Non-compliance with law and reguiaiions hacked by appropriate policies and management
including review,
- Zero tolerance tone at the top is defined in the

« anti-bribery Group polictes and regularly communicated,

« anti-corruption + FRG Board Compliance Commities established

s sanctions in 2014;

« snvironmental laws = Web-based ethics and compliance training;

s+ tax regulations + Whistieblowing hotline in operatior;

o terms of mining licences - The Group continues to aim to ensure full

compliance with environmental legisiation, as
well as reduction of emissions; and

- The Group ensures timely response to the
enforcement of regulatory requiremenis and
engages in open dialogue with regutators.

Capital project sxecution risks » The Group undertakes serious measures to set
The Group continues implementation of proper controls over the implementation of key
major capital projects. Failure 1o deliver nrojecis in line with Group Investment Policy;
large-scale capital projects within agread -~ Securing project financing and signing of
time, cost and qualily criteria could lower Memorandum of Understandings with respective
long-term profitability and reputation. pariners/suppliers where applicable;

« Constant on-going review of project process;

and

« Insurance of major projects where zippiicable.
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Consoclidated management report

The Managers present their report and the audited Consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2014,

Principal activities

The Group is a leading diversified naturat resourcss group with integrated mining, processing, energy,
Iogistical, and marketing operations. Production assels are located in the Republic of Kazakhstan,
Russia, Zambia, and the Democratic Republic of the Congo. The Group has six operating Divisions:
Ferroalloys, fron Cre, Alumina and Aluminium, Energy, Logistics, and Other Non-ferrous.

Business raview .

The Business review has heen prepared io provide the Company's sharehoiders and other interested
parties with a fair review of the business of the Group and a description of the pringipal dsks and
uncertainties facing it. in accordance with Article 68 of the Luxembourg Accounting Law, information
required to be disclosed in this ragard has been presented in this report as follows!

Business review on pages 4 to © which includes information on the Group's likely future
development;

Key performance indicators on pages 10 and 1%
Operational review on pages 12 10 18,
Financial review on pages 19 to 24; and

Description of principat risks ard uncertainties facing the Group and its risk management
policies on pages 28 1o 31,

Al of the above form part of the management repos{ raquired by Luxembourg Accounting Law.
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Managers

The Managers who held office during the financial year ended 21 December 2014 and up to the date
of signing the Consolidated financial statements are those listed below:

Date of Date of
Manager Og¢cupation Domicile Appointment  Resignation
Mr Bakyt Sultanov Class A Manager Kazakhstan 1710672013 Current
M Alexander Machkevitch  Class B Manager israei 174108/2013 Current
Mr Adijan |bragimov Class B Manager Switzeriand 17106/2013 Current
Mr Paickh Chodiev Class B Manager Switzerland 1770812043 Current
Mr Belbul Atamkuiov Class A Manager Kazakhstan 20/06/2013 Current

The following Individuals were appointed as delegales to the daily management of the Company:

Date of Date of
Deilegate Position Nomination  Resignation
Mr Benediki Sobotka Chief Executive Officer 15/01/2014
Mir Paul Wailer Acting Chief Financial Officer 1510172014 31/05/2015
Mr Paul Aggleton Acting Chief Financial Officer 01/08/2015
Ms Elisabeth Kampa Group General Counsei 18/056/2014

As detegates to the daily management, the Company will be coniractually bound by the joint
signatures of two delegates.

Managers’ interest in ordinary shares:

Number of crdinary shares held ’

31 Uecember 31 DBecember
Hanager 2014 2013
Mr Alexander Machkevitch 16,059 12,951
Mr Alijan ibragimov 16,054 12,944
Mr Patokh Chodiev 14,380 11,805

' 'Tha change in riumber ¢f ordinary shares heid is due to ihe currency of ihe Company's shares being changed from EUR fo
UsSs,

Events after balance shget date

Detaiis of events after the balance sheet date have been disciosed in note 42 to the Consolidated
financial siatements.
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Financial instruments
Details of the Group's financial risk management, objectives and policies, together with details of
financial instruments are described in note 35 to the Consolfidated financial statements.

Research and development activities

The Group has a research and development centre which is in charge of scientific and technological
developments to improve existing mining and metallurgical processes as well as discover innovative
technologies and approaches 1o be implemented at our entities.

The Group incuired costs amounting to US$3.9 million (2013 1US$58.7 million) during the year in
refation to research and developmeni activitiss.

Management responsibility statement

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the Consolidated financial statements which have been
prepared in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or joss of the
Groug and the undertakings included in the consciidation taken as a whole, and that the Consotidated
management report prasents a fair review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group and the undertakings inciuded in the consolidation taken as a whole,
fogether with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they facs.

The Consolidated financial statements on pages 37 to 145 were approved by the Board of Managers
on 30 June 2015 and signed on its behalf by,

Mr Alexander Machkevitch Mr Benedikt Sobotka
Chairman Chiaf Executive Officer
30 June 2015 30 June 2015
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Audit report

To the Pariners of
Eurasian Resouress Group S.ar.l.

Heport on the consolidated financial statements

We have sudited the sccompanying consolidated financial statements of Eurasian Regources
Group 5.4 r.l. and its subsidiaries (the “Grouy”™), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at
31 Becember 2014, the consclidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive
mecine, consolidated statement of chianges in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year
than ended and a summary of sigaificant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Board of Managers’ responsibility for the conselidated financial stctements

The Boatd of Managers is responsilile for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
{imancial statements in accordance with Tnternational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
Enropean Union, and for such internal control as the Board of Managers determines is aecessary to
gnable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due 3o fraund or error.

Responsibility of the "Réviseur denireprises agréd”

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on cur
andit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Anditing as adopted for
Luxembotug by the “Commissicn de Survelllance du Sectenr Financier”. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consclidated financial staternents are free frov: material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain andit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial staternents. The procedures selected depend on the judgment of the
“Réviseur d'entreprises agréé” inctuding the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidatad financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the “Réviseur d'entreprises agréé” considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated finanecial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an oninion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s interual control, An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
nolicies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of Managers as weli
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have ohtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

fosaterhouseCoopers, Soclsté coopérative, 2 rie Gerhard Merogtor, B.F, 1443, L1014 Luxembourg
ane 404848 1, F 1 4352 40aBgf 2o, wunn ey

Cabinet de révision anréé. Expert-comptable fautorisation gouvernementale n®10028256}
R.C.5 Luxembourg B g a7y - TVA LiTaga825:8
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2014, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its copsolidated cash flows for the year than ended in accordance with International Finaneial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the Iaropean Union.

Emphasis of matier

We draw attention to Note1 to the consolidated financial statements, which notes that the Group
needs to complete the refinancing of a significant portion of its debt in the next 12 months. This, along
with other matters a5 set forth in Note 1, indicates the existence of a material uncertainty, which may
cast significant doubt abent the Group's ability o continue as a going concesn, Our opinion is not
qualified in respect of this matier.

Report on other legal and regulatory reguirements
The ponsolidated management report, which is the responsibility of the Board of Managers, is

consistent with the consolidated financial statements,

PricewaterhonseCoopers, Société coopérative Luxembourg, 30 June 2615
Represented by

L H
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Consolidated income statement

Year/period ended 31 December

2013
in mitions of USS (unless stated otherwisg) Note 2614 As restated
Ravenue 7 5,831 1,235
Cost of sales 8 {3,758) {983)
Gross profit 2,073 252
Distribution costs <l (471} {108)
Generat and administrative expeanses 12 {682) (133
Expioration costs {30} a1
Impairments 10 {102) -
Onerous contract provision 10 186 14
Non-recurring items ~ cperatling 11 {4 {145)
Gain on disposai of subsidiaries 13 96 -
Net other operating income/{expense} 14 39 (12}
Operating profitfiicss) 1,108 (143}
Finance income 15 66 10
Fimance ¢ost 17 {798} {113
Non-recurring items — financing 11 - 4
Gain arising on acquisition of ENRC 3 - 5,710
Share of loss of joint ventures (33 -
Profit befors income tax 375 5,463
Income tax expense 18 (213} {19)
Profit for the year/period 182 5,444
Profit/(loss) attributable o
Owners of the Company 174 5419
Non-controlling interests - (12) 25

The above Consclidaied income statement should be read in conjunation with the accompanying noles.
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Consolidated statement of comprebensive income

Year/period ended 31 December

in mitions of LSS Note 2014 AS rasfa{}%;g
Profit for the year/period 162 5,444
Other comprehensive [expenselfincome:
ftems that may be subsequently reciassified to profit or loss: -
Currency transiation differences’ 37 (1,931) (2)
Transier of currency translation differences on disposal of
investment in subsidiary’ 13 25 -
Fair value loss on available-for-sale financial assets 22 {43} 9
ftems that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss:
Remeasurament of amployee bensfit obligations 2 -
Total comprehensive {expense)income for the
yeariperiod {1,785} 5,433
Total comprehensive (expenselincome attributable to:
Owners of the Company {1,773) 5,408
Non-coniroliing interests (12) 25
{1,785} 5,433

! These currency translation differences arose predominantly due to the devaluation of the Kazakhstard tenge in February
2014, Refer to note 37 for more details,

2 Zhairemsiy GOK JSC, a subsidiary with tengs as its functional currency, was disposed of on 11 Dscember 2014, Refer to
note 13 for more details,

The above Consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Consclidated balance shest

As at 31 December

2013
i iitions of USS Note 2014 As rastated
Assets
Mon-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 19 18,037 17,2868
intangible assels 20 157 160
Investments in joint ventures 24 56 8
Other financial assais pat) 56 260
Lpans recaivabic 23 34 42
Daterred lax assels 18 78 71
Other non-current assels 24 152 218
Total non-current assets 5,570 18,043
Currani assels
Ivertories 25 1,213 1.443
Trade and cther receivables 75 214 1,154
Incaome lax recsivable 10 13
Other financial sseets 22 196 28
Loans receivable 23 88 B
Cash and cash equivalents 27 757 478
Total surrent assets 3,203 3,128
Assets classified as heid for sale 8 77 —
Total assets _ 18,850 21,188
Equity
Capilal Reserve 28 3,159 3,158
Regemves 3,847 5,408 .
Attributable to owners of the Company 6,806 5,587
Nor-coriraliing interests 37 395
Total eguity TATT 8,962
Liahilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 30 6476 6,671
Deferred tax liabiitles 18 2,452 2,804
Cnerous contract provision 16 - 171
Asset refirement obligations 31 158 216
Employes benefit obligations : 32 56 75
Other non-current lobilties 23 18
Totat non-current liabiiities 8,762 10,048
Current fahifities
Bofrowings 30 1,808 885
Trade and other payables 33 881 1,015
Onerous coniract Provision 10 - 103
tncome tax iabiliies 35 857
 Ohther toxes payslie 34 44 87
_Total current Habilities 2,885 2. 157
Lizbilities classified a5 held for sale 8 26 =~
Total Habilities 11,672 12,206
Total ifabilities and equily 18,850 21,168

The above Consoiigated balance sheet shouid be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

rhese Consofidated financial statements and the accompanying notes, ware approved for issue by the Board of
Managers on 30 Juns 2018 and were signed on itz behalf by

mir alexander Machkevitch Mr Benedikt Scobotka
Chadmen Chigf Exacutive Officer
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Yearipenod ended 31 December

2013
In milliens of USS$ Nole Pty A5 restated
Cash generated from operating activities 28 1,583 235
interest and other similar expenses paid (502} {(22)
interest receivad 13 3
income tax paid {354} (88}
Net cash generated from operating activities 733 128
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment’ (9613 {236}
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 44 7
Purchase of intangible assets {37) (173
Proceeds from sales of subsidiaries 387 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 5 - {1,084}
Acquisition of joint veniuvre 21 {50} -
Purchase of other financial assais {13) -
Procead from financial assets 11 -
Loans and deposits granted (28) -
Proceeds from repayment of icans and deposits 12 9
Proceads from redemption of financial assets e 26
Mat cash used for investing activities {894) (1,208
Cash flow from financing activities
Borrowings — proceeds a7e 2,018
Borrowings - repayments {658) (388)
Payment of arrangement fees (24} -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - (1
Net cash generaled from financing activities 297 1,628
Nat changes in cash and cash equivalents 338 462
Cash and cash eguivalents at beginning of period® 463 -
Net cash and cash equivalents classified as held for sale B {3} o
Foreign exchange gain on cash and cash equivaients 1 1
Net cash and cash squivalents at end of yeariperiod 27 - 797 453

' Purchase of property, plant and squipment inciudes LS$66 miliion of capitalised bosrowing sosts (2013 USS20 million}.

¥ cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year of UG$463 milt

surrsnt borrowings.

ion is net of UES1H miilion overdraft disciosed within

The abave Consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunclion with the accompanying noles,
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Consolidates statement of changes in equity

Attributabie (o owners of the Company

Revaiustion
resene of
financial
aspets Mo
Share Capitat  Retwned  Translation avaiiable-for- Other corrofling Teotal
in milions of US$ capital’  reserves  earnings reSere sale reserves Totatl interasts ity

Capital contribuion® 3,159 - - — - 3,159 - 3 159
Acquisitiort of ENRC
as restated’ - T - - 270 370

Equity movement

as restated’ - 3159 - - - - 3,169 376 3,529
Profit for thg pericd

as restated® - ~ 5419 - - ~  Ba4t9 25 5,444
Other cormprehansive ’
expense as restated’ - . (2) (9) - (1 — (413

Total

somprehengivg

income!{ex?ense)

as restated - - 5419 {2} ) -~ 5,408 i 5433

Batance as at
31 December 2013
as restated” - 3358 5418 {2) {3 —  B,587 385 8,962

Profitf{ioss) for the _

year - . 174 - - 174 {12} 162
Giber comprahensive

income/{expense; - - - {1,808} {43} 2 {1840 - {1,847)

Totat
comprehensive

incomel{expense] - - 174 {1,908) {43) 2 {1,773) {12) {1,785

fther changes in
aon-aontrofing
interests” - 12 - - 12 {i2) -

Balance as at
31 December 2014 - 3154 5,608 {4,908} {82) 2 6,801 a1 7,477

f Tha issued share capital of the Company is US$77.500, refer o note 26 capits and dividends for further details.

? Capitat contributions by the Founder Snarehoiders and the Government of the Repubiic of Kazakhsian, Refer to note 20
capia! and dividends for further detalls.

¢ Gee note 5 husiness combination for further detalls regarding restatements.

4 Hue to the merger of Roan Progpecting and Mining SPRL (RPM), a2 wholly owned subsidiary, and Treatment of
Kingamyambo Talfings Company (Metalkol’}, 2 subsidiary in which the Group holds a 70% interest, a US$12 miliion non-
controfling interest was recogrisad.

The above Consclidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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Notes to Consolidated financial statements
1. Basis of preparation and principal accounting policies

{zenera! information

Egrasian Resources Group 5.8 r.l. (the ‘Company'), previously named Eieanor investmenis S.arl,
was incorporated on 13 May 2013 and is organised under the laws of Luxembourg as a private imited
company for an unlimited period. On 24 June 2013, it was decided by a resolution of shareholders to
change the name of the Company from Eleanor Investmerds 5.2 r.l. to Eurasian Resources Group
S.a r]. The Company's registered office and domicile is 9, rue Sainte Zithe, L-2763 Luxembourg,
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. The Consoclidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31
December 2014 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) and the Group’s interest in
joint ventures.

The Company, fogether with its subsidiaries, is a leading diversified natural resources group witn
integrated mining, processing, energy, logistical and marketing operations. Production assets are
located in the Republic of Kazakhstan, Russia, Zambia and the Democratic Republic of the Congo.
The Group has six operating Divisions: Ferroalloys, fron Ore, Alumina and Aluminium, Energy.
Logistics and Other Non-errous.

As at 31 Decembey

The Company's shareholders; 2014 2013
The State Property and Privatisation Committee of the Ministry of Finance

of ithe Republic of Kazakhstan 40.0% 40 0%
Mr Alijan ibragimoy 20.7% 20.7%
Mr Alexander Machkevitch 20.7% 20.7%
M Patoich Chodiev 18.8% 18.6%
Total 160.0%  100.0%

Basls of preparation

The Consclidated financial statements have been drawn up on the basis of accouniing polcies
consistent with those applied in the Consolidated financiai statements for the period ended 31
Necember 2013, except where new poficies have Deen applied. New accounting policies and
pronouncements and the effects of these policies have been outlined beiow.

The Consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concerm basis in accordance
with Infernationa! Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS and interpretations issued by the IFRS
interpretations Committes (IFRICT), as adopted by the European Union (ELF),

The Consociidated financial statements have also been prepared under the historical cost convention
as modified for the revaluation of certain assets and liabiiliies as further explained in the raspective
accounting policies.

The preparation of the Consclidated financial staternents in conformity with IFRS requires the use of
ceriain oritical acoounting estimates and judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement o complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the Consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 2.
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1. Basis of preparation and principal accouniing policiss (continuad)}

3oing concern basis

A3 a resull of the transaction whereby the Group acquired Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation
Linited (‘ENRCY, the debt burden on the Group increased substantially due to the additional capital
cost of financing the acquisition and the consequential increase in debt service cost {details of which
are set out in note 30). In addition, the Group requires on-going access to capital to refinance debt
maturities and support s sustaining and expansionary business plans. The Group continuously
monitors its financial position to ensure sufficient liquidity headroom is in place to support its business
needs and 1o ensure compliance with loan covenants or to obtain waivers where appropriate.

However, due o this additional debt burden, both fiquidity and\comg}iéance with certzin loan covenants
have become more sensitive to market changes, in particular those which impact the Group's
underlying cash flows, such as cormodity prices.

In arder to mitigate this risk, the Group has taken a number of actions to ensure that there is sufficient
resiliencs to such movements and provide additional headroom in hoth liquidity and loan covenant
compliance. In particular, during 2014 the Group has finalised amendments to the US$430 miition
First Quantum Minerals (FOM) Promissory Note and amended the Sberbank US$2,000 million loan
facility as detailed in note 30. In addition, on 26 June 2015, the VTB backstop facility was amended 10
extend availability period to 30 May 20186, and also to ease certain restrictions on use of proceeds as
detailed in note 30. The Group also reached agreement with the Development Bank of Kazakhstan to
provide an additional US$350 million facility for the general purpose of the business as detailed at
nete 30,

in addition, the Group has signed a new US$2,220 milion facility agreement with Sberbani for
replacement of existing bilatera! facilities with the bank into two main operating entities in Kazakhstan
{refer to note 30). This transaction exiends the aturity of the existing facilities with Sberbank and
also reduces the existing interest rate. Discussions are ongoing with other existing and potential
lenders to increase the weighted average maturity profile of the Group's debt profile ta provide greater
liquidity headroom

During Aprii 2015, the Group has also extended the maturity of its US$500 million facility with VTB to
31 March 2017 and is in discussions to extend the maturity of other facilities with VTB and Sberbank
totalling US$804 million.

The Group's acquisition facility of US$1.7 billion falis due for repayment in June 2016, Althougn there
iz currently no firm commitment with our banking partners that this will be refinanced, the Group is
confident that given the coniinued support it has received that the maturity of this loan wiil be
exiended during the course of the year.

The Group alse completed the disposal of the Serov Group of companies (in April 2015), its shares in
Northam Platinum (in March 2015} and Zhairemsky GOK JSC (in Decamber 2014) with total cash
disposal vaiue of approximately US$1,012 million of wiich US$776 million has been received.
Eurther details are set out in note 13 and nots 42, The proceeds from ihese disposal transactions
have reduced leverage and increased covenant headroom and alsoc have the potential to allow the
Group o increase liquidity,
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4. Basis of preparation and principal accounting policies {continued)

Going concern basis (continued;)

Throughout the period the Board continued negotiations 1o dispose of the Group’s Other Non-ferrous
division and the Group’s Brazilian fron Ore asse(s tc the Founder Shareholders. However, market
conditions currently have resulted in the postponement of this transaction and therefore the Board
continues to review its strategic options for these assets and are actively pursuing the potential
dispasal of certain non-core assets which may generate additional fiquidity.

The Board has reviewed the liquidity available to it for the period until 30 June 2018, There are
pericds of forecast fimited liquidity as a result of the deterioration in market conditions primarily in
respect of tower expecied commodity prices and higher costs and the reguirements to repay or
refinance existing faciliics.  During the period under review, negative liquidity is expected starting
from December 2015, In addition, the Group is expected to breach certain covenants at 30 June
9015 and 31 December 2015. Waivers have besn oblained for June 2015 aryi the Group will
approach its banks for waivers in respect of December 2015 in due course.

A number of the Group’s financing facilities required submission of consclidated financial statements
of the Group and also of certain subsidiary companies by 31 May 2015, This deadiine was not met
and the Group agreed informally with its bankers an extension to this deadline and also that in not
meeting this deadiine there were no events of default. These information undertakings have heen
met following the approval of these financial staterents on 30 June 2015 and submission to the
ralevant financial institutions.

The Managers note the uncertainties, in particutar the material uncertainty in respect of the US$1.7
nillion scquisition faciiity, above in reaching thelir sonciusion in respect of the preparation of these
financial statements under the going concarm basis. However, the Managers of the Group continue ©
believe that their strong refationships with existing banking parners and the Kazakhsian government
will ensure cortinued support for the Group's business plans. The Board have an ongoing diaiogue
with the Group’s lenders and are confident, despite the macro-economic uncertainties, of the receipt
of necessary covenant waivers and satisfactory renegotiation of debt maturity to maintain adsquate
ensidity and the polential to access new facilifios fo develop the Group's strategic plans. In addition,
the Board continue fo revisw and optimize the Group's business plans in respect of operations and
working capital management and are cenfident that additional liquidity improvements can be
achieved.

The Managers therefore consider that the Group has access to adeguate resources to continue its
business operations for the foresesable future and that the preparation of these financial statements
under fhe going concermn Dasis is appropriate and accordingly it witt be able to realise its assets and
discharge its lisbilities in the normal course of busingss.

Comparative information

The Caonsolidated financial statements include comparative information for the period from 13 May
2013 (the date of the incorporation of the Company) to 31 December 2013, Where the Group has
changed the presentational format of the Consolidated financial statements 10 further improve the
comparability of its resuits, comparative figures have been changed accordingly. Changes 1o
comparative information in these Consolidated financial statements relate to the acquisition of ENRC,
which took place during the period ended 31 Decermber 2013 where the fair value of the assets and
labilities acquired was recorded on a provisional basis. Please refer o nate B, which provides further
details on the restaiement of the Consolidated balance sheet and Consaclidated income statement as
at and for the period ended 31 Decamber 2013.
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4, Basis of preparation and principal accounting policies {continued)
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New standards and amendments fo standards adopted for 2014

Amendments o JAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation’ — offsetting financial assets and financial
tiabilitios (endorsed by the EU with effective date of 1 January 2014). The amendments ctarify the
meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off. The amendments also clarify the
application of I1AS 32 offsafting criteria to settiement systems which apply gross setftlement
mechanisms that are not simultanecus. These amendments have no impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 36 ‘impairment of Assels’ — Recoverable amount disclosures for non-tinancial
sssefs {endorsed by the EU with effective dale of 1 January 2014). The amendments require
additional disclosure where an entity recognises an impairment loss or impairment reyersal for an
individual asset (including goodwill) or a cash-generating unit during the period. The additional
requiremeants include disclosure of the recoverable amounts of the asset arg information relating to
the IFRS 13 fair value level 1, 2 and 3 hierarchy if fair value less costs of disposal 1 the basis of the
racoverable amount. These amendments have no impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 39 Financis! instrumenis: Recognifion and Measurement’ on novation of
derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting {endorsed by the EU with effective date for annual
periods beginning of 1 January 2014). Under the amendments, there would be no need to discontinue
hedge accounting if a hedging derivative was novated, provided cerlain criteriz are met These
amendments have no impact on the Group.

IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ (endorsed by the EU with effective daie of
1 January 2014). This new standard establishes a single, controi-based modet for assessing conirol
and determining the scope of consolidation. it replaces the corresponding requirements of both 1AS
27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Stetements’ and SIC-12 ‘Consviidation — Special FPurpose
Entities'. The standard has no impact on the Group.

IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ (endorsed by the EU with effective date of 1 January 2014). This new
standard provides principles for financial reporting by entities that have an interest in arrangsments
ihat are controlied jointly. Management have determined that the Group’s ioint arrangements should
be classified as joint ventures with the investment measured using the equity method. The standard
nas no impact on the Group.

IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of inferests in other entiies’ (endorsed by the EU with effective date of 1 January
2014). This new standsrd applies to an entity with an interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates or unconsolidated structured entities. IFRS 12 requires an entity to disclose information
that enables users of its financial statemeanis to understand and evaluate the nature of, and risks
associated with, its interests in other entities; and the eifacts of those interests on #s financiat
nosition, financial performance and cash fiows. The standard resulted in additional disclosures made
by the Group.

IAS 27 ‘Separate financial statements’ {revised 2071) (endorsed by the EU with effective date of 1
January 2014}, As a consequence of the new 1ERS 10, a pottion of IAS 27 has been replaced that
addresses the accounting for Consolidated financial statements. The standard has no impact on the
Group.
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IAS 28 ‘Investments in associates and joint ventwes’ (revised 2071) {endorsed by the EU wilh
sffective date of 1 January 2014). 1AS 28 has been renamed as a consegusence of the new IFRS 11
and IFRS 12. The revised 1AS 28 describes the application of the equity method to investments in
joint ventures, in addition to associates. The standard has no impact on the Group,

New standards, amendments fo standards and inferprefations issued but not yet effective
and/or not early adopted

JERIC 21, ‘Levies’ (endorsed by the EU with sffective date of 17 June 2014). The interpretation
provides guidance on when to recognise fability for a levy impesed by a govemrent, IFRIC 21
identifies the obligating event for the recognition of a Hability as the activity that friggers the payment
of the levy in accordance with the relevant legislation,

Annual improvements fo IFRS 2010-2012 Cycle (endorsed by the EFU with effective date of 1
February 2015). These improvements amend the foliowing standards: IFRS 2, ‘Share-based
paymenis’: Definition of vasting condition, IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations” Accounting Tor contingsnt
consideration in a business combination, IFRS 8 '‘Operating segments”: Aggregation of operating
segments, IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurement: Short-term receivables and payables, 1AS 16,
‘Property, plant and equipment’: Revaluation method — proportionate restatement of accumulated
depreciation, IAS 24, ‘Reiated parly disclosures”™ Key management personnel, 1AS 38, ‘Intangible
assets”: Revaluation method - proportionate restatement of accurnulated depreciation.

Annual improvements to IFRS 2011-2013 Cycle (endorsed by the EU with eifective date of 1 January
2015). These improvements amend four standards: [FRS 1, ‘First-time adoption of International
Financial Reporting’, IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations”: Scope exceptions for joint ventures, IFRS 13
‘Fair Value Measurement Portfolio netting exception, IAS 40 ‘Investment Property”: definition of a
business.

Amendments to IAS 19, Fmployse benefits’ on defined benefit plans- empioyee coniributions
(endorsed by the EU with effective date of 1 February 2015). The amendments clarify the
requirements that reiate to how contributions from employees or third parties that are linked to service
should be attributed to periods of service.

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instrisnents’ (issued on 24 July 2014; nof yet endorsed by the EU and not yet
affective),

JERS 14, Regulatory deferral acoounts’ (issued on 30 January 2014; not yet endorsed by the EU and
not yet effectiva).

IFRS 158, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ (issued on 28 May 2014; not yet endorsed by the
£1) and not yet effective;.

Amendments fo IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and 1AS 28: Investment Entitios: Applying the‘(;lonsoﬁdaiion
Exoepiion (issued on 18 December 2014; not et endorsed by the EU and not yet effective).

Amendments o IAS 1 Disclosure Inftiative {issued on 18 December 2014; not yet endorsed by the
Fi} and not yet affective).
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Annugl Improvements to JFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle (issued on 25 Seplember 2014; not yet endorsed
by the EU and not yet effective). These improvements amend four standards: IFRS 5. Changes in
methoads of disposal, IFRS 7: Servicing Contradts, IFRS 7: Applicability of the amendments to [FRS 7
to condensed interim financial statements, 1AS 18 regional market issue, IAS 34: Disclosure of
information "elsewhere in the interim finandial report”.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribufion of Assels betwesn an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture (issued on 11 September 2014, not vet endorsed by the EU and not yet
affective).

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Stafements {issued on 12 August 2014,
ot yet endorsed by the EU and not yet affectivel.

Amendments o 1AS 16 and IAS 41 Bearer Plants (issued on 30 June 2014; not yet endorsed by the
EU and not yet effective).

Amendmonts fo 1AS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Meihods of Depreciation and
Amortisation (issued on 12 May 2014; not yet endorsed by the EU and not vet effective).

Amendments fo IFES 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (issued on 6
May 2014 not yet endorsed by the EU and not yet gffective).

The Group intends to adopt these new standards, amendments 1o standards, interpretations and
improvemsnts for annual periods beginning on of afier the effective dates as endorsed by the EU.

The Group is evaluating potential impact arising from new standards, amendments to standards,
interpretations and improvemants.

Rasis of consolidation

The Consolidated financial statements of the Group inciude the consolidation of the financal
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries drawn up to 31 December 2014 and the Group's
share of joint ventures described below.

il Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are those entities, over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity
when the Company is exposed to, or has nghts to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those refurns through is power over the endity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company
{acquisition date) and are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. The financial statemenis
of subsidiaries are prepared for the same feporiing period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies.

Intercompany transactions, balances and uhrealised gains and losses on transactions hetween
subsidiaries are efiminatad.
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Non-conirolling interest is a portion of net resuits and of the equity in a subsidiary not atiributable,
directly or indirectly, to the Company. The Group recogrises any non-contreliing interest in the
acquires on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, aither at fair value or at the nen-controlling interest's
proportionate shars of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When the Company ceases to have control any retained interest in the subsidiary is remeasured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in operating
orofit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
fnr the relained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounis
previously recogrised in other comprehensive incoms in respect of that subsidiary are accounted for
as f the Company had directly disposed of the refated assels or liahilities. This may mean that
amounis previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

i Joint vertures

Joint ventures are afl entiies over which the Group has joint control, established Dy confractual
agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strateqic financial and operating degcisions. The
Group uses the equity method o account for interests in jointly controlied entities, which are disclosed
as joint ventures in the Consolidated financlal statements. Under this method of accounting, the
investment is initially recognised at cost. The Group’s invesiment in joint ventures includes goodwiki
idertified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses.

The Group's share of its joint ventures’ post-acquisition profts or losses is recognised in the
Consoiidated income statement, and its share of post-acguisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its inferestin the joint venture, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has ingurred egal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and iis joint ventures are gliminated o the extent
of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures, Unrealised losses are also efiminated 1o the extent of the
Group's interest in the joint ventures unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset {ransferred.

Page 48 of 148



Document émis électroniquement

1. Basis of preparation and principal accounting policies {continued)

Functonal and presentational currency

All amounts in the Consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of US dollars, unless

gtherwise stated.

The functional currency for major entities i the Group is determined as the currency of the primary
econommic environment in which the entities operate. The following additional factors are considered in
determining the functional currency of a foreign operation:

e Whether the activities of ihe Toreign operation are carried out as an extension of the reporting
entity, rather than being carried out with a significant degree of autoniomy.
»  Whether transactions with the reporting entity are a high or a fow proportion of the foreign

aperation’'s activities.

«  Whether cash Rows from the activities of the foreign operation directly affect the cash flows of
the reporting entity and are readily available for remiftance to t.

o Whether cash flows from the activities of the foreign operation are sufficient to service existing
and normally expected debt obligations withoud funds being made available by the reporting

entity.

The functional currency of the significant operating entities is the Kazakhstan: tenge (KZT), the
fyssian rouble {RUB'Y and the Brazilian real (BRL). For the Sales and marketing entities and
significant African operations, the functional currency is the US doliar ({US$). The functional currency

of the Company is the US§.

The following tabie shows, for the periods indicated, the principal rates of exchange per U3$1.00.

As at 31 December Averaggjw
2014 2013 2014 2013
British pound 0.64 0.61 G.81 0.62
Kazakhstan lange 182,38 153.61 178.82 153,73
Russian roubis 66,26 3273 37.69 3279
Braziilan real 2.70 2.34 2.34 2.32
South African rand 11.63 10.51 10.83 10.26

* oy peniod ended 2013, the average rates represent the average exchange rate for the November and Decemier 2013 two

month period.
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Foreign currency translation

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are translated to the functional currency
at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction, unless hadge accounting applies in which
case the contract rate is used. Monetary assets and liabllities denominated in forgign currencies are
efransiated at the functional currency rate of exchange rufing at the balance sheet date. kxchange
gains and fosses on seitlemnent of foreign currency transactions and the transiation of monetary
assete and liabilities are taken to the Consolidated incoms stalement, except when recognised in
other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges. Non-manetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are transiated using the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction.

Translation from funciional {o presentational currency
The results and financial position of all Group entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentational currency are translated into the presentational currency as follows:

»  Assets and liabilities are transiaiad at the closing rate at the date of the Consolidated balance
sheet;

e Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average monthly exchange
rates {uniess this average is not & reascnable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are transiated at
the dates of the transaciions);

« Al resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity; and

»  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and labilties of the foreign entity and transiated at the closing rate at the date of
acquisition. When a subsidiary is disposed of ihough sale, liquidation, repayment of share
capital or abandonment of all, or part of that entity, the exchange differences deferred in
equity are recognised in the Consolidated income statement.

Ravenue recognition

A significant portion of production is sold under contracts of sale of goods. Revenue from sale of
goods is only recognised on individual shipments when persuasive evidence exists that the foliowing
criteria are satisfied
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s The significant risks and rewards of ownership of the product have been transferred to the
buyer. If it is arranged that the goods are transported to a specified location, revenue is
recognised when the goods are passed 1o the cusiomer at the destination point. The revenue
from sale of many producis is subject fo adiustment based on an nspection of the product by
the customar. In such cases, révenue is initially recognised on a provisional basis using the
Group’s best estimate of the quantity and quality of the product, Any subsequent adjustments
i the initial estimate of quantity and quality of the product is recorded in reveniie once they
have been detarmined; :

« No continuing managerial involvement o the degree usuaily associated with ownership or
affective contro! over the goods sold has heen retained;

o The amount of revenue and respective costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of ihe
transaction can be measured refiably; and

« i is probable that the economic benefits associated with the sale will flow 1o the Group.

Revenue from sale of services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered by reference to the stage of completion of the specific transaction, assessed on the basis of
ihe actual services provided, as a proportion of the total services fa be provided.

Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. When the faly
value of goods or services received in & barter transaction Involving dissimilar tems cannot be
measured reliably, the revenus is measured at the fair value of the goods or service givern up.
Revenues are shown net of VAT and discounts.

Employee henefits

Defined benefit pfans

The Group provides iong-term empioyee benefitz to emplovees before, on and after refirement, n
accordance with labour union agreements in Kazakhstan, Russia and the Democratic Republic of the
Congo. The agreaments typically provide for one-off retirement payments, financial aid for employees’
disability, significant anniversaries and funeral aid. The entitement i some benefits is usually
conditional on the employee remaining in service up 1o reliremeant age and the compietion of a
minimum service period, Such benefits are valued consistent with an unfunded defined beneflt plan in
accordance with 1AS 19 'Empiayee Benelfits',

The future benefit that employees have samed In return for their service in the current and prior
neriods is discounted to determing the present value. Since Kazakhstan. Russia and the Democratic
Republic of the Congo do not have an axtencive market of high quality corporate bonds, the market
vislds on government bonds are used as a basis for discount rates. The calculation is performed
annually internally or by a qualified, independent actuary depending on the complexity of

somputations.

The expected costs of the benefits associated with one-off retirement payments are accrued over the
period of employment using the same sceounting methodology as used for defined benefif post-
employment plans. This means that the difference betwaen the fair value of the plan assets (if any)
and the present value of the defined liabilities obligations is recognised as an asset or tability on the
Consolidated balance sheet. Actuarial gains and losses related to remeasurement of defined benefit
pension plan obiigations shall he recorded within other comprehensive income {{OCH).
Rameasurerments of other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit and 10ss.
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For this purpose, actuarial geins and losses comprise both the effects of changes in actuarial
assumptions and experience adjustmenis arising because of differences petween the previous
actuarial assumptions and what has actually ccourred.

Other movements in the net surplus or deficlt are recognised in the Consolidated income statement,
including current service cost, any past service cost and the effect of any curtaiiments or settiements.
Renefit costs are split between (i) the cost of benefits accrued in the curvent period (service cost) and
benefit changes (past-service cost, settiements and curtailments), and (i} finance expense or income.
This analysis is presented in the Consolidated income statemertt or in the notes to the Consolidated
financial statements.

Defined contribution plans

The Group pays coniributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contrivutions have been paid. Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in the
Consolidated income statoment as an employese benefit expense in the period in which they are due.

Payrol expense and related contributions

Wages, salaries and social insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses and norn-
monetary benefits are accrued in the pericd in which the associated services are rendered by the
employees of the Group. On behslf of its emplovees, the Group pays those statutory pension and
nost-empioyment benefit amounis prescribed by the legal requirements of the countries in which it
operates, These payments are expensed as incurred.

Finance income and cost
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and gains and income on Investment
and frading securities. Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, the accumnuiation of
intgrest on provisions, interest expense from the unwinding of discount on provisions for asset
refirement obligations and losses on the revaluation and disposal of investments designated at fair
value through profit or loss.

Finance mcome and costs include foreign exchange gains and losses that relate mainly to loans
receivable, borrowings, and term deposits {more than three months).

interest income and expenses are racognised on a time preportion basis, using ihe effective interest
method. All interest and other costs incurred in connection with borrowings are expensed as incurred
as part of financial expenses uniess incurred on borrowings to finance the acguisition of a qualifying
assei,

Borrowings te finance the acquisition of a qualifying asset are capitalised during ihe period of time
that is required to compiete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Al borrowings are classified
between specific borrowings and general borrowings for the purpose of capitalisation. Borrowing
costs which relate to borrowings made specifically to fund the acquisition of a specific qualifying asset
are fully capitalised during the period when this specific qualifying asset is being consirucied.
Borrowings which do not qualify as specific are defined as general borrowings. Judgement is applied
by management in determining whether general porrowings inciude or exclude borrowings used to
finance specific assets that are non-qualifying assets. Management has determined that borrowings
related to the acquisition of the Group liself at the time of Group reorganisation and acquisition should
be excluded from the general borrowings pooi which is eligible for capitalisation. For the general
borrowings which are not exciuded from the general borrowings pool, the capitaiisation rate is used to
determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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Non-recurring items

Non-tecurring items are those which are separately identified by virtue of their size or incidence so as
to aliow a better understanding of the underiying trading performance of the Group.

Non-recurring items are generally those which do not form part of the core operations of the Group.

income tax

The income tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised
in the Consolidated income statement, except to the extent that it relates o items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or ditectly in equity. Kazakhstan Excess Profits Tax, being a tax on income,
forms part of the income tax expense.

Current tax expense is the amount of tax estimated to be pavable or recoverable in respect of the
taxable income or joss of 2 period, as well as adjustmenis to estimates in respect of previous periods.

it is calculated on the basis of the tax iaws and rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheel date.

Deferred tax represents the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in future periods in
respect of temporary differenices, unused tax losses and unused fax credits. Deferred tax s
recognised in respect of femporary differences between the tax bases of assets and labilities and
their canying amounts in the Consolidated financial statements, subject to the exceptions below.

Deferred tax s not accounted for i it arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neithar accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised Tor all deductibie temporary differences, carry forward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses o the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
avatlable against which the deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised.

Neferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are reduced {o the extert that it is
no fonger probabiz that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
assels to be utilised.

Deferred fax is provided on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
interasts in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference s
controfied by the Group and it s probeble that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferrad fax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or
the deferred tax liability is setfled.

Deferred tax essaets and liabilities are offset only if there is a legaily enforceable right fo offset the

recognised amounts and the deferred tax assets and liapilities are intended to be settled aither
simultanecusly or on a netl basis.
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Exploration and evaluation

Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources include the search for mineral resources after the
Group company has obtained legal rights to explore in a specific area, as well as the determination of
the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracling mineral resources. Exploration and
svaluztion expenditure refated to an area of interest are written off as incurred unti! the management
conclude that it is probable that future costs will be recovered through successful development and
exploitation of the area of interest, or altematively through its sale, from which goint they are carried
sorward as an asset in the balance sheet and are included within the assets under construction
component of property, plant and equipment at cost less impairment charges.

Capitalised costs include costs directly related o exploration and evaluation activities in the relevant
area of interest. General and administrative costs are allocated to an exploration or evaluation asset
only to the extent that those costs can be related directly to operational activities in the relevant area
of inferest. All capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment if facts
ang circumstances indicate that impairment ray axist.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the exploration and evaluation assets subject to iesting are
grouped with relevant existing cash-generating units of operating mines that are located in the same
geographical region. Where the assets are not associated with a specific cash-generating unit, the
recoverable amount is assessed for the specific exploration area, Any impairment foss is recognised
as an expense in accordance with the policy on impairment of non-financial assets.

identifiable expioration and evaluation assets acquired as part of a business combination are
recognised as assets at theilr fair value at the date of acquisition.

Property, piant and equipment

Proparty, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment loss. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset, costs attributable to bringing
the assef lo its working conditicn: for its intended use and estimated future cosi of closure and
restoration of the assetl.

Depreciation is recorded over the useful life of the assat, or over the expected remaining e of the
mine if shorfer, as follows:

Ruiidings {including mining premises). 1010 80 years ona straight-line basis;
Mining assets (including mineral rights). on a units of production basis;

Plant and aquipment: 5 to 30 years on a straight-iine basis; and

Motor vehicias: & 1o 30 years on a straight-line basis.

# % & &

Land Is not depreciated.

The residual value of an asset is nil if the Group expects to use the asset until tha end of its physical
hife.
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Estimgtes of residual values and usefid lives are reassessed annually, and any change in estimats is
taken into account in the determination of future depreciation charges.

The individual significarst parts of an ftem of property, plant and squipment (components), whose
useful lives are different from the usehsd life of the asset as 2 whole, are depreciated individually,
applying depreciation rates reflecting their anticipated useful lives. The cost of replacing major paris
or componants of property, plant and equipment items is capitalised and the replaced part is retired.

Subseguent costs are included in an asset's carying amount or recognised as a separate assel, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the ftem will flow o
the Group and the cost of the itlem can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the Consolidated income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Specialised spare parts and servicing equipmerd with a significant inifial value and a usaful life of
miore than one year are recognised as items of property, plant and equipment. Other spare parts and
servicing-related equipment are recognised as inventories and accourted for in the Consolidated
income statement on yilisation.

Gains and losses on disposals are dstermined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
of the assets disposed of and are recognised in the Consolidated income statement. -

Property, plant and equipment are tested for jmpairment if facts and circumstances indicate that
fmpairment may exist, in accordance with the impairment policy below.

i} Mining assefs

Once a project has been established as commercially viable, capitaiised expenditures are transferred
from ‘exploration and evaluation’ to ‘mining assets’. In addition, mining assets include mineral rights,
sxpenditure incurred to establish or expand production capacity, costs {o conduct mining construction
and mining capital works, as well as costs arising from mining preparation works during the
development or mine reconsiruction phase.

Development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group is agcumulated separately for each
area of interest in which economically recoverable resources have been identified. Such expenditure
comprises costs directly atiributable to the construction of a mine and the related infrastructure,
including the cost of materials, direct fabour and an appropriate proportion of production overheads.

When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a mining asset after the
commencement of production, such expenditure is catried torward as part of mining assets when it is
probable that additional future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Group. Otherwise such expenditure is recogrised as a cost of production.

Cnece a project has been fully commissioned, deprecistion is charged using the units of production
method, based on proved and probable reserves, with separaie calcuiations being made for each
area of interest. The units of production basis results in a depreciation charge proportional 1o the
depietion of proved and probable reserves.
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Mining assets are included within the category 'Buildings and mining assels’ of property, plant and
equipment.

iy Assels under construction
Assets undesr construction are capitalised as a separate component of properiy, plant and equipment.

Saff-construcied assels include the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
allocated overheads.

On compiletion, the cost of construction is iransferred to the appropriate asset calegory. Assels under
construction are not depreciated. Depreciztion commences on the date when the assets are avaitable
for intended use.

#) Stripping costs

Stripping costs comprise the removal of overburden and other waste products from a mine, Stripping
costs incurred in the development of mines and open pits before production commances are
capitalised as part of the cost of constructing the mines and open pits, and depreciated using the unit
of production method over the lives of the mings or open pils,

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase of operations are treated as a production cost
that forms part of the cost of inventaory.

Impaiyment

The carrving amounts of properly, plant and equipment and all other non-financial assets are
reviewad for impairment ¥ facts and circumstancas indicate that impairment may exist. An intangible
aaset that has ndefinite useful life, such as goodwill, is tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The Group tests an asset or cash-generating unit {CGU} for Impairment by comparing its recoverable
arnount with its carrying amount. When impairment review is undertaken, the recoverable amount is
assessed by reference to the higher of 'vaiue in use” and fair value less costs of disposal’.

A CGLU is the smallest identifiable group of assats that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Value in use is the net present value of expected future cash flows of the relevant CGU in its current
condition. Value in use is delermined by applying assumptions specific to the Group's continued use
of the asset or CGU and does not take into account future developments.

The estimates usad for impairment reviews 1o determine value in use are based on detailad mine
nlans and operating budgets. Future cash flows are based on management's best estimates of:
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« The guantifies of the reserves and mineral resources for which there is a high degree of
confidence of economic extraction; '

Future production levels;
o Future commaodily prices; and
« Future cash costs of production, capital expenditure related to consiruction in progress and

developmant projects that are not yet completed, close down, restoration and environmenial
ciean up.

Fair value less costs of disposal is the amount ohtainable from the sale of an asset or CGU in an
arm's length transaction between knowledgesble, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. Whers
there is no bindging sale agreement or active market, fair value less costs of disposal is based on the
hest information avaiiable to reflect the amount the Group could receive for the CGU in an arm's
length transaction.

¥ the carrying amount of the asset exceads its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and an
impairment lfoss is charged to the Consolidated income statement so as to reduce the carrying
amouni in the Consolidated balance shest to its recoverable amount. For assets excluding goodwill, a
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a
reversal of the conditions that originalfly rasulted in the impairment. This reversal is recognised in the
Consolidated income statement and is limited fo the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciztion, had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. An
impairment loss recognised far goodwill is not reversed in a subseguent period.

Business combinations and goodwiil

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business cumbinations. The Group elects
on a transaction-by-fransaction basis, to measure non-controfling interests at the vaiue of iheir
proportion of identifiable assets and liabilities or at full fair vatue. The excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controliing interest over the Group’s interest in the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree, represents
goodwill. 'Bargain purchase gain’ which is the excess of the net identifiable amounts of the asseis
acouired and liabiliies assumed over the aggregate of the aoquisition-date fair value of the
consideration transferred and the amount recognised for the non-controlling interest, is recognised
immediately in the Consclidated income statement.

The consideration transferred in @ business combination is measured at fair value, of the assels
transferred, the liabifities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issuad
by the Group, with contingent consideration recognised af fair value as part of that consideration
transferred. The cbligation to pay contingent consideration is classified as a Hiability or equity on the
hasia of the terms and conditions of the contingent consideration.

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent setttermant
is accounted for within equity.

i a business combination achisved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the acquiree i

remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and the resuiting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in the
Consglidated income statement.
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Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securilies, that the
Group incurs in conjunction with a business combinaticn are expensed as incurred.

Gooawill acquired through business combinations hasg been aliocated to those CGUs or groups of
CGUs that are expected o benafit from the business combination. These CGUs or groups of CGUs
represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internat management
purposes and these CGUs or groups of CGUs are not farger than the Group's operating divisions,
which are its product groups.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually in accordance with the impairment policy descrined above.
Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
fair value of non-controliing interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and lizbilities assumed,
Subsequantly, goodwill is measured at cost inftially recognised less accumuiated impairment losses,

infangible assets

Intangible assets, which are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives, are stated ai cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, Intangible assels acquired in a business
combination are capitalised at fair value when the fair value can be measured reliably on initial
recognition. Intangible assets ave tested for Impairment if facts and clroumstances indicate that
impairment may exist, in accordance with the impairment policy described above.

Intangible assets are amortised using the straightine method over thelr useful Hves not exceeding 5
yHars.

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories: loans and
receivables, financial assets af fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and
held-to-maturity financial assets, The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
agsets were acguired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognision.

Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other receivables, loans
receivable and other financial assets.
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Measuremerit

i} Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are ungugied non-derivative financial assets with fixed or dsterminable
sayments. Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus directly atfributable
iransaction costs. Subseqguently, loans @nd receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Where a loan is provided at interest rates different from market rates, the
loan is remeasured at origingtion at its fair vaiue, which is represented by fulure interest payments
and principal repaymenis discounted at market interest rates for sirnilar loans. The difference between
the fair value of the loan at origination and its cost (fair value of the contribution to the borrower, net of
transaction costs) represents an origination gain or loss, The origination gain or ioss is recorded in the
Consclidated income statement within finance income/costs unless it gualifies for recognition as an
asset, liability or a charge to equity in accordance with the substance of the arrangement.

Subsequently, the carrying amount of the loans is adjusted for amortisation of the origination gain or
oss and the smortisation is recorded as finance incomefcosts. The Group’s ioans and receivables

comprise mainly of ‘loans receivable’, ‘rade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in
the Consolidated balance sheet.

i} Financial assels af fair value through profit or foss

Einancial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial
asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Derivatives, other than those designated as effective hedging instruments, are included within
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. These assefs are initially recognised at fair vaiue
with transaction costs expensed in the Consolidated income statement They are subssguently
remeasured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the Consalidated income statement,

i} Available-for-sals financial assets

Available-for-sale finansial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this
category of not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets
unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction cosis and
subsequently carried at fair value, Changes in fair value of available-for-sale finzncial assets, other
than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on avaiiable-for-sale monetary fems, are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income. When an investment is derecognised, the
cumuialive gain or ioss in equity s transferred to the Consolidated income statement.

interest on available-for-sate securities calculated using the effective interest method is recognised n
the Consolidated income statement. Dividends on  available-for-sale equity instruiments  are
recognised in the Consofidated income statement when the Groug's right to receive payments is
sstablished.

The falr .va%zze of quoted investments is determined by reference to closing bid orices at the end of

every reporting period, Where fair value cannot be reliably measured, available-for-sale assets ave
carried at cosl
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v} Held-to-maturity financial assels

Held-to-maturity financial asssis are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive Intention and ability to
hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interesti raie method, less any impairment iosses.

Derecognititn:

The Group derecognises financial assets when: (i) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash
flows from the asseis have otherwise expired; (i) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets; or (i) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership but has not retained control. Controt is retained if the
courterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety {0 an unrelated third
party without needing fo impose additional restrictions on the sale.

impairment of tinancial assais

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or @ group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is
deemad to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a resuit of one or
more evenis that has ccourred after the initial recognition of the asset (a 'loss event’) and that loss
event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, when it becomes probable thaf they will enfer bankruptey or other financial
recrganisation, where observabie data indicate that there is & measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults, and
prolonged decting in the value of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

i} Assets carried al amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and raceivables ¢r held-to-maturity
investrnents carried at amorised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difierence belwean the assel’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fiows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
offective inferest rate. The carrving amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance
account. The amount of 10ss is recognised in the Consoiidated income statement. If in a subsequent
period the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be reiated objectively 1o an
evert occurting after the impairment was recogrised, the previously recognised impairment 0ss s
reversed by adjusting the allowance account.

Page 80 of 145



Document émis électroniquement

1. Basis of preparation and principal accounting policies {continued)

i} Assets classified as available-for-saile

The decline in the fair value of an avallable-for-sale financial asset is recognised in other
comprahensive income. When there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative
foss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity fo the
Consolidated income staterment as a reclassification adjustmeni even though the financial asset has
not been derecognised. The amount of the cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity 1o the
Consclidated Income statement is the difference between the acquisition cost {net ¢of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the Consolidated income statement. impairment losses recognised in the
Consolidated income statemen for an investment in an equity instrument classified as available-for-
sale are not reversed through ihe Consolidated income statement. If in a subsequent pariod the fair
value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the incrsase can be
objectively related 1o an event ocourring after the impairment loss was recognised in the Consolidaied
income statement. the impairment koss shall be reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised
in the Consolidated income stafemsnt.

inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cosi of inventory is determined on
a weighted average basis.

Cost includes all costs incurred in the normal course of business in bringing each product 1o its
present location and condition. Cost for raw materials, consumable stores and other inventories is
purchase price or extraction cost. Cost for work in progress and finished goods is the cost of
production, including the appropriate proportion of depreciation and overheads based on normil
operating capacity, but excluding borrowing costs. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less any further costs expected to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised inffially at fair value and subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest methed less provision for impairment. A provision for
impairmeant of receivables is established when there is objective evidence ihat the Group will not be
able to collect ail amounts due according 1o the original terms of the receivables. The movement in
the provision from the previous reporting period is recognised in the Consolidated income statement.
Subseqguent recoveries of amounts previousty written off are oradited against ‘general and
adminisirative expenses’ in the Consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held zt call with banks and other short-
term highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less. Balances restricted from being
exchanged or used to settie & Jabiiity for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date are included
in other financial non-current assets, while balances restricted for more than fhree months but less
than 12 months after the balance sheet daie are included in trade and other receivables, Restricted
halances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated cash flow statement.
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Financial liabilities

Classification

The Group classifies its financial fiabilities into the following measurement categories: loans and
borrowings, financial liabilites at fair vaiue through profit or loss, and derivatives dasignated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge. Management determines the classification of its financial
tighilities at inftial recognition.

Financial liabilities inciude frade and other payables, loans and borrowings, barik overdrafis and
derivative financial instruments.

Measurement

i} Loans and borrowings

Loans and borrowings are initially recorded at fair vaiue plus directly attributable transaction costs.
Loans and borrowings are subsequently measured &t amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue oosts and any discount or
premium on setfiement.

Any difference between the proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised
in the Consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Where a loan is oblained at interest rates different from market rates, the loan is ramegsuret a
origination fo its fair value, which is calculated as future interest payments and principal repayments
discounted at market interest rates for similar loans. The difference between the fair value of the loan
at origination and its cost (fair value of the contribution to the borrower, net of transaction costs)
represents an origination gain or loss. The origination gain or loss is recorded in the Consolidated
incorne statermnent within finance incomelcosts unless i gualifies for recognition as an assel, liability or
a charge 10 equity in accordance with the substance of the arrangement. Subsequently, the carrying
amount of the borrowings fs adjusted for amortisation of the origination gain or ivss and the
smortisation is recorded as finance income/cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settiermnent of the lizbility for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

i) Einancial fabifities at fair value through profit or ioss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are financial liabilities held for trading. A financial
Hability is classified in this category i accepted principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the short
term. Derivatives, other than those designated as effective hedging instruments, are included within
simancial liabilities at fair value through profit or joss. These iabilities are initially recognised at fair
value with transaction costs expensed in the Consolidated income statemeni. They are subsequently
remeasuied at fair value with gains or iosses recognised in the Consulidated income statement.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are accrued when the counterparty performs its obligations under the
contract and are carriad at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions for liabiliies and charges are recegnised when the Group has a present legal or
sonstructive obligation as a result of past events, it s probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliabie estimate of the amount can be made. Where there are a
number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outfiow will be required in setflement Is
determined by considering the class of obifigations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
ikelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of abligations may be
srnall.

Provisions are measured at the prasent value of the experilitures axpected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as a part of finance costs.

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for examgle Under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as & separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.

Cnerous contract provision

The Group recognises the present obiigation under {he loss making contract as an onersus contract
provision. An onerous contract is a conltract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to ba received under it. The unavoidable
coste under & contract reflect the least net costs existing from the contract, whichy is the lower of the
costs of fulfiling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure o fulfil it

Asset retirement obligations and other environmental provisions

An obligation to incur asset retirement costs occurs when environmental disturbance is caused by
exploration, evaluation, development or ongoing production. Costs are estimated on the basis of a
formal closure plan and are subject to regular review. Estimates are based on management's
interpretation of compliance with current gnvironmental legisiation in the country of operation.

Asset retirerent costs arising from the instaliation of plant and other site preparation work, discounted
{c their net prasent value, are provided when the obligation to incur such costs arises and are
capitalised into the cost of the related asset. These costs are charged against profits through
depreciation of the asset and unwinding of the discount on the provision. Depreciation is included in
operating costs while the unwinding of the discount is included as a finance cost. Changes in the
measuremant of a liability relating to the decomimissioning of site rehabiiitation of plant and other site
preparation work arg added to, or deducted from, the cost of the related asset.

Leases

Cperating leass payments are recognised as an expense in the Consclidated income statement on a
straight-line basis aver (he lease 1erm.
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Share capital
Crefinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly aftributabie {o the lssue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds on Dividends.

Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the balance sheet date only if they
have been approved before or on the balance sheet date. Dividends are disclosed when they have
been proposed before the balance sheet date or when declarad after the balance sheet date, but
nefore the Consotidated financial statements are authorised for issue.

Non-ourrent assets held for sale and disposal groups

Non-current assets and assats and liabilities included in disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use, they are available for immediate disposal and the sale is highiy probable. Non-current
assets held far sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.
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The Group makes judgements in the process of applying accounting policies. The Group also makes
estimates and assumplions concerning the future. Estimates and judgements are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting
estimates may differ from the selated actual results. The eslimales and assumptions thal have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustiment fo the carrying amounts of assets and labilities within
the next financial year and areas of judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the Consolidated financial statements are discussed below.

Gire reserve estimates

Ore reserve estimates are calculated based on the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves of December 2004 (the JORC code’} which requires
the use of reascnable assumptions, including:

o Future production esfimates — which include nroved and probable yeserves, resource
estimaies and committed expansions;

» Expected future commodity prices, based on current market price, forward prices and the
Group's assessment of the long-term average price; and

« Future cash costs of production, capital expenditure and rehabilitation cbligations.

The Group's ofe reserves are based on jts best estimate of product that can be economicaily and
lagally extracted from the relevant mining properties. Fstimates are developad after taking info
sceount a range of factors inciuding gquantities, ore grades, production technigues and recovery rates,
forecast commodity prices and produciion costs, Estimates are normally supported by drilling samples
and geological studies by independent mining engineering consuitants. Significant judgement is
required to generate an estimate based onthe gaological data availabie.

Ore reserve sstimates may change from period to period. This may impact the Group's financial
results. Changes in these estimates may impact depreciation charges, impairment charges on
individual assets and cash-generating units (CGUS"), and asse! retirement obligation provisicns.

Life of mines

Contracts for subsurface use expire between 2015 and 2050 The Group expecis that the subsurface
use contracts will be extended at nominal cost untii the end of the lives of the related mines, which
range between 5 and 41 years. Any changes in these assumptions may impact depreciation charges,
impatrment charges on individuat assets and CGUs and asset retirement obligations, as these items
have been measurad using the assumption that the subsurface use contracis will be extended until
the end of the mine life.

Gzoing Concern
Note 1 provides details of going concern assessment for the Group.
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Asset ratirement obligations

Provision is made for esset refirement obligations when the related environmental disturbance takes
place. Decommissioning and rehabilitation expenditure is fargely expected to take place at the end of
the respective niine lives, which varies from 5 to 41 years.

Provisions are maasured using the net present value of the expected costs as outlined in notes 1 and
31 to the Consciidated financial statements.

The provision represents managemsnt's best estimate of the costs that will be incurred bhased on
jegisiative and regulatery requirements. Significant judgement is required as many of these costs will
not crystaltise until the end of the lifa of the mine.

Esiimates are reviewed annually and are based on management's interpretation of compliance with
current environmental fegislation in the couniry of operation. Significant changes in environmental

fegisiation, restoration techniques and estimates of contamination will result in changes to provisions
from period {o period,

The long-term inflation rates currently applied in the calculation i8 2.8% - 8.5% as at 31 December
2014 being the estimate of the rate of inflation over the mine lives. The discount rates currently
applied in the caloulation is 7.8% - 15.0% at 31 December 2014 being the estimate of the risk-free,
pre-tax interest rates for long-term government sacurities,

impatrment of assets
The Group considers, at least annually, the recoverability of all assets if there have been any
indications of impairmant,

Financial assets

The Group exercises judgement in assassing whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset is impaired, including for example, assessment of counterparty default risk, both customer and
financial counterparties, determination of whether there has been ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ decline in
the fair value beiow original cost and estimation of future cash flows. The recoverability of the value of
financial asseis s addressed through the Group’s impairment review procedures {refer to note 1),

Non-current assets

Note 1 oullines the Group’s policy for lmpairment of long-term non-financial assets and goodwill.
Significant judgement is used to determine the present vatue of cash flows used (including the
estimated guartum and timing) in the Group's impairment models. Judgement is also employed in the
assessment of the vaiue of an asset or group of assets prior to the receipt of a confirmad offer as well
as for the estimation of future cash flows required to determing value in use.

if an impairment indicator exists, the Group’s approach is fo consider the ability of its groups of CGlis,
which have no goodwill in their financial statements, to generate future economic benefits which
sxceed the value of the related tangibie assets in the financial stetements.

As a consequence of the current volatility in commodity prices, the Group has performed an
impairment assessment for all CGUs. The Group is currently capital constrained which fimits its ability
1o develop s assets in the most effective manner and maximize their value, As a result the 2014
impairment reviews have been on the basis of FVLCD taking account of how 3 less capital
constrained market participant would develop the assals held by the Group. The valuations have
heen carried out using & combination of techniques (classilied as level 3 under the falr vaiue
niergrehy) including:
Page 66 of 145



Document émis électroniquement

2. Critical accounting estimates and iutdgements in applying accounting policies {continued}

= Net present value of fulure cash fiows where feasibie business plans have been developed;
»  Multiples basad on comparable trading values and market fransactions for minerals in sity;
and

¢ Fair vaiue of existing Property, Plant and Equipment held by the Group.

Whare the CGL is in operation, generating positive cash flows (or where positive cash flows are
expatied in the near future), a discounted cash flow ('DCIF) has been the primary valuation methaod.
in some cases, an in situ value has been added fo the DCF value. The in situ value has been added
where the excess resource has not been capiured in the mining plan.

Whare the CGU is not operational or where the operations are nof yet producing positive cash flows,
an in sty value has been used. The in silu value has been calculated by using a market derived
multiole on the resource. The multiple has been estimated using data from trading multiples and
recent fransactions in the market involving rescurces similar to the one being valued.

in some cases, the DCF, the in situ or the two in combination have rendered a value which is lower
than ihe realisable sales value of PP&E and the book value of working capital. In those cases, the
realisable value has been adopted as the vaiue (sometimes in combination with an in siu value). The
realisable sales value of PP&E has been calculated using specific asset values.

The cash flow projections utilised in the 2014 DCF models were based on the Group's long-term
strategic plans. The long-term US inflation rate has been used as the assumed growth rate, which
was applied for the years where no direct input was available. The price assumptions were based on
irternal management five year forecasts for commodity prices, which were then benchmarked with
external sources of information to ensure that they were within the range of available analyst
forecasts as well as on forecasts by indepsnaent experts.

In 2014 the key assumptions which formed the basis of forecasting future cash flows in the models
arg

»  Commodity prices, which are based on internal forecasts by management of the Group's sales
and marketing business as well as on forecasts by independent experts. These internal
forecasts are comparable 1o the forecasts of indusiry market researchers;

o Long-term costs are set in fine with current operational performance, as adjusted far future
inflation rates in countries of operation and, where applicable, the expected movements in key
input costs;

«  The successful extraction, processing and sale of the reserves and resources in accordance
with the quantities described in the report on Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources and
companies’ long-term mine plans;

« A long-term US inflation rate average of 2.3% per annum, in line with external forecasts, and

« In determining the discount rate to be applied to e future cash flows, the Group used the
post-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), adjusted for the country risk premium for
each COU accordingly. The rates used were in the range of 7.5%—13.0%.
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The #mpairment test for SSGPO CGL was particularly sensitive to changes in commodity prices,
discount rate and operating costs. Whilst the Managers remain confident in the assumptions used in
the recoverable amount computation, adverse changes in assumptions as described below couid
result in an impairment charge.

Fxoess of Change in the key assurnplion
recoverabla Valise assigned fo the key assumplion resuliing in the recoverable amount
amoaunt over equalling the carrying amount
calTying Commodity prices Discount Oparsting  Commodily  Discount  Operaling
yaiua o rate costs ICES rate COSts
2014 UBS miliion Uss$h % US$HH %o “a %o
ron ore concantrate: Years 120
SSGRO 170 54-86 10.0 5265 (1-3) 41 +
tron ore pellets: Thereafier.
78134 70102

Each of the sensitivities above was determined assuming the relevant key assumption moved in
isolation.

As a result of the annual impairment testing, the Managers do not believe that the carrying value of
long-term non-financial assels was impaired at 31 December 2014, except for the CGY where
impairment has been identified which is further discussed in note 10.

The primary reasons for the absence of impairment are as follows:

» Although the prospective pricing environment is more challenging for the Group, this has been
mitigated by improvement in some of the macro-economic fgctors (risk free interest rale,
markat cost of debt, systematic risk associated with comparable asset return) which are used
ip calculats discount rate; _

« The devaluation of the Kazakhstani tenge has also supported the value of the Kazakhstani
assets;

s Following the “hargain purchass’ of ENRC in 2013 the Group, as required by IFRS 3({K), also
did not recogrnise significant potential goodwill in respect of certain assets.

Business combination
During the year, the Group finalised the accounting for the acquisiion of ENRC, which was
determined provisionally in the prior period.

The acquisition method of accourting for business combinations requires judgements and estimates
to be made as part of the measurement of the tair vaiues of assets and liabilities acquired and the
corsideration transferred. The Groun hired external valuation consultanis to review the underlying
records, make appropriate comparisons and ultimately advise on the likely fair value and economic
useful lives of the acquired assets. Where external consultarts wers not used, the values are
estimated internaily.

Note 5 provides further details of the Group's policy regarding the finalisation of the 2013 business
scambination.
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Joint Venture
On 19 December 2014, the Group acquired 100% of the shares and voting interests in KS Holding
Group $.4 r.l. (KSHG) Management applied judgement in classifying the investment as a joint

venture hased on the actual 25% intersst, the call option to return for 75% and the assessment that it
is probable that the ficence will be obtained.

The valuation of investments acquired requires judgments and estimates to be made as part of the
measurement of the fair values of assets and fiabiliies acquired and the corsideration transferred
which determine the acuulred investment's canying amount in the balance sheet. In respect of KS
Holdings Group S.a r.i. the Group hired an external valuation consultant {o perform a review for the

purposes of the acquisition of the fikely fair value of the acquired assets. Refer to Note 21 for further
deiails.

Onerous contract provisions on long-term cusiomer contracts

Long-term custormer contracts can exterd over a number of financial years. During the contractual
period, revenue, costs and profits may be impacted by estimates of the ultimate profitabiiity of each
contract. Where the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
associated expected future net benefits, an onerous contract provision is recognised. The caiculation
of these provisions will involve the use of astimates and assumptions. Key assumptions include
forecast commodity prices, cperational cosis and a discount rate. Note 10 provides further details of
the Groun's onerous contract provision.

Contingent Eabilities

The Group exercises judgement in measuring and recognising the exposures to contingent liabilities
related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims subject fo negotiated settlement, mediation,
arbitration or govemment regulation, as well as other contingent liabilities (see note 39). Judgementis
necessary in assessing the likefihood that a pending claim wili succeed, or a liability will arise, and to
quantify the possible range of the financial seftfement. Because of the inherent uncertainty in this
evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the originally estimated provision.

Taxation

The Group is subject to the taxation requirements in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
Significant iudgement is required in determining the position for income taxes across these
jurisdictions owing to the complexity of tax laws, frequent changes in tax laws and reguiations, and
the manner of their implementation. Judgement must also be exercised whilst inferpreting the
interaction between different taxes and interaction between tax rules of different jurisdictions.

Tax provisions are recognised in accordance with tax laws enacted or substantively enacted by the
tax authorties in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates, and in accordance with requirements
of the applicable accounting standards.

Note 18 contains information on current period tax charges, prior period adjustments, current and

deferred tax assets and liabilities inciuding, where appropriate, provisions against uncertain fax
posiions,
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2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies {continued)

Functiona! currency

Management exercised judgment in determining the functionat currency of the Company (the uliimate
holding company) and intermeadiate holding companies of the Group. The selection of the functional
currency has an effect for the recognition or non-recognition of foreign exchange gains and losses on
external and intra-group borrowings. Based on the analysis performed the management concluded
that US$ is the functional currency of the Company and the intermediate hoiding companies of the
Group. The Group developed the accounting policy for the determination of the functional currency of
ultimate holding company based on the company's cwn operations. The Company does not perform
operational activities, thus the analysie of the primary indicators is not applicable. The analysis of the
secondary indicators supported conclusion that USS is the functional currency of the Company as its
share capital, intra-group liabifities, and investments are denominated predominantly in US$ and the
external financing provided i¢ its non-sutonomous opsraticns is denominated predominantly in USS.
The functional currency of the intermediate holding cornpanies of the Group was assessed based on
the fact that none of them is autonomous, therefore management has concluded that their funciional
currency is the same as the functional currency of the ultimate parent company, the USS.
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3. Divisional information

Management have determined the operating divisions based on the reports reviewed and used by the
hoard of managers to make strategic dacisions,

Divisional Underlying EBITDA (refer to note 40) includes items directly attributable to the operating
division, as well as those ihat can he allocated on a reasonabie basis.

The Group is organised on the basis of six (2013: six) operating divisions:

+ Ferroalloys — comprises fhe exiraction and sale of chrome ore as well as the production of
ferroalioys from chromivm and manganess ores;

« lron Ore — comprises exploration, axtraction, processing and manufacturing of iron ore
products;

« Alumina and Aluminium - comprises extraction and processing of bauxite and limestone, and
smelting of alumina and aluminium;

s Other Non-ferrous — comprisas the exploration and extraction, processing and manufacturing
of copper and cobalt products, and the sxploration of other minerals in Africa. Includes @iso
the logistics and trucking operations throughout Southern Africa;

. Energy — comprises coal mining, processing to produce coke and semi-coke products and
power genergtion; and

« Logistics — Kazakhstan's main freight forwarder and railroad operator, providing internafionat
logistics for all Eurasian based Group operations; also rail construction and repalr services for
the Kazakhstani state rail company.

internal charges between divisions have been reflected in the performance of each operating division.
The Group has a number of activities that exist principally to support the metais operations, including
power generation, coal mining and transportation. Inter-division fransfers or transactions are entered
info under a cost-plus pricing structure. The revenue generatad from third parties is measurad in a
rmarner consistent with that in the Consolidated income statement. The identified operating and
reportable Divisions of the Group are the same as those that applied to the Group's Annual Report
and Accounts for the peried ended 31 December 2013

The disclosure of divisional information is not required by IFRS and is presented to provide the users
of the Consolidated financial statements with additional information.
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3. Divisional information {continued)

Year ehded

AlLumine
31 December 2054 un:gg Otiser Mo
Divisional information Farrosllovs  fon OFe Alstiniura ferrous Energy  Logistics Wit Group
in millions of USE Divigiott  Divislon Praisice [ivision Oivision Divisicss  Corporate  Shimminations Total
Revenue 23268 1,218 780 984 377 22 - 5,831
inter-division smyenue 7 4 2 - 278 183 - {474) -
Divigional revenyy 2,376 1,323 T8z 964 655 208 - {474) 5,551
Divisional operating
wrofit/{foss) T4 258 333 i 3 &6 {1803 - 1,108
Finance Noome &6
Finance cost {795}
Share of results from joint
ventue {2
Profit before incomme tax 378
{ncome tax expansg {213
Frofif for the year 182
Depresiation and
amoetisation {233} {21¢} {51 {164} (174 {19) ) - (861}
LtHigaton of invantory
heid at faiy value {198} £2} e {3) - o - - {204)
Met change ip oharous
coritract provision
{note 10) - - 288 - - - - - 259
Gain on disposat of
subsitfiory’ 88 - - ki o - o= - 96
Mot gainfloss) on
Kazakhstan! tenge
devaluation” 7% 36 {43) - {3 4 - - 66
Rostrogturing sosts
{note 12) - - - - - - {22) - {22}
impairment
{note 10} o {6} {4 o {42} e - - (192)
Morrrecurdng Hams -~
opeyating - - - - - - (1} - 1}
Undetlying ESITDA
{riote 44} B9 445 147 82 it 51 {152} - 1,847
Average aumber of
empiayees, total 24587 9,387 12,757 9,272 8,134 1,609 897 - TI770

1 Refiects the gain on disposal of Zhairemsky GOK JSC in Docember 2014, as wet as a subsidiary which consisted of a
siag dumip at Chambishi. Refer fo nole 13 for further delails.

2 Reflects the Anancial inpact of sach segmenl’s monetary assets and liabiliies designated in Kazakhstani tenge, following
he devaluation of the currency in February 2014, Refer i note 37 for further detaiis.
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3. Divisional information {continued)

Peariod ended
31 December 2013

N ) Aluming
AE: {*gstai@;i ) ) and O Noo
Divisienal information Faroagoys  don e Aluminim farmous Energy  Logistics intrg Group
in redifions of LUGH Division  Dhvision Divisien Divisien Sivision Division _ Corporate  Eliniinations Toisl
Revenis 505 310 1357 200 79 4 - - 1,235
Inigr-segment revenys 2 1 {5} - 56 a5 - {893 —
Pivisional revenue 847 311 132 . 200 135 38 - (89) 1,235
Erivisional operating
arofitiloss) BE 85 12 (A 30 12 (g (143}
Finance inoome i
Finanoe cost {113}
Exceptions! fams -
finanoing {1
Nt Giain Arising from
Business Combinations 5710
Praofi betore incoms tax 5,463
income tax expense {15
Profit for the period 5,444
Depraciation and
amortisation {472} {42} {3 {16} (31} {4} - - {138
Utilisation of inventory held
at fair value (51 {16} {53 {15} — - - {167}
Net change in onefous
coniract provision
otz 10 - 32 . - — - - 32
impairments {3 2 - - - - -
Non-recurring gemns
GpeTating - - 1 {148} {145}
Underdying EBITOA X
{note 40) 42 121 {123 F [0 16 {39 o 295
Avarage number of
gnployees, tlal 24,392 20,688 13,943 G397 9358 953 561 - 79,278
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4. Balances and transactions with raiated parties

During the year/period ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, the Group enfered info the
following transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of business:

Founder )
Sharehoidors’ Jaint ventures Other® Total

in millions of US$ 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Revenue from sale of goods 7 o - - - - ¥ -
Purchase of goods® {7} {8y 5) o —- {413) {5
Purchase of servicas and other

expense {75 {10} {2) - (73 - {82) {10}
General and adminisirative expenses’ {7 - - - e — {18) -
Finance income 14 2 e s - - 14 2
Finance cost 2y (1} - - - (2} {H
Purchase of propety plant and

squinment {1 — — - e — {1} -

ﬁ Includes ai entities under the control of the Founder Shareholders.

* purchase of goods in the Joint veniure category relates to Xinjiang Alsmir Coking Coat Co. Limited {Asmare JV'}.

¥ purchase of services in the Other category mainly relates o consultaney services provided by Bryanston Holding (Asia)
Limited, the company controlled by the Sroup's CEO (2013: USEnil,

4 A maximum amount of 30 million Euro per year has been approved by the Board for the travel expenses incurred by the
Founder Shareholder in connection with the representation of ERG Group companies. For the ysar ended 2014, the total
gxpenas authorised by the board amounts to US$17 million, This includes an accrual of US$3 .4 million relating to 2014

which has not yet been claimed by a Founder Shareholder {2013: UBSail).

® The above feble exciudes wansactions with the DRG and the Republic of Kazakhstan Governments, The defails of
fransactions with goveriunant bodies are available further in this note,
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4. Balances and transactions with related pariies {continued}

The outstanding balances with related parties as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 are
as follows:

Founder Sharehoiders’
Jaint
Eurasian Rank Other yeniures Other® Total®
it mitlions of USE 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 zM4a 2043
HNon-current agssis
Other financial assets” 32 26 - - - - -~ 32 26
Other non-currernit assets’ 15 31 5 - - - - 20 31
Current assets
Trade and other receivabies” 9 12 3 2 - - - 10 12 24
Loans receivabie® : - - o 2 8 - - 2 6
Cash and cash equivalents 387 114 i - - - - - 367 114
Current labilities
Borrowings e i - - - - - - 1
Trade and other payables’ - e 12 7 - — & 4 17 11

* Includes aff entifies under the control of the Founder Shareholdears.

2 Other firancial assets held with Eurasian Bank J5C includes term deposits of US$32 million {2012 LS326 million) for the

refirement of assels in accordance with the requirements of contracts on subsuriace use,

Other non-current assefe with Eurasian Bank JSC of US$1S million (2013: US$H3T million) relates to letters of credit for

property. plant and equipment and US$Hm (2013: USS nil} of advances paid for construction fo Shatt Sinkers Kazakhstan

LLP.

Trade and other recejvables with Furasian Bank JSC includs fonm deposits including interest of LSEE million and restricted

cash of US$t million (2013 term deposits including interest of US$10 million and letters of credit of USE2Z million). Trade

and ofher receivables in the Other category with Fourtiers Shersholders includes US$1 midilion in relation to travel

axpanses (2013 USsnil).

11858 million of the loan receivable from Taurus Gold Lid., a joint venture of the Group, as at 31 December 2013 was

knpaired in 2014 and the expense was recogrised in the Group's consolidated income statement,

Trade payabies in the Other category mainly inciude USE1 million payable to Medical Cerire Eurasia LLP, a compary

owned by the former ENRC CFO (2013: USS2 milien) and U8%2 million payable to Brayanston Hoiding (Asia) Limdted, a

compary conirolled by the Group’s CEO (2013: USEnily. .

As at 31 December 2013, rade and other receivablas in the Other category mainly refated to US$S2 million receivabie fom

Rindlang Tuol ENRC Talhang Chrome Co. Lid. {Tuoll'). The company was sokl in 2012 subject to the satisfactory receipt

o outstanding trade payables to the Group, which was seifled as &t 31 Dacember 2014,

Trade and other payables in Founder Shareholders category include USSS million accrued Founder Sharsholders’ travel

expenses {2013 USEnil).

& The above table excludes baiances due fromAo the DRC and the Republic of Kazakhstan Governrmenis. The details of
baiancas due fromio the government bedies are available further in this note.

3

n

[+

i
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4, Balances and fransactions with related parties (continued)
Founder Shareholders

The Founder Sharesholders of Eurasian Natural Resocurces Corporation Limited (‘'ENRCH, Mr P
Chodisv, Mr A lbragimoy and Mr A Machkevitch, collectively owned, including shares held through
trusts and other entities, 43.8% of ENRC prior to the offer of Eurasian Resources Group B.V. (ERG
B.V.)) became wholly unconditional as of 25 October 2013. ERG B.V. is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Furasian Resources Group S.é& rl, which was formed by a consortium including the Founder
Shareholders and the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan and held $2.81% of ENRC as at 31
Decamber 2014 {refer to note 5 for further details). Details of capital confributions made to the Group
by the Founder Shareholdsrs are disclosed in note 29.

For the year/period ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, the Group underiook
significant related party transactions with entities controlled by the Founder Shargholders.

Revenue of USH7 milion from sales of goods o entiies controlled by the Founder Sharahoiders wers
recognised in the Energy Division (2013: USEnil}.

The purchase of goods and services from entities controfled by the Founder Shareholders include the
following fransactions:

Year/period ended 31 Decamber

i rritlions of LSS 2014 2013
Purchases of goods
Pyrchages of raw materials {7} _ o

Purchase of servigss and other {expenselincome

Insurance (28} )
Security services (25} {3)
Rental expenses {7) {n
Bank charges {3) -
Repairs and maintenance (2) -
Other (8} -
Total (73} o

Furasian Bank J&8C

Eurasian Bank JSC is 2 company controlied by the Founder Sharsholders, Term deposiis held at
Eurasian Bank JSC have an effeciive interest rate for the period ended 31 December 2014 of 5.8%
(2013: 3.1%). Cash and cash equivaients held at Eurasian Rank JSC bear an interest rate of 5.7%
(2013 2.4%).

There were no restrictions on the balance of US$5E57 miltion (2013: US$114 million} in cash and cash
equivaienis at 31 December 2014,
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4. Balances and transactions with related parties {continued)

Guarantees

At the inception of the contract in December 2008, Mr A Machkevitch provided a guarantee in favour
of Alumina & Bauxite Company Lid, a member of the RUSAL Group, to guarantee the due and
punctual performance of ENRC Marketing AG’s obligations under its alumina supply contract with
RUSAL The guarantee contains an indemnity from Mr A Machkevitch in favour of Alumina & Bauxite

Company Lid in respect of any losses it may suffer ansing from any default or non-performance by
ENRC dMarketing AG unger the contract.

Transactions and balances with Government

Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan related entities

The Government of tha Republic of Kazakhstan and related entities sre related parties of the Group
as a result of the Government’s shareholding in the Group. The Group has a number of transaciions
with the Government of the Hepublic of Kazakhsian and related entities which are based an prices

and terms that would be available o third parties. The nature of these fransactions are typicaily as
foliows:

+  Fleotricity and energy supplied io Kazakhstan Temir Zholy JSC, o state owned companies
which are part of the National Welfare Fund ‘Samruk-Kazyna™ JSC group and LLP
‘Paviodarenergasbyt’ amounted to LUIS$23 million, US$16 million and US4 rillion respectively
{2013 US$E million, US$3 million and US$1 million respectively)

«  Most of the Group’s Community and Sccial Investment in Kazakhstan is made through the
Kormek Foundation which was established in 2008. The Komek Foundation’s long-term focus
is on the implemaniation of programmes aimed at supporiing the Group's own employess as
well as providing finance for investment in the development of cultural, education, sport and
health facilities. Sccial investiment and dongtions predominately to local schools, collegas and
councils in 2014 amounted to US%23 million {2013 U85S million);

«  National raifway services received from Kazakhstan Temir Zholy J8C of US$205 million
(2013 US$45 million). Balances included in advances to suppliers and other receivables
related io the future services from Kazakhstan Temir Zholy JSC| amounted io U8$22 million
as at 31 December 2014 {31 December 2013 US$32 million},

= Supply and transportation of fuel and oii associated gas by KaziransGaz JSC amounted to
Li8%41 million (2013; US3$E milliony;

. Services received in relation to transportation of electricity and energy by Kazakhstan
Eiectricity Grid Operating Company JSC (KEGQC') —~ US$36 million (2013: USST million};

« A variety of other services {mainly utility, health and safety, medical, insurance and supply of
materials) provided to the Group by the government related companies, including state owned
companiss which are part of the National Welifare Fund ‘Samruk-Kazyna’ JSC group. Total
cost amounted to USE28 million in 2014 (2013 US$5 million). Balances included in advances
o suppliers and trade and other receivables amounted to US$E3 million and U832 million
respectively (31 December 2013 USEnil in both categories). Also, trade and other payables
amounted to US$8 million {31 December 2013: US$nil), and

+  Taxation and similar payments {ncluding royafiies and MET) in accordgance with the Tax
tegisiation of the Republic of Kazaknstan.

Details of capital contributions made to the Group by the Government are disclosed in note 29
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4. Balances and fransaciions with related parties {continued)

In 2014, ERG entered into a loan agreement with the Development Bank of Kazakhstan and prior to
the acquisition by ERG, ENRC entered inlo loan agreements with the Development Bank of
Kazakhstan and JSC Soversign Waalth Fund ‘Samruk-Kazyng', entities controfled by the Government
of the Republic of Kazakhstan, as {ollows:

Development Bank of Kazakhstan Facifily

On 25 September 2014, ERG entered into a loan agreement for the amount of US$350 million with
the Deveiopment Bank of Kazakhstan. The facility is for & 7-year period, bears an interest rate of
6.95% and is fully drawn as at 31 December 2014. The loan is secured by guarantees from LRG,
SSGPO JSC and Eurasian Energy Corporation JSC. interest of US3S5 million is capitalised within
nroperty, plant and equipment on the Consolidated balance sheet. The balance payabie on the
Consolidated balance sheel amounted to US$352 million (including accrued interest) for the year
ended 31 December 2814,

On 15 April 2010, ENRC announced that it had entered into a loan agreement for the amount of
USS400 million with the Development Bank of Kazakhstan, The facility is provided by the
Development Bank of Kazakhstan using financing from the State-run Export-Iimport Bank of China.
The facility is for a 15-year period, bears an inferest rate of 4% and is fully drawn as at 31 December
2014 {(2013; fully drawn). The loan is secured by a corporate guarantee issued by ENRC and a
ledge over 51% of the shares of Kazakhstan Aluminium Smelter JSC (KAE'}. Interest charged fo the
Consolidated income statement amounted to US$18 million (2013 USS3 million}. The balance
payable on the Consolidated baiance sheet amounted to US$313 million (including accrued interest)
for the year ended 31 December 2014 {2013: US$303 million).

Wealtih Fuund ‘Samruk-Kazyna’ JSC

On 30 November 2010, ENRC entered nto a US$500 miltion facility with the Wealth Fund ‘Samruk.
Kazyna JSC. The facility has an applicable interest rate of 7.6% per annum and is repayable in 10
years by bullet repayment. The loan is secured by a guarantee issued by TNC Kazchrome JSC and it
is fully drawn down as at 31 December 2014 (2013: fully drawn)}. Interast charged to the Consolidated
incorme statement amounted to LIS$38 million (2013: US$E million). The balance payable on the
Consolidated balance sheet amounied o US$481 million (including accrued interest) as at 31
December 2014 {2013 US$452 million).

Government of the Demuocratic Republic of the Congo (‘DRC) related entities

Lo Ganérale des Carriéres et des Mines (‘Gécamines’), the representative entity of the DRC
Government, hoids a 30% interest in the Group's subsidiary Boss Mining SPRL, 5% in Frontier SPRL,
30% in Metalkol S.a r.i. (including RPM which merged into Metalkol $.a r.l in 2014) and 28% in
Swanmines SPRL. The Group has a number of iransactions with the DRC Government and related
entities. The nature of these iransactions are {ypically as foliows!

o Taxation and similar payments (including royalties} in accordance with the Tax legislation of
the DRC;

« FElectricity received from Socigte Nationaie d'Eleciricite amounted to US$1D million (2013:
US$2 million);

« Prior to acquisition by ENRC of the puistanding shares of Camrose Resources Limited,
Metalkol SARL {a subsidiary of Camrose) recognised a jong-term receivable of US$35 million
from the DRC Governiment. The Group sorsiders the carrying value of this amount to ha
USSnil due to the uncertainty of timing of recovery; and
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4. Balances and transactions with related parties {continued}

o USS7 million loan receivable (2013; USES million) from Gécamines was recognised on the
Consoclidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2014, This loan was provided o Gécamines
as part of the US3400 million shareholder loan faciiity to Camrose, for the purposes of
subscribing by Gécamines for shares in Metalkol S.arl.

Acquisition

XS Holding Groun 8.4 i

On 19 December 2014 the Group acquired 100% of the shares and voling interasts in KS Holding
Group S.a r.i ('KSHE) from Mr Shakhidi, Mr Shakhidi has continued involvement in KSHG throtgh his
2 representatives which serve on the Board of Managers of KGHG. The censideration paid for the
acquisition was US$49 million with an oplion for the Group to either return 75% of the shares or o
pay an additional amount from USS1E0 million to USS300 milion depending on the value of the
shares in the fuiure. Refer nofe 21 for further details regarding the acquisition.

Mr Shakhidi is a related party of the Group through his business relationships with one of the Founder
Sharehoiders and Managers, Mr A lbragimov. Mr Shakhidi serves as a director of a number of
companies which Mr A loragimoy ultimately controls or hiolds direct or indirect interests in. The
Managers of the Group beligvs thal the acquisition was conducted at armv's length and confirm that no
tAanager has a direct or indirect bensficial interest in the acguisition.

Key management personnei

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibifity for planning,
directing and cantrofling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly. Key management personnel
do not include Managers of the Compary for whom compensation is presented separately below.

Compensation for key management personnel is set out in the table below:

Yearipericd ended 31 December

in millions of USS 2014 2013
Salary and other short-term benefits 40 3
Termination benefits 9 : -
Post-employment benefits 2 -
Total &1 3

Balances outstanding with key managerent arising from key management compensation were as
foltows:

As at 31 Dacember
i milions of US$ 2014 2013

Payables’ (14) {2)

! Payables represent accrued boriges.

Board Compensation ‘

Compensation payable to Managers of the Company {comprised of the persons detailed on page 33}
is for sarvices performed for the Group. No compensation was paid or payabie to Managers for year
ended 31 Decamber 2014 (2013 US$nil}.
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£. Business combination
Acquisition of Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation Limited ('ENRC’}

On 18 June 2013, the Group acquired 53.9% of the share capital of ENRC as a capital contribution
from the shareholders of the Company for nif consideration. On 25 October 2013, the Group
completed the purchase of 45.8% of the oulstanding ordinary shares and obtained control of ENRC.
The Group was unable to exercise control or significant influence over ENRC prior to 28 October
2013, as the Group's voling rights were restricted during that time.

The iotal consideration transferred was US$4,181 mitlion. U351,084 milion was paid in cash (net of
cash ascouired) and 136,058,606 ordinary shares held in Kazakhmys ple with a {otal fair value of
LISSEB0 million were fransferred. The total consideration also includes the fair value of the equity
interest held in ENRC Before the business combination of US$2,817 million, calculated based on the
quoted market price of the shares at 25 October 2013, which equated to the offer price of US$2.65
cash and 0.230 Kazakhmys pio shares for 1 ENRC shave.
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5. Business combination {continued}

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilties of ENRC as at the date of acquisition were
provisiondlly estimated and disclosed in the Group’s Consolidated financiai statements for the period
ended 31 December 2013. The Group finalised the measurement of these fair values during 2014,
The table below sets out the final fair values as at the acquisition date.

Final fair values
at acquisition

in millions of USS date
Fropetty, plant and eguisment 17,138
intangible assels : 143
investments in joind verduras 6
Cther financial agsets 257
Loans recetvable 46
Deferred tax assets 116
Qther non-current asseis 285
Total non-current assets 17,982
inventories 1,652
Trade and other receivables . 1,104
Income fax receivable 14
Other financial assels 50
Loans receivable 3
Total current assets 2,823
Tolal assets 20815
Borrowings {4,895)
Deferred tax Kabllities {(2,973)
Onerous condract provision : (208)
Asset retirement obligations ' (211)
Employee bensfit obligations (76}
Other non-current liabililies 21
Total non-current liabilities {8,184}
Borrowings (1,159;
Trade and other payables {899)
Crerous gontract provision (85)
incoms tax fighilities (115)
Ciher taxes payable {(132)
Total current liabilities {2,400)
Total liabilitics {10,584)
Net assets 10,231
Non-controlling interests (370)
Net atiributable assets 9,861
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5. Business combination (continued)

Final fair values at

aceuisition
in millions of US% date
Consideration;
Purchase consideration settled in cash 1,567
Cash acquired (483}
Mat cash outflow on acguisition 1,084
Fair value of Kazakhimvs plc shares at acquisition date &30
Fair value of exisling interest at acquisition date 2,517
Total consideration 4,181
Analysis of gain arising from business combination:
Fair value of existing interest at acquisition date 2,517
Fair value of existing interest at contribution date {2,487)
Net aftributable asseis 9.261
Total consideration {4,181)
Gain arising from business combination 5,710

As a result of the acquisition, the 53.9% previously held equity interest in ENRC was required to be
ra-measured at falr value as at the acquisition date, resulting in a gain of US3$30 million. This gain has
been included within the gain arising from business combination line in the Consolidated income
statement.

The Group considered i appropriate fo recognise a bargain purchase {Le. the fair vaiue of the assets
and liabilities acquired exceeds the fair value of the consideration), The Group considered that the
share price of ENRC {(and consequential offer price to non-consortium shareholders) was iower than
the fair value of the net assets for the following reasons:

o The share piice of ENRC was depressed due to concems over corporate governance,
inchuding concerns regarding inquiries from regulatory bodies;

» The market generally undervaiued ENRC's assets, in particular its early stage international
assets and did not fully reflect the value of long life mineral resources al a number of ENRG
Kazakhstan businesseas; and

s The share price of ENRC (and consequential offer to non-consortium sharehoiders) ook into
account a substantial discount due to there being no controlling interast in ENRC. The Board
believe that in having full confrot of these assets a clearer strategy can be developed, agreed
and implementad and as a result a better retum can be chiained.

A hargain purchase gain of U88$5,710 million is reported as a gain arising on acquisition of ENRC in
the Consolidated income statement.

The Group chose to recognise the nen-controlling interests for this acquisition based on their
proporlionate share of the fair value of the identifiabie net assets of the acquiree.

Acquisition costs of US$6B milion were expensed and included in non-recurring items in the
Consolidated income statemsnt,
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5. Business combination (continued)

The final fair value of trade and other receivables is US$1,104 million and inciudes trads and other
receivables (financial assels) with a fair value of US$848 million. The gross contractual amount for
trade and other receivables {financial assets) is US3679 millior, of which USE31 million is expected o
be unceliectible. '

The final Talr value of loans receivable is US$49 million. The gross contractual amount for icans
raceivable is US$52 mittion, of which all is expected to be colleciible.

The final fair vakie of other financial assets is LS$307 million and includes other financial assets-
receivables with a final fair value of US$85 miflion. The gross contractual amount for other financial
asseis-raceivables is US$101 million, of which all is expected to be collectible.

The acquired business contributed revenue of US$1,235 million and joss after income tax of US$78
miition since the date of acquisition to 31 December 2013,

If the acquisition had faken place at the date of the Company’s inception, there would have been
additional revenue of UBS%2,.905 million and loss after income tax of US$3 614 million.
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The table balow sets out the fair value adiustments made to the previously reporied fair values as at

31 December 2013,

As previously reported as at

ENERD fair valug

As restated as at 3

in milllons of LSS 31 Dacember 2013 adiustments Degamber 2013
Property, plant and equipment 16,694 390 17,286
intangibie assets 160 - 160
invastmanis in joint ventures & - ]
Other financial assels 260 - 280
Loans receivable 42 - 42
Deferred {ax assels 71 - 71
Other non-current assets 218 - 218
Total pon-current assets 17,683 396 18,043
fnvanionas 1,433 10 1443
Trade and other receivables 1,177 {23) 1,184
income tax raceivable 13 — 13
Other financial assels 28 - 29
Loans receivable 8 - 8
Cash and cosh equivalents 478 - 478
Total current assetls 3,138 {133 3,125
Total assets 20,731 377 21,168
Capital reserve 3,159 - 3,489
Rogarves 5,366 42 5,408
Attributable to owners of the

Company 8,828 42 8,567
Non-gontrolling interests 388 3] 395
Total equity 8,914 48 8,962
Borrowings 6,671 - 6,871
Deferred {ax liabilities 2574 330 2,904
Onerous contract provision 171 -~ 171
Asset retirement obligations 210 - 210
Employee benefit obligations 75 - 75
Other non-current liabilities 18 - 18
Totai non-current liabilities 8719 330 10,049
Borrowings 895 - 895
Trade and other payables 1,016 {13 1,018
Onerous contract provision 103 - 103
income tax liabilites 57 - 57
Other taxes pavable 87 - g7
Total currant liabilities 2,158 {1) 2,167
Total Habilitics 11,877 328 12,206
Total liabilities and equity 20,791 377 21,168
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5. Business combination {continued)

The property, plant and equipment, inventory, frade and other receivabies, trade and other payables,
and non-controlling interests restatements and subsequent recognition of deferred tax ligbiliies arise
as a rasuit of finalisation of purchase price allocation. The increase in properly, plant and equipment
of UB%390 million is primarily due to a revision of managements determination of the Group’s CGUs.
The increase in deferred tax liabilities of USE330 million is due to an update in the excess profil tax
rates expected to apply, which is variable and depends on profitability in future periocds. These
adjustments have been racorded as a prior pericd restatement of the Consolidated balance sheet of
the Group as at 31 December 2013. The impact to the Consolidated income statement for the period
ended 31 December 2013 is a US$84 million increase to the gain arising from acquisition of ENRC, a
LIS%32 million increase to the cost of saies, and a USEY million decrease 1o the iIncome tax expense.

The net impadct 10 the Consolidated cash flow statement for the period ended 31 Decamber 2013 is nil
{decrease of US$32 million of Frofit before income fax for the period ofiset by respective adjusiments
in cash flow from operating activities) (refer to note 28).

Fair value estimates

The provisional values of assets and fiabiliies recognised on acquisition are their estimated fair
values at the date of acquisition. Accounting standards permit up fo 12 months for provisional
acquisition accounting fo be finalised foliowing the acquisition date if any subsequent information
provides better evidence of the item’'s fair value at the date of acquisition.

For the ENRG transaction, the Group finalised its review of the fair value of assets and lhabilities
recognised at the date of acquisition. Such review included engaging third party advisors o determine
the fair values of the CGUs of the entities soquired.
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6. Disposal group

The assets and liabilities related to Serov Ferroalloy Plant JSC and Saranovskaya Mine Rudnaya
{Serov’), which form part of the Ferroalloys Division, have been preseried as held-for-sale following
approval by the Board of ERG on 18 May 2014 {0 dispose of these operations for cash proceeds. The
completion date for this ransaction was expected to be within 12 months of Board approval. Serov's
assels and labiitizs are classified as a disposal group. However, Serov is not a discontinued
aperation at 31 December 2014, as it does not represent a major line of business or geographical
area of operations. Refer to note 42 for details of the disposal of Serov on 1 April 2015.

Serov's assels and liabilities were remaasured to the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell at the date of held-for-sale classification. The impact of the remeasurement was nit.

Management plan to divest certain non-core assets within the Group's asset porifolio in the future
{mainly greenfield and minority share projecis). As at 31 December 2014, these non-core operations
identified for divestment, did not meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale.

The major ciasses of assets and liabilities of the Serov disposal group are as follows:

As at 31 Dacember

in millions of USS 2014
Assels classified as held for sale

Property, plant and egtipment 15
inventory 23
Cash and cash equivalenis 3
Other current assels 36
Total assets of the disposal group 77
Liahilities directly associated with assels classified as held for sale:

Trade and other payables (9}
Chher current liabilities {1
Provigions (7}
Tatal habilities of the disposal group (26)
Total net assets of the disposal group 81
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7. Revenue

Year/period erddad 31 December
i milllans of LSS 2014 2013
Sales of goods, net of discounts 5,715 1,211
Logistics services 96 22
Sales of by-products and other revenue 20 2
Total revenue 5,831 1,235

8. Cost of sales

Yearfperiod ended 31 December

2013
In millions of LSS 2014 As restated
Materials and components used $1,431) (496)
Staff costs {850) (137
Depraciation, amortisation and impairment {833} (135)
Mineral extraction taxes, royalies and other taxes (202} {63}
Power and energy (221) (33
Repairs and maintenance {134) (44}
Transportation costs (51) {9
Insurance . (30) {£)
Changes in inventories 133 {39
COther {31 (21
Total cost of sales (3,758} {983)

* Sae note 5 business combination for further details regarding restatements.

9, Distribution costs

Yaarfperiod ended 31 December

In mffiions of USE 2014 2013
Transportation costs {379) (83)
Taxes and duties {21} {3
Agency and cornmission fees {18} 4)
Staff costs 13 (3
Packing and handling materals {9 {2}
insurance {2) (1)
Cther (32) (12)
Total distribution cosis (471} {108)
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10. Impairments and onerous contract provision
impairments

Year/period ended 31 December

i yrilfions of USS 20144 2013
Energy Division

- Vostochnyi pit {92} -
COther i -
Total impairments {102} -
Energy Division

The impairment of the coal CGU within Eurasian Energy Corporation, knewn as the Vostochnyi pit,
results from on-going pressurs on costs and decreased revenue and increased capital expenditurs as
a result of the tenge devaluation. The CGU was valued using the DCF method and has a recoverable
amount of US$299 million, which is its fair value less coste of disposal. The US$82 million impairment
loss relates to the impairment of property, plant and equipment.

Onerous contract provision

An onerous condfract is defined under 1AS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets” as a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeling the obligations under the coniract
exceed the economic benafits expectad to be receivad under it

Yeat/period ended 31 December

Iy midions of USE Nota 2014 2013
Carrying value at 1 January 274 -
Acquisition through business combination - 303
Utilisation (103} {18}
Unwinding of discount i7 14 3
Change in discount rate 1 -
Reversal of unused amounts {188) (14}
Carrying vaiue at 31 December - 2i4
Reversal of onerous contract provision charge 188 14

As at 31 December 2013, the Group resognised an onerous contract provision of US$274 miilion in
connection with the obligation to supply United Company RUSAL, a Russian aluminium producer,
with approximately 1,200 kipa of alumina per year until December 2018, The pricing under this
contract is linked to the LME price of primary aluminium. Due to a reduction in the estimated LME
prices and increased costs of production, the unavoidable costs of meeting the coniractual obligations
were estimated to exceed the economic benefits that were expected to be raceived from it

However, in 2014 cerain terms of the contract wers amended and the contract was extended unfil
2020. The LME price of aluminium also improved, and as a result, the criteria for the recognition of an
onercus comfract were no longer met. As at 31 December 2014, the Group derecognised the
remaining provision by recognising a US$186 million reversal of the onercus contract provision
charge in the Consolidated income statement (2013: a partial reversal of US$Hi4 milion was
recognissed).
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10. impairments and onerous contract provision {continued)

The onerous contract provision balance in the Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2014
was therefora nil {2013 USS274 million, of which US$171 millien is classified as a non-cutrant iiability
and US$103 million classified as a current fiability). The principal assumptions made in caleulating the
onerous coniract provision recognised at 31 December 2013 were as follows: discount rate of 4.62%,
forecast commaodity prices for alumina between US$2856/t and US$3324, and operating costs between
LSS3774 and USS3954

The onerous contract provision was utilised based on the actual contraciual supplies, US$92 million
of the utilisation has been racognised in the Consolidated income siatement within cost of sales
(2013: US$16 million), US$6 million within distribution costs {2013; US$1 miliion) and USEE million
within gerieral and administration expenses (2013; UBH1 million).

The unwinding of the discount on the onercus contract provision and the impact of the change in the
discount rate is inciuded in the Consclidated income statement within finance costs.
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1. Non-racurring items

Year/period ended 31 Dacember

In milions of US$ 2014 2013
Professicnal fees - (86}
Loss on investment in shares designated as fair value through

profit or loss (FVTPLY {1} {79)
Total non-recurring items — operating {1) {145)
Accelerated debt issue costs - (1)
Total non-recurring items — financing — (1)
Tolal non-recurring Hems {1} {140)

These items have been identified as non-recurring items since they are one-off costs associated with
the acquisition of ENRC.

Frofessional feas ,
Charges of US$66 million in 2013 principally related to professional fees (mainly financial and legal
due diligence) incurred by the Group in relation to the acquisition of ENRC,

. oss on investment in shares designated as FYTEL

O 18 June 2013, the State Property and Privatisalion Committes ('SPPC™) contributed 150,047,116
ENRC shares and 132,162,843 Kazakivnys shares to ERG as a capital contripution in consideration
of one share in ERG, which was recorded as & financial asset by ERG and designated at FVTPL. A
loss of US$79 million related to both the ENRC and Kazakhmys shares was recorded through the
Consolidated income statement in 2013 as a non-recurring em, and a gain on business combination
of US330 mitlion was recorded in 2013 relzting to only the ENRC shares (note 5).

Refer to note 26 for further details regarding capital contributions made to the Group.
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Year/period ended 31 December

Iry mafitions of USS 2014 2013
Staft costs {297) 43)
Professional and other services {121) (28}
Sponsorship and donations {47} (11}
Travel and entertainment {43) {4}
Taxes other than on income {36) (1€}
Restructuring costs {22} -
Depreciation and amortisation {21) {3)
Hent (18] £33y
impairment provigion for trade and other receivables {% {2}
Utilities and telecommunication services {10} 23]
Zank charges 1§ (23
Repairs and mainfenancs {6) (2)
Tax penalties and fines i6) —
Insurance 5 )]
Impairment provision for loans receivabie (2) -
Cther {33) (123
Total general and administrative expenses (682) (133}

' On 24 April 2014, the Group's management formally announced plans to the staff located in the London office of the
restructure of ENRC's head office activiies. Restructsring costs relate to the resulting redundancy and property related

costs.

13. Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Yeariperiog ended 31 Dacember

Iy milions of USS 2014 2013
Gain on disposat of subsidiaries 96 -
Total gain on disposal of subsidiaries g8 -

{Zain on disposal of subsidiaries

On 11 December 2014 the Group sold s entire 98 84% shareholding in 2 subsidiary, Zhairemsiy
GOK JSC, to Kazzing Limited (a Glencore Xstrata plc subsidiary). Cash consideration of US$3G7
miflion was recaived and a gain was recorded on disposal of US$H86 million.

During the year the Group aiso disposed of a subsidiary which consisted of a slag dump at Chambishi

resulfing in a gain of US$10 miflion on disposal,
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Yezariperiod ended 31 December

in miflons of LSS 2014 2013
Foreign exchange gains 389 19
(iain oni sale of other assels g 1
Operating lsass income 3 1
CGiain on sale of praperty, plant and eguipment 1 —
insurance - 7
Other : 2 3
Total other operating income 430 31
Foreign exchange losses {319} (24}
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory N {2
L.oss on sale of other assets {5} &y
Loss of sale of property, piant and equipment {3} {2)
Operating lease expense {2} -
Other {58 {14)
Total other operating expenss {381} {43)
MNet other operating incomef{expense) 39 {12}

Uincluded wilhin gther aperating expenses is US$14 million of expenses ralated to idle time at production faciiities.

18, Employee benefit axpense

Year/period anded 31 December

in millions of US$ 2014 2013
Wages and salaries (1,080} {1867)
Compulsory social secunity costs {81) (18)
Contributions io defined contribution plans {18} -
Expense related o employee beneft plans {1 —
Total employee henefit sxpense {1,180} (185)
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44, Finance income

Yearperiod anded 31 December

by prithong of UGS 204 2013
Foreign exchange gain 25 1
inferest income 18 3
Fair value gain on financial assetafiabilities 11 2
Unwinding gain on origination of loan 7 1
Net gain on sale of financial assets - 2
Other 5 1
Total inance income 66 10

17, Finange cost

Year/period ended 31 December

in millons of USS 2014 2013
interast expense on borrowings {548) (84)
Foreign exchangs losses {157} (8}
Urwinding of discount on financial instruments {79) (4)
Unwinding of discount on onerous coniract provision {15} (%)
Unwinding of discount on asset retirement obligations {13} {3)
Unwinding of discount on emplovee benefits obligations (4) -
Loss on sale of financial assels 1) —
Other’ (45) {31)
Finance gost (852) {133)
Less: amounts capifalised on gualifying assets 686 20

Total finance cost {{98) (113}

T Other cost malnly relates {0 amortisation of arrangement fses on loan facilities.
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18, Income axes
Income fax expense comprises the following:

Year/pericd ended 31 December

2013
In miliiens of US$ 2014 As restated’
Current tax :
Corporate income tax — current period {333) (38}
Corporgie income tax — prior periods 7 e
Withholding taxes {24) e
Toial current tax {350) (36)
Deferred tax
Defarred income iax ~ current period — origination and reversal of
temporary differences 129 17
Deferred income fax — prior periods a —
Total deferred tax 137 17
Total income tax expense for the year/period {213) {19}

* See note B business combination for furfher detalls regarding restatements.

Faciors affecting future tax charges

Futurs tax charges are affected by changes (o the applicable laws and regulations in, as well as profi
mix from, the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Given that the Group is subject to Excess
Profits Tax in the Republic of Kazakhstan, future tax charges are also affected by product prices and
profitability levels achieved on subsurface use contracts in the Republic of Kazakhstan.
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18. income taxes icontinued)

Tax charge reconciliation

A reconciliation between the actual tax charge for the year/period and the expected tax charge on the
profit before tax for the yeariperiod af the tax rate of 20% applicable in the Republic of Kazakhstan,
whera the majority of the Group's operations are located, is provided beiow:

Yearperiod endad 31 Decenbar

2013
in miflions of USE 2014 As restated
Profit before income tax _ 375 5,463
Notional tax charge at 20% 75 1,083
Excess profits tax — current year/period {47} (4}
Withholding taxes 24 -
Effect of different tax rates in other countries 27 7
items neot deductiple / not chargeable for tax purposes {11 24
Losses not recognised for deferred tax purposes” 197 34
Movement in unrecognized temporary diffsrences 1 g
Prior peried adjustments (15} -
impairments and onerous contract provision {40} {8)
Net gain arising from acquisition of subsidiary - {1,142y
Other 2 4
Income tax expense for the year/period 213 19

" See note 5 business combination for frther details regarding restatements.

? The movement in unrecognised ey losses represents tax losses that do not meet the deferrad tax asset recognition
griteria, predominantly in the Other Non-ferrous and Corporate Divisions,

The aggregate amount of income tax related fo items recognised directly in other comprehensive
income was US$1 million {2013 USSnit).
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18. Income taxes {continued}
Deferred faxation

Deferred tax movements for the year/period are summarised below as follows:

Other Unreatised
Accelerated shott- Asast inlsroompany
Mineral capital  termn tirming retirgment Tax profi
daihis  aliowances dfferences  obligations  fosses sliminaiegd  Other Toia!
As wt 31 December 2013 as restated {1,925} £, 018% 30 27 53 47 {16} £2,833)
Acguisitions and disnosals 32 (18} - - - - - 16
Draditedd{charged o consolidated .
Hitdals o SE&iﬁ?ii%ﬁZ} 73 re 5 (5 @ 1 () 137
Exchange differences 151 158 (7 4} {1} - {13 306
At 31 Decernber 2014 {18693 (805) 25 15 44 18 {18} 12,3743
Represanied ny
Deferred tay assot 8
Daferrad tax (lability} {2,452)
et deferred tax {Habillly) i2,374)
Ac.q_ui:ed from ENRC £9459) (470) {27} 83 45 19 42 (1,307}
Aris&ng u}’.;op acy Sisition of ENRCd {GE0 {535} - o - - ey {1,214}
Credited/(Chargad} £ i .
':ﬂc,omaeasf::t&aggézst} o consolidars . {on 54 62 &5 15 (1 - &
Txohange differgnces 18 7 {5} {1} {7} £y i kit
A5 31 December 2013 {1,713 {534} -30 27 &3 17 {18} {2,503}
Credited/(charged) to consolidated
income staternent foflowing 1 & - - - - - 9
restatements
Restaternants’ {216} S - — — s {339)
At 31 Dscember 2013 as restated {1,925) {1019} A 27 53 17 {16} 12,833)
Represented by
Dwferred tax assel 71
Deferred tax {liabiilty) (2,904)
Net deferrad tax {iability} {2,835

" See note & husiness combination for further details regarding restaiements.

Deferred income tax is not provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and interests in joint ventures where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlied
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The aggregate amount of temporary differencas associated with such investments is US$7.879
million (2013 as restated: US37,330 million}.

The Group has USS$78 million (2013 USET1 mitlion) of deferred tax assets. The utilisation of US$EC
million (2013: US$66 miliion) of these is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the profits
arising from the reversal of existing taxaile temporary differences, recognised in entities which have
suffered a loss in either the current or preceding period. These deferred tax assels have been
recognised on the basis of future faxable profit forecasts.

The Group has unrecognised deferred tax assefts in respect of tax losses of US$702 mition (2013
US%$537 million). OF this amount, US$370 million (2013 US$277 million) relates to losses which
expire within 10 years, and US$332 miliion {2013: US$260 million) refates to losses which have no
axpiry date,

Trhe Group has unrecognised deferred fax assets in respect of deductible temporary differences of
US3$62 million (2013 US$165 million).
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19. Property, plant and eguipment

Freehold an?rfif:?g; Minaral Plant and Assels undsr
in mitlions of USE fan aHBEs rghts  eaujpment Vaticles construction Totat
Cost at 1 Janvary
2014 63 2888 7,200 3,641 1,080 2,542 17,424
Additions - 115 - 45 13 857 1,030
Change in agsst
refirament costs - {1} - (4) - 2 {3)
Transfers - (7%) - 224 62 (216} -
Net transfers (fo)from
current assels - 2 — (22} 2 {8) (26)
Transfer to assals
classified as held for
sale ’ o M 2 {22} (1) (3) (25)
Disposals ' - {7} (188} {45) (17} (13} (270)
Exchange differences
(note 37) 2} {404) {GB7Y {5173 {160} (313 {2,080
At 31 Becember 2014 g4 2,522 §,327 3,300 989 2,848 16,040
Accumulated
deprecigtion and
impatment at
4 January 2044 - {40) (18} (543 {20) HaH (128)
Disposals | 2 7 - 33 10 {4 48
Cepreciation charge - (241 {110} {369 {125) - (845)
Transfers {2} {8} - {2) 10 2 -
Transfers to assets
classified as heid for
sale” - — - 1 - - 1
Impairment
{chargelreversal = -~ — (92) e (1 (102)
Exchange diffsrences
{note 37} - g 4 14 £ i 33
At 31 December 2014 - (273} {124) {469) {120} {17} (1,003}
Carrying value at 31
Decamber 2014 54 2.249 6,203 2,483 569 2,831 15,037

! ! includes the 2014 disposal of the subsidiary Zhairemsky GOK JSC. Faor further information ses note 14,
2 Includes the entities Serov F ercalioy Plant JSC and Sarancvskaya Mine Rudnaya (‘Serov') which are curranily classified
by the group as availalie for sate. For further information see note 6.

Additions to assets under construction included USE88 million in capitalised borrowing costs (2013:
U520 million). The average capitaiisation rate was 7% for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013:
7%s).
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19. Property, plant and eguipment (continued}

Buildings
Freehold  and minig; Mineral Blant and Assels under

ty millions of LSS fand assets rights  equipment Yahicies construction Toial
Cost at 1 January 2013 - - - - - - -
Additions - 17 - 1z 16 287 342
Additions on business
‘combinations (note 5} 85 2,734 7,253 3,148 1,061 2,878 47,138
Change in assat

retirement costs - - e 4 1 - 5
Transfers - 130 - 492 15 {637) -
Net fransfers {to)/from

current assets o {2} - (D - 8 {3}
Transfer to assets

classified as held for

sale - {1 - (2 - - (3
Disposals - {H - {18} 4) {1 (26}
Exchange differences (2} 11 (53) 14 3 {3} {30)
At 31 December 2013 63 2,688 7,200 3,641 1,080 2,542 17424
Accumulated

depreciation and

impairment al 1 January

2013 - - - - - - -
Reclassification of

impairment - - - = - (8) {8}
Disposals — 1 - i0 5 - 18
Depreciation charge - (41} (18} (63} {25) - {147}
Transfers - - - {2} - 2 -
Impairment raversals - - - 1 e e 1
At 31 December 2013 - ) {18} {H4) {20) {6) (138)
Restated carrying value

at 31 December 2013 63 2,548 7,182 3,687 1,070 2536 17,288
! See riote 5 business combingtion for further details regarding restatements.

20. Intangible assets

As at 31 Dascember

i oiflions of USE Note 2014 2013
Carrying amount at 1 January 160 -
Acquisition through business combination 5 - 144
Additions 37 18
Amortisation {14} {13
Disposals e (1)
Exchange differences (26) -
Carrying amount at 31 December 157 160

intangible assate mainly relate to internally generated sofiware.
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The amounts related to invesiments in joind ventures recognised in the Consclidated balance sheet
and Consolidated income statemant as at 31 December are as follows:

i millions of US$ 2014 2013
Consolidated balance sheat 56 6
Consolidated income statement {3} -

As at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, investments in joint veniures consisted of the

following:

Iy mitlions of US3 {uniess stated otherwiss)

As at 31 December 2014 As at 31 December 2013

Country of Carrying Effeotive Carrying Eftective
invesiee incorporation Frincingl activites value  ownership’ value  ownership'
Xinfiang Alsmir Coking China Production of & 57 4% & G7.4%
Coal Go, Ld {Asmare coka and coke by-

SV producis
Taurus Gold Limited Eeitish Virgin -~ Development of - 34.8% - 34.8%
slands gold deposits
K8 Hoiding S.a ri. Luxembourg  Development of 50 25.0% - -
fron are deposits
Total 58 g

f Effactive ownership represents the Group’s inferasts in joint ventures considering non-controliing interests,

Tne Group's joint ventures are privale companies and there is no quoted market price available for its

shares,

iMovements in the carrying value of the investments in joint ventures are set out in the foilowing table:

in miflions of LUS$ 2344 2013
At 1 January 6 _
Accusisition through business combination - 6
Acuisition of KS Hoiding S.ar.L? 50 -
Share of loss of joint ventures® - -~
At 31 December B4 6

* 3 10 December 2014, the Group acquired 100% of the shares and voling hierests in KS Holding Group Sarl. The
consideration paid for e acquisition was US$49 million {plus transaction costs of US$1 million} with an oplion for the
Group to either returs 75% of the shares or to pay an additionat amount from US$150 millfion to US$H300 miflion depending
on the value of the shares i tha future. KS Holding Group $.& tl. is jointly confrolied by the Group and the former owners
of the entity, as sach have an saua! number of seats on the Board of Managers. The invesiment in K8 Molding Group 5.a
r.i i equity accounted for at 25%, given the option 1o return 75% of the shares. The call ontion is measured at cost of
USSnit as the fair valus cannot be reliably measured. Refer o note 4 for further details.

® The 11533 million share of loss in inint ventures recognised in the Consolidated income statement relates to Taurus Gold
Lirnited asd was recognised against @ long ferm foan which forms part of the interest in the joint veniure.

Commitments and contingent liabilities in respect of joint ventures

There are no contingent liabilities retating to the Group's interast in joint veniures.

Page 92 of 145



Document émis électroniquement

21, invesimenis in joint ventures {continuea)
Swnmary financial information of material joint venture

Set out below is the summarised financial information for KS Holding 5.4 ri which is accounied for
using the equity method.

B millfong of USE ' 2014 2613
Cash and cash equivaients 7 -
Net assets 7 _

The information above refiscis the amounts presented in the financial statements of the joint venture
{and not the Group’s share of {hose amounts).

Reconciliation of summarised financial information of material joint venture

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interest
i K3 Hoklings 3.arl

in miflions of US§ 2014 2013
{-iosing netl assets 7 -
interest i joint veniurs @ 25% 2 e
Goodwill 48 —
Carrying vaiue 50 -
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22. Other financial asseis

As at 31 December

In rnillions of US$ 2014 2013
Non-current

Irvestments in guoted equity shares (&) - 205
Other (1) 56 55
Total non-current other financial assels 56 260
Durrent

Investments in quoted equity shares (a) 163 2
Other {¢) 33 27
Total current other finzngial assets 186 29
Total other financial assels 252 289

(8) Current investments in quoted equity shares comprise the Group’s inferest in Northam Platinum
Limited (‘Northam’), a major South African platinum producer (2013: non-current).

During 2014, a US$43 million loss has been recognised in the Consolidaled staternent of
comprehensive income in respect of this investment (2013: US$9 miifions joss). This investment is
being held as an available-for-sale current asset and has been reclassified from non-current to
current due to management intention {o dispose of this assel within 12 months of the balance
sheat date (refer to note 42 for more details).

(b} Other non-current financial assets comprise US$32 million of other related party non-current
financial assets {2013: US$28 million) and US$24 million of other third party non-current financial
assets (2013 US$H29 million),

(e} Other current financial assets comprise US$33 million of investments in Guaranteed {nvestment
Certificates {GICs") with Canadian financizl institutions (2013: US$22 million). These GICs are
vielding interest at rates ranging from 1.21% to 1.75% {(2013: 1.00% 1o 1.45%) and have original
maturity dates of greater than three months but not mors than one year.

All changes in fair value of financial assets are atiributable to changes in market conditions.

Financial agseis are denominated in the foliowing curencies:

As at 31 Decamber

in millions of US$ 2014 2013
South African rand 164 208
Canadian doliar 33 22
Kazakhstani tenge 33 a0
US dollar i5 28
Prazilian real 7 —
Europesn s - 2
British pound — 1
Totat other financial assels 252 288
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22, Loans receivabie

As at 31 December

i mitions of US$ Mate 20514 2013
Hon-current

Loans receivable from related parties 4 7 5]
Loans receivabie 27 36
Total non-current icans recsivable 34 42
Current

Loans receivable from related pariies 4 2 6
Loans receivable 56 2
Total current loans receivable 68 &
Total losns receivable 102 50

Rociassification of current loan receivable

in September 2010, ENRC NV, (a Group company) acquired from Ardila Investments N.V. (‘Ardila’)
the 50% share of Bahia Minerals B.V. {BMBY’) that it did not already own under a Share Purchase
Agreement {ihe ‘SPA". BMBV owns the Pedra ds Ferro iron ore ming in Bahia province, Brazil, The
payment terms in the SPA stipulated that part of the consideration was to be paid in instalments. On 8
March 2013, the parties to the SPA agreed to, inter alia, amend the payment ferms relating {o the
BMBV acquisition. Under the amended payment terms:

«  ENRC NV loaned US$65 million to Ardila, which was 10 be repayable on the eariier of the
issyance of a port instailation licence for the private terminal port at Porie Sul in ltheus, Brazil
(the 'Port Installation Licence’} or 1 June 2014 {later exiended fo 1 July 2014}, and

¢ The final insteliment payment of US$285 million was {o be payable on the later of the issuance
of the Port installation Licence or 31 May 2014 {subject 1o the Port instailation Licence being
issued on or before o longstop date of 21 September 2014, after which the final instaliment
would not be payable).
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23. Loans recelvable {continued)

At 31 December 2013, the current foan receivable of US$65 milion was offset against the deferred
consideration pavable of USH285 million, as the intention was {¢ sefile on a net basis with the net
armount of US$220 millon included in trade and other payables. Al 31 December 2014, the Group no
longer expects to setiie (he deferred consideration payable on a net basis as a result of the legal
proceedings initiatad (see note 38 for further details). At 31 December 2014, the US$65 million loan
advanced to Ardila is included in current loans receivable and the US$285 million deferred
consideration payabie is included in trade and other payables,

The Group's loans receivable matge as follows:

Ag at 31 December

{n rniitions of USE 2014 2013
L.ess than 1 vear 63 8
Between 1 and 2 years L) i1
Between 2 and 3 years 8 12
Between 2 and 4 years 2 5
setween 4 and 5 years 2 4
Between 5 and 10 vears 17 o)
Ciragler than 10 vears 3 4
Total loans receivabls 142 50

The Group's loans receivable are denominated in currencies as follows:

As at 31 December

in millions of USH 2014 2013
US doliar 75 15
Kazakhstan lenge 25 33
ritish pound 2 2
Total loans receivable 102 50
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The effective interest rates af the balance sheet date for interest bearing loans recsivable were as

follows:

Effochve inlerest rae  As at 31 Blecamber

Laan
in miilions of USS CUTTEnNGyY faturily 2014 2013 2014 2013
Non-current
Loans receivable from related parties Uss 2020 8% 8% 7 6
Toial related party 7 6
Loans receivabie KZT  Varous  112% 1-12% 22 30
|_oans receivables — non-inigrest . .
bearing KZ1 Various nfa a 3 3
L.oans recelvables — non-inferest
bearing Uss 2015 nfa nia 2 3
Total third parly 27 a8
Total non-current loans receivable 34 42
Current
Loans receivable from related partles Gk 2015 nfa n/a 2 -
Loans receivable from related partlas USE 2014 2% 2% 5 6
impairment loss provision on loans N
related parties Uss 2014 2% N/ (5} -
Total related party 2 6
éoags recaivables — non-interest USS 5015 /3 nia 65 _
esning

Loans receivables — non-interest . .
bearing Various  Various n/a n/a 1
Total third party 66 2
Total current loans receivable 68 8
Tota! icans receivable 102 B0
The fal values of the Group's loans receivabie aro as follows:

Carrying values rair values
fin millions of US$ 2014 20313 LG4 2013
Loans recelvable 93 38 23 38
Loans receivable from related parties g 12 9 12
Total loans reasivable 102 50 102 50

The fair values of current and non-current loans receivable are determined using discounted cash
flows af the inferest rates prevalling as at 31 December 2014, Fair values of joans receivable

approximate their cartying values,
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24, Cither non-current sssefs

As at 31 December

in millions of 115% 2014 2013
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment and related services 88 148
Long-term inveniory - 57
Ciher advances and non-current assets 65 14
FProvision for impatrment {1) {1)
Total other non-current assats 152 218

Prepayments for property, piant and equipment and related services are for machinery and
equipment. Included in the prepayments are USH15 million (2013 US$H31 mitlion) of letters of credit
with Eurasian Bank JSC pertaining to purchases of property, plant and equipmeant and LSS5 million of
{2013, USSnit) of advances paid for construction works to Shaft Sinkers Kazakhstan L7, refer {o note
4 for further details.

25, Inventories

As at 31 Decaember

2013
In milfions of US$ 2014 As restated |
Finished goods 420 601
Raw materials 363 327
Consumable stores 270 296
Work-in-progress 133 176
Other inventory 83 74
Less write-down for obsolete and slow-moving invertory {68) {31)
Total inventories 1,213 1,443

 See nole B business combination for further detaits regarding restatements.

Inventory write-downs recagnised in the Consciidated income staternent during the year amounted to
US$25 million {2013; US$18 million). This includes US$18 miilion (2013: US$19 million) in cost of
sales and US$7 million {2013: US$nil) in other operating income and expense based on the nature of
the inventory. :
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28, Trade snd other receivables

As at 31 December

2013
in millions of JS$ Noie 2014 As restated’
Trade receivables ' 468 603
Other recelvables 22 14
Restricted cash” 13 9
Other amounis due from related parties 4 410 13
Term deposits 9 3
Term deposits with refated parties 4 8 10
Trade receivables from relaied pariies 4 5 7
Restricted cash with relaled parties 4 1 -
Lelters of credit with related parties 4 — 2
Less impairmend loss provision (18) {12}
Total financial assets 518 549
Other taxes® 310 423
Prepaid sxpenses 37 2¢
Advances to supphers 24 21
Advances to related parties 4 15 14
Prapaid expenses 10 related partes 4 18 19
iass imparment joss provision o {1}
Total non-financial assets 401 508
Total trade and other receivables 918 1,164

' See note 5 business combination for further details regarding restatements.

© Restricted cash of USE10 miliion (2013: US$8 mitlion) held for Belgium VAT, The remaining amount of US3$3 million is
. cash in transi at VTR Bank JSC.

* QOther taxes relate mainly to VAT receivable.

The fair value of trade and other receivables {financial assels) approximates their carrying value. As
at 31 December 2014, trade and other receivabies {financial assets) of US$H1i24 miflion {2013
US$174 million) were past due but not impaired. Thase relale {o a number of independent customers
that do not have exdernal ratings for whom there is no recent history of default, With respect o trade
ard other receivables thal are neither dmpaired nor past due, there are no indgications as at the
reporting date that the customers will not rset their payment obligations. The overdug analysis of
these receivables is as follows:

As at 31 December

in miflions of US$ 2014 2013
Current and neither past dus nor impaired 395 477
Less than 3 manths overdus 80 153
Botween 3 1o 6 months overdue 24 2
Between 6 to 17 months overdue 7 8
Qver 12 months overdue 3 13
Total past due bt not impaired 124 174
Current and past due but not impaired 519 651
Individually determined to be impaired — gross 17 10
Total individually impaired 17 10
Total trade and other receivables (fingncial assets) - gross 536 661
Less impairment ioss provision {18) (12}
Total trade and other receivables (financial assets) — net 518 843
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26. Trade and other receivabios {continued)

Movements of the impairment provision of trade and other receivables {financial assets) during the
yearfperiod are as follows:

Impairenent loss provision

in ymdlions of USS 2014 2013
Balance as al 1 .Jdanuary 12 -
impairmant loss recognised in consolidated income statement 7 1
Transterred to assets held for sale {1) -
Business acquisitions - 31
Amounts written off as uncollectable - (20)
Ealance as at 31 December 18 12

The trade and other recaivables (financial asseis) are denominated in various currencies as follows:

As at 31 December

in millions of US§ 2014 2013
U8 doliar 321 517
Russian roubie 113 30
Kazakhstan tenge 66 70
Graat British pound 1 1
Brazilian resl 1 18
European euro 1 (5]
Other 15 7
Total trade and other recelvabies (financial assefs) — net 518 549

The interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing trade and other receivabies {financial assets)
is as follows:

Az 2t 31 December

In millions of LS8 2014 2013
Fixed inlerest rals 18 i3
Fioating_interest rate 10 8

Al other trade and other receivables {financial assets) are non-interest bearing.
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27, Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the Consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include shon-
term deposit, cash at bank and on hand, net of ouistanding bank overdrafte. Cash and cash
equivalents at the end of the year/period 23 shown in the Consolidated cash flow statement can be
reconciled to the related items in the Consolidated balance sheetl as follows:

As at 21 December

In imiflions of US% Note 2014 2013
Short-term deposits 353 275
Cash at bank and on hand 444 203
Cash and cash equivalenis 797 478
Bank overdrafts 30 - (15)
Net cash and cash equivalents 797 463

The cash and cash equivalents are denominated in currencies as follows:

As at 31 December

in millions of US$ Z014 2413
Us doltar 892 268
Kazakhstani fenge 34 62
Canadian doilar 16 22
Europaan eurg 18 18
Russian rouble 14 81
British pound 12 7
Brazilian real 8 19
South African rand 4 5
Chinese renminbi 2 -
Other 1 —
Total cash and cash equivalenis 797 478

The interest rate profile of the interest-bearing cash and cash aquivalents is as follows:

As at 31 Decemhber

In millions of USS 2514 . 213
Fixed interest rate 425 230
Figating interest rate 282 157

All othar ¢ash and cash equivalents are non-interest hearing,
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28. Cash flow from operating aclivities

Year/poriod ended 31 December

2013
In millions of US$ Note 2014 As restated !
Cash fiow from operating activities :
Profit before income tax for the year/period 375 5,463
Adiustments for:
Depreciation and amoriisation 861 138
Loss on disposatl of property, plant and equipment 2 2
Impairment 10 162 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 13 {96) -
Nei gain arising from business ¢ombinations 5 - 5,710)
Net change in onerous contract provision 10 {289) 32;
Share of loss of joint ventures 3 -
‘Non-recurring #tems — aperating (non-cash) 11 1 79
impairment {0ss on recelvablas 12 2
Write-down of inventories 28 19
Net finance cost 730 103
Net foreign exchange {gainy/ oss it 5
Cash generated from oparating sctivities before
working capital and other adjustments 1,656 69
Changes in inventaries 27 190
Changes in trade and other receivables {48) -
Changes in trade and other payables : {43} 30
Changes in asset relirement obligalions {19} {6)
Changes in employee benefi obiigations i{5) (4}
_Changes in other taxes payable 5 {44)
Cash ganerated from opera%ing aptivities 1,583 235

! Ses note 5 business combination for further details regarding restatements.
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29, Capital and dividends

Share capital
Number Crdinary shares

{issued and flly paid) US$000
At 31 December 2014 77,800 78
At 31 December 2013 62,500 82

As at 31 December 2013, total authonised, issued and paid capital was 82,500 ardinary shares with a
par value of €1 each. On 28 December 2014, these shares were converted into 77,500 ordinary
shares with a par value of US$1 each. The holders of ordinary shares are enfitied to receive dividends
as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vole per share at meetings of the Company.

Capital Heserves

On 18 June 2013, the State Property and Privatisation Committee (‘SPPC’) contributed 150,047,118
ENRC shares and 139,162,843 Kazakhmys shares o ERG S.a rl On 18 June 2013, the
sharehoiders of the Group transferred 543,875,125 ENRC shares as z capifal confribution to ERG
BY

Yaar/iperiod ended 31 December

iy milllons of 5% 2044 23
Caplial contribution of ENRC shares 2,505 2,505
Capital coniribution of Kazakhmys shares 654 854
Total capital contribution 3,189 3,159
Dividends

For the year ended 31 December 2014, no dividends were declared or paid by the Group (2013;
USSnil). The Board of Managers does not recommend a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2014 (2013: UB&nl).
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30. Borrowings

Ag at 31 December

In millions of US$ Mote 2014 2013
Non-current

Bank borrowings 5,010 5,927
Term borrowings 8 7
Non-current borrowings ~ thivd party 5,018 5834
Bank borrowings 6038 298
Term bosrowings 450 441
Non-current borrowings — reiated party 4 1,858 737
Total non-current borrowings 6,076 6,671
Cyrrent

Bank borrowings 1,337 379
Promissory notes 400 482
Bank overdrafts - 15
Current borrowings ~ third party 1,737 876
Bank borrowings 57 7
Term borrowings 11 11
Promissory notes - 1
Current borrowings — related party 4 68 16
Total current borrowings 1,805 895
Total borrowings 7,881 7,566
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30. Borrowings (continued)

The carrying vaiues and fair values of borrowings are as foliows:

Carrying valuas Fair values
In millions of US$ 2014 2013 2014 2013
Bank horrowings 7,012 6,609 86,338 8.451
Term borrowings 469 459 413 465
Promissory notes 400 483 406 489
Bank overdrafts - 5 - 15
Total borrowings 7,881 7,568 7,855 7420

The fair value of barrowings is determined using discounied cash flows at the discount rates for the

relevant facilities as at the balance sheet date.

The Group's borowings mature as follows:

i omitions of USS

Ag gt 31 Decamber

Less than 1 vesr
Batween T and 2 yvears
Between 2 and 3 years
Bebtween 3 and 4 years
Hetween 4 and & yours
Between 5 and 10 years
Between 10 and 15 years

Total borrowings

2014 2013
1,805 895
3,106 1,247

g78 3,420
1,166 306

89 1,017
786 865
31 16
7,884 7,560

The Group's borrowings sre denominated in currencies as follows:

As at 31 Dacember

In milfions of US$ 2014 2013
US dollar 7,848 7,247
European auro 35 318
Kazakhslan! tenge - 1

7,881 7,566

Total borrowings
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The sftective interest rates at the balance sheet date for current and non-current borrowings are as

follows:

Effective interest rate Az gt 31 Detember

Borrowling

In ryiltions of US$ CUTenCy Waturity 204 2013 #lrid 2013
Third party
Bank borrowings {8) Uss COAE LIBOR + §.758% LIBOR + 7.25% 4,654 1,646
Bank borrowings ¢ 115s 2015-2017 8,10 -~ 8% LIBOR + 7.50% £73 Q48
Bank borrowings {f UsE 2048 LIBOR +7.50% LiBOR + 7.80% 974 985
Bank borrowings {b} Uss 2018 LIBOR + 7.25% g 323 o
Bank borrowings {e) U583 218 LIBOR + 7.25% LIBOR + 7.25% 250 375
Bank borowings e} LSs 2017 LIBOR + 7.30% ILIBOR + & 30% 4,307 1,962
Bank borrowings (¢} EUR 2022 EURIBOR+11% Ba 44 -
Bank borrowings {6} ELUR 2020 EURIBOR +0.5% EURIBOR -+ (03% 15 21
Naon-interest bearing
term borrowings Varioug 3 7
Total third party 8,018 5,934
Related party
HBank barrowings (h) Ussg 225 LIROR + 8.25% LIBOR + 8.25% 287 2496
Bank horrowings (h) 5% 20521 LIBOR « 7.20% n'a 324
Tarn borowings (a) USs 20320 LIBOR + 7.50% LIBOR + 8.25% 450 441
Teoat related potly 1,058 737
Total nion-current 8 475 8671
Third party
Bank borrowings (@) Uss 2018 LIBOR + 6.76% LIBOR + 7.28% 20 19
Bank borowings (€} Uss 2018 LIBOR + 7.256% LIBOR + 7 .25% 100 2
Bank borrowings (&) uss 2047 LIBOR + 7.30% LIBOR + B.30% 557 2e
Rank porrowings (0 uss 20482017 §.140 - 8% LIBOR + 7.50% 496 #
Bark bomowngs 6 ussg 2618 LIBOR +7.80% LIBOR + 7.50% 12 14
Bank borowings (b} Uuss 2048 LIBOR + 7.28% nfa 34 -
Bark borrowings (<) EUR 2022 EURIBOR +1.1% EURIBOR + 1.1% 3 45
Bank borrowings (c) EUR 2014 EURIBOR +1.2% EURIBOM & 1.2% - 196
Bank borrowings (¢} EUR 2014 EURIBOR +1.5% ELRIBOR + 1.5% - 52
Eank horrowings (o) Uss 2020 EURIBOR + 0.5%  EURIBOR + 0.8% 4 4
Bank bormwings uss 2014 LIBOR + 2.0% LIBOR + 2.0% 11 17
Bromissory nodes G USsE 2315 LIBOR + 7.62% LIBOR + 7.60% 400 482
Bank pverdrafts UsSs 2014 9.0% 2 0% - 15
Total third party 1,737 876
Reiated party
Bank borowings th} Uss 2025 LIBOR + 8.068% LIBOR « 8.25% 25 7
Bank borrowings (i) LS 2021 LIBOR + 7.20% nfa 3 -
Term borrowings {g) Uss 2020 LIBGR + 7.50% LIBOR + 8.25% 11 11
Promissory notes BLY 2014 a intgrest-iree - i
Total related party 58 19
Total gurrent 1,805 8§36
Totat porrewings 7,881 7,566
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30. Borrowings {continued)

{a) Acquisition Facility

On 24 June 2013, the Group entered into a term loan facility arranged by Sherbank of Russia and
VTH Capital PLC {the "Acquisition Facility’) for US$1,700 miliion fo finance the acquisition of burasian
Natural Resources Corporafion Group. The Acquisition Facllity is repayable in three years by bullet
repayment and bears an interest rate of LIBOR plus the margin. The margin on this facility is between
6.75% and 8.5% depending on cerain circumsiances. As st 31 December 2044 ERG B.Y. has drawn
down US$1.654 million {(US$1,687 less transaction fees amounting to USP7 million) of the facility, {31
December 2013: US$H1,867 milion less transaction fees amounting to US$21 million). No further
drawings can be made under this faciity.

Eurasizn Rescurces Group {the 'Group’) completed its acquisition of Eurasian Natural Resources
Corporation Group (he "ENRC Group') on 25 October 2013,

The ghove US$1,700 million facility is secured by guarantees issued by ENRC Limited, SS5GPC JSC,
THNG Kazchrome JSC, Aluminium of Kazakhsian JSC, Eurasian Energy Corporation JSC, Shubarkol
Komir J8C, MEK Transsystemna LLP, Transcom LLP and ERG S.arl

{b} Backstop Facilities

On 24 June 2013, the Group entared into a Backstop Credit Facility for US$1,000 million with VTB
Capital PLC. The loan has an applicable interest rate of LIBOR plus 7.25% and under certain
circumstances the margin applicable to this facility could increase to 8%. It is repayable by 15 equal
quarterly repayments commengcing in 2014, No security has been pledged as part of the agreement
and as at 31 December 2014 the outstanding balance was US$464 million less transaciion fees
amounting to USS$7 million (2013: US$nil). This facility has a working capita! component of USE250
million and the remaining facility amount is restricted o the refinancing of the ENRC Group's pre-
axisting debt.

The above facility is secured by guarantees issued by ENRC Limited, SSGPO JSC, TNC Kazchrome
JSC, Aluminium of Kazakhstan JSC, Eurasian Energy Corporation JSC, Shubarkol Komir JSC, MEK
Transsystema LLP, Transcom LLP, ERG S.ar.l and ERG BV.
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3. Borrowings {continued)

{o} Export Credit Facilities ({ECA Facllity”)

On 21 December 2012, ENRC entered into an ECA Facility agresment for the amount of %?4 8
mitlion. The agreement has a 10.5 year maturity with a three-year draw down availability period and
bears and interest rate of six-month EURIBOR pius 1.1% per annum. Euler Hermes
Kreditversicherungs AG has provided credil insurance to support the faciiity,

in May 2014 lenders have exercised their mandatory prepayment rights under the change of control
provigion and the outstanding loan balance under the facility has been repaid (US$64 miilion).
Subsequent 1o prepayment in May 2014 the undrawn facility amount remains available for utilisation

and the facility remaing in place until its full maturity in 2022, As at 31 December 2014 the outstanding
balance was USE1Y million {2013 US$45 miliion).

On 7 February 2011, ENRC entered into an ECA Facility agreement for the amount of €185 million.
The agreement had an 11-year maturity and bears an inferest rate of six month EURIBOR plus 1.2%
per annum, Duler Hermes Kreditversicherungs AG had provided credit insurance to support the
facility. The purpose of the facility was to finance the Group's capital expenditure on the new Akiobe
ferroalioys smelter, On 12 February 2014, the lenders exercised their rights to ¢all on the loan under
the change of conirel provisions contained in the ECA Facility agreement. The whole ouistanding
hatance was repaid. As 2t 31 December 2014 the outstanding balance was USHnil million {2013:
US$196 million).

On 16 February 2010, ENRC entered into an ECA facllity agreement for the amount of €47 .5 million.
The facilily has a 10-year maturity and bears an interest rate of six month EURIBOR plus 1.5% per
annum. Euler Hermes Kreditversicherungs AG has provided oredit insurance 1o support the facility.
The facility was to be used {o finance some of the Group's planned capital expenditure. The facility
has been fully repaid in September 2014 (2013 US$52 million).

On 30 November 2007, ENRC entered into an unsecured €32.5 million ECA facility. The facility has
an appiicable interest rate of six month EURIBOR plus 0.5% per annum and matures on 20 February
2020, Euler Hermes Kreditversicherungs Az has provided credit insurance 1o suppott the facility. The
purpose of the facility is to finance an export contract with Takraf GmbH. As at 31 December 2014
US%19 mdilion of the facility was outstanding (2013 US$25 miflion).

{d} Promissory Notes

On 19 March 2014, the Group entered into an agreement to restructure the original US$500C miilion
FOM Promissory Note, A principal repayment of US$70 million on the original nals was made during
2014, A new promissory note agreement was entered info between the existing hoelder, FQM Finance
Limited and ENRC. The principal sum for the new promissory note is US$430 million and has a
maturity date of 31 December 2015. A prepayment of USS$40 miliion of interest wag made on the new
“promissory note on 19 March 2014. The revised interest rate is 5% per annum. Additionally, the new
note is secured by guaraniees issued by certaln subsidiary entities relating 1o the Group’s interest in
Mozambigue coal (South East Africa Coal Holdings Limited, South East Africa Mining Limited, South
African Coal Limited, ENRC Mozambique Limitada) and a separate guaraniee ENRC Congo BV, The
original note was cancelled as a condition of entry into the new promissory note.

As a result of the above restructuring, the original promissory note was extinguished in March 2014
and the new promissory riote recognised initially at fair value with an impact to the Consolidated
income statement for the period ended 31 December 2014 of US$12 million fair value gain on
financial liabiftties, recorded within Finance Income.
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30. Borrowings {continued}

{e} Sherbank of Russia

On 25 June 2013, ENRC entsred inlo 8 term loan fagilily with Sberbank of Russia for US3500 million.
The faclity is repayable in five years with a six-menth draw down availability period and bears an
interest rate of LIBOK plus 7.25%. Under cenain circumstances, the margin on this facility couid
increase to 8.25%. As at 31 December 2014 USE3E50 milion of the facility was outstanding (2013:
US$377 million). The use of this facllity Is restricled o the refinancing of the Group’s existing debt,

The loan is secured by gusrantess issued by TNC Kazchrome JSC, SSGPE JSC, Aluminium of
Kazakhstan JSC, Eurasian Enargy Dorporation JSC and Shubarko! Komir JSC.

On 1 February 2012, ENRC entered info a credit facility agreement with Sherbank of Russia for
US$2,000 million. The facility has an applicable interest rate of LIBOR plus 7.3% and is repayabile in
five years. The full amount was drawn down at 31 December 2014 (2013; fully drawn down).

On 11 April 2014, the Group entersd into an amendment to the existing US$2,000 million loan facility
with Sberbank of Russia, originally execiied in February 2012, This amendment reschecides the
capital repayments, reducing the exisiing confrected capitai repayments in 2014 and Q1 2015 to
US$160 million, down from USSEE7 miliion, with the rescheduled balance baing payable aiong with
the final mstalment in January 2017,

The loan is secured by guaraniess issued by TNC Kazchrome J8C, SSGF(O JSC, Aluminium of
Kazakhstan JSC, Eurasian knergy Corporation JSC and Shubarkol Komir JSC.

On 15 September 2014 an agresment was signed with Sherbank of Russia to push down the existing
faciities info JSC TNG Kazchrome and 88GPG JSC. The term lean facilities are for a total of
US$2,220 million; bear interest at 7.15% and are repayable 42 months from signing date. The new
faciiities can be drawn down once cerlain conditions are satisfied. The loan is secured by guarantees
wsued by Eurasian Resources Group S.a rl, Eurasian Resources Group B.Y., S8GPO J8C, JSC
TNC Kazchrome, Aluminium of Kazakhsten JSC, Eurasian Energy Corporation JSC and Shubarko!
Komir JSC.

in March 2015 the Group repaid the original US$500 million facility and in April 2015 the Group repaid
the origingl USE2 000 facility.

{f) Russian Commercial Bank (Cyprus) Limited {part of the VB Group}

On 30 September 20711, ENRC entered into a US$1.000 million loan agreement with Russian
Commercial Bank (Cyprus) Limited {part of the VTB group). The loan has an applicabie interest rais
of 6.1% per annum and is repayable initially in three years by bullet repayment with a two-year term-
oul option. No security has been pledged as part of the agreement and it was fully drawn down as at
31 December 2014 (2018 fully drawn down).

In October 2014 the facility has been axtendad in two franches. Tranche A for $500 million has been
extended until March 2015 with an interest of 8.1%. Tranche B for $500 million was extended for 2
years untd Seplember 2016 and bears an interest rate of 8%. In April Z418 Tranche A has been
extended for a further 2 vears until March 2017 with an interest rate of 10%. ¥ the Group's credit
rating falls balow B« (83}, the interest rate for both ranches will increase by 0.58%.

The above facility is sscured by guarantees issued by ENRC Limited, SSGPO JSC, TNC Kazchrome

JSC, Aluminium of Kazekhstan JSC, Eurasian £nergy Corporation JSC Shubarko! Komir JSC and
ERG S.arl
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30. Borrowings {continusad)

On 25 April 2012 ENRC entered into a US%1,000 milion loan agreemeani with Russian Commercial
Bank (Cyprus) Limited (part of the VTH grous).

On 25 June 2013, ENRC amended its agreement dated 25 April 2012 on its second US$1,000 million
term loan facility. The facility now bears an applicable interest rate of 7.50% per annum and is
repayable on 28 Jdune 2018 by bullet repayment. The full amount was drawn down at 31 December
20714 (2013 fudly drawn down.

The locan is secured by guarantess issued by ENRC Limited, TNC Kazchrome JSC and SSGPQ JSC.

(g} Wealth Fund ‘Samruk Kazyna' JSC

Cn 30 November 2010, ENRC entered into a USSE00 million faciiity with the Wealth Fund ‘Samruk
Kazyng' JSC. The facility has an applicable interest rate of 7.5% per annum and is repayable in 10
years by bullet repayment, No security has been pledged as part of the agreement and it was fully
trawn down as at 31 December 2014 (2013: fully drawn down).

The loan is guaranteed by TNC Kazchrome J&0.

{h} Development Bank of Kazakhstan Facilities

On 15 April 2010, ENRC entered into a loan agresmsnt for the amount of US$400 milliont with the
Development Bank of Kazakhstan, The facility was proviied by the Development Bank of Kazakhstan
using financing from the State-run Dxport-import Bank of China. The facility is for a 15-year peried,
hears an interest rate of 4% and was fully drawn as at 31 December 2014 (2013 fully drawn down).

The loan is secured by a guarantee issusd by ENRC Limited, pledge over 51% of the shares of
Karakhstan Aluminium Smelter JSC and pledge over fixed and fioaling assels in Kazakhstan
Aluninium Smelter JBC.

On 25 September 2014, the Group entered info a loan agreement of UDBE350 million with
Development Bank of Kazakhstan for the financing of the capital expenditure at JSC TNC
Kazchrome. The facility is for 7 years and bears an inferest rale of 6.85%. The loan is secured by
guarantess from Eurasian Resources Group 5.4 7.l 88GPO JSC and Eurasian knergy Corporation
JSC. As at 31 December 2014 the loan was fully drawn down.

Undrawn Loan Commitmenis

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had US$518 million of undrawn committed facilities (2013:
US$120 million). Other remaining undrawn faclliies may only be ufilised for those purposes as
cutlined above, :

Average maturity of the Group’s Quistanding Debt

As of 31 Dacember 2014, the average maturity of ERG Group’s cuistanding debt was 3.1 years
(2013 3.8 years).
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31. Asset retirement oblications

The Group has a legal obligation 1o complete landfill site restoration during mining operations and
decommission its mining property after closure. The timing of decommissioning activity is subject o
reassessment at the same time as the revision of the Group’s proved and probable reserves.

Az at 31 December

in mitiions of USS Note 2014 2013
Cuirent provision for asset retirement obligations 3 5 4
Mon-current provision for asset retirement obligations 155 210
Total provision for asset retirement obligations 160 214

Movemenis in assel retirement obligations are as follows:

Agset Sie
decornmissioning restoration angd

In millions of USS Note cOsis re-vegetation Total
As at 1 January 2014 72 142 214
Capitalisation 19 (8) 3 (3}
Disposal of subsidiary - (%) (9)
Transfer - {8) {5}
Praduction ¢osis (B) (&) (14)
Urssingding of discount 17 7 4] 13
Utilisation - {4) {4}
Exchange differences {11) {20 {31)
Az al 31 December 2014 54 106 160
Acqwsftiqn through cusiness ) 147 541
combination

Capitalisation 19 (21) 28 5
Transfer B {3} (3}
Froduction costs - {43 (4)
Usnwinding of discount 17 2 i 3
Ultilisation (3) - (3}
Exchange differences - 5 5
As at 34 Decermber 2013 72 142 214

in accordance with its subsurface use contracts, the Group makes annual obligatory contributions to a
deposit fund for the closure costs which will take sffect upon exhaustion of the mingral dsposits at the
end of the respective mine lives, which varies between 5 and 41 years.

The amount of the provision for asset retirement obligations is determined using the nominal prices
effective at the reporiing dates and applying the forecasted rate of inflation for the expected period of
the life of the mines. Unceriainties in estimating these costs include polential changes In reguiatory
requirements, decommissioning and reclamation alternatives and the level of discount and infiation
rates,
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31. Asset retirement ohligations {continued)

Principal assumptions made in {he caiculations of assel retirement obligations are presented below:

Asg gt 31 December

2014 2013

Kazakhstani African Kazakhatan Russian African

entities entities entities aptiilies entifies

Discount rate 7.8% 8.0% - 15.0% 7.4% T8% -38.7% 80%-13.8%
Infiation rale 5.4% - 6.6% 2.8% -8.5% 5.8% - 8.5% 6.6% - 6.8% 2.8% - 85.5%

32. Employee henefit chligations

The Group provides long-term employee benefits {o employees before, on and after refirement, in
accordance with labour union agreements,

Defined benefit obligations relate to lump sum payments upon retirement and other payments 1o
pensioners. Movements in the present vaiue of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

inndllions of USE Nofe 2014 2013
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation as at 1 January 32 -
Acquisition through business combination - 32
Disposal of subsidiary {1} -
interest cost 17 4 -
Benefits paid £3) —
Current service cost 4 -
Actuarial gaing arising from changes in demographic gssumptions 3 -
Transter to assets heid for sale £2) -
Exchange differences {3) -
Present value of unfunded defined bhenefit obligation

as at 31 December 25 32

The waighted average maturity of defined benefit obligations is 35 years (2013: 33 years}.
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32. Emploves benefit obligations (continued)

Other actuarial emploves benefit obligations relate to non-pensioners and include lump sum
paymaeants for anniversaries, injuries and other financial aid. Movements in the present valug of other
actuarial employee benefit obligations were as follows:

in mifiions of US$ Kate 2044 2013
Present value of unfunded other actuarial employee benefit obligation

as at 1 January 43 -
Acquisition through business combmnaton - 44
Disposal of subsidiary (3) -
Interest cost 17 3 -
Benefits paid {3} {1}
Lurrent service cost 1 -
Actuarial gaing : (4) —_
Exchange differences (6) -
Presernd value of unfunded other actuariai employee benefit obligation

as at 31 December 31 43

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated income statement in respect of the employee benefit plan
are as follows:

Yeariperiod

ended

31 December

in mitions of US% Note <04 2013

Interest cost’ 17 4 -

Current service cost’ 5 -
Actuarial gains® {4}

Expense recognised in the Consolidated income statement & .

*Tne interest cost is recognised in the inance cost fine in the Consalidated income statement,
“ The cutrent service cost and aciuarial gains are recognized in the following iine items in the Consolidated income
statement:

Yeaar/neriod

ended

31 December

in millions of UGS MNote 2014 20153
Cost of sales 3
General and administrative expenses {2) e
Total expense 15 1 o
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32. Employee benefit obiigations (continued)

Principal actuanal assumptions used at the balance sheet date were as follows:

Ag at 31 December

2014 2013

Ciher Other

actuarizsl actain

Defined employese Defined employee

henefit benefit benefit benefit

obligations  obligations obligations  obligations

Discount rate 1.7% 8.7% 8.0% 7.4%

Future salary increase 7.2% 7.9% 7.4% 7%

Average labour turnover rate of production

personne! 5.5% 8.2% 7.6% 7.2%
Average labour turnover rate of administrative

personmel 8.2% 7.6% 5.5% 6.1%

Assumptions regarding future morality are based upon advice in accordance with published statistics

and experience.

The future average life expactancy in years of a pensionsgr rafiring at age 68 on the balance sheel

date, is as follows:

As ot 31 Degambar

2014 2013

Othar Other

actuarial actuarial

Defined empioyee Defined  employee

benefit benefit benefit beneft

obligations obligations _obligations__ obligations

Male 16 12 11 1
Female 18 16 14 15
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2. Emplovee benefit obligations (continued)

The fure average life expectancy in years of a pensioner refiring at age 88, 20 vears after the
balance sheet daie, is as follows:

As at 31 December

2014 2013

Other Other

aciuariaf actuarial

Defined employee Defined  employee

benefit benefit benefit benefit

obligations _ obligations _ obligations  obiligations

Male k] 12 12 12

Famale 41 16 15 16

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

As at 31 Degember 2014
Impact on defined benefit obligation

Change in
assumplions Increase in assumptions Decrease in assumptions
Discount rate 3% Decreaseby 20.3% Increase by 33.4%
Salary growth rate/minimum
calcutation index 1.8%7 1.13% Increase by 43.7% Decrease by 10.6%
Average labour turnover 3% Decrecaseby 38.3% Increaseby 10.0%

The sbove sensilivity analyses are based on a change in an assumplion while nolding all other
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely 1o occur, and changes in some of the assumptions
may be correlated. When caloulating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significart
actuarial assumptions the same method (present vaiua of the defined benefit obligation calculated
with the projected unit credit method af the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when
calculating the pension liability recognised within the Consolidated balance shest.
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33. Trade and cther payables

A5 at 31 December

in millions of US$ Note 2014 2013
Trade payables 354 489
Deferred consideration’ 285 220
Payabie to related pariies 4 21 11
Distributions payable 10 14
Total financiai liabilities 870 734
Acoruals relating to employee entitlements 120 127
Advances received from customers &2 51
Asgset retirement obligations 31 8 4
Pavable {o related parlies 4 4 3
Cithar - 20 96
Total non-financial Habilities 281 281
Total trade and other payables 951 1,018

"Refer to note 23 for further details.

The fair value of trade and oiher payables (financial liabilifies) approximates their carrying amounts,
as the impact of discounting is insignificant.

34. Other taxes payable

As at 31 Decomber

in millions of USS 2044 2013
Mineral extraction fax 24 32
VAT payable 23 12
Environmenial taxes 9 13
Social taxes 11 8
Empioyee withholding taxses 8 12
tmport duties ’ - 3
Other taxes 17 7
Total other taxes payable 94 87

Other taxes inciuds mining royalties, vehicie and withholding taxes, export duties and employment
insurance.
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35, Financial risk management

The Group's aclivities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
finchiding foreign currency risk and interest rate). The Group may use derivative financial instruments
{0 hedge foreign exchange and interest rate exposures,

Finanoal nisk management s the responsibility of the treasury function which identifies, evaluates
and, if appropriate, hedges financial risks iIn close coaperation with the Group’s operating divisions.
The Treasury Policy oullines principles for overall risk management, as well as written nolicies
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange sk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivalive
financial instruments, and nvestment of excess lguidiy.

Credit risk
Genarally, the Group doss not require coliateral in respect of its trade receivables. The credit risk of
the majority of the Group sales is covered by lefters of credit or cash prepayments against
documents.

The Group undertakes rigorous credit control procedures which are closely monitored by the CEO
Marketing and CFO Marketing. These procedures are regularly reviewed in light of the fimited
availabifity of credi insurance.

The Group's policy is 1o invest surplus funds with good quality barks or liguidity funds. Individual
counterparty exposure mits are based on entity credit ratings published by at least one of the major
credit rating agencies. in some areas where the Group cpergtes i is necessary (o deal with
counterparties that do not have the required credit rating as presoribed by the policy. In these cases a
counterparty limit will be caiculated based on detailed credit analysis of the individual counterparty.
The resulting cradit imits are reviewed frequently to ensure that they remain appropriate.

The Group has establshed reigtionships with a number of international and domestic banks in the
argas in which the Croup operates. Individual credii limils are assigned to each courterparty
according to an analysis of financial strength or published credit raling. Limits and exposures to each
cotirterparty are regularly monitored and reported at each Board meeting. During the period a mixture
of bank deposits and liguddity funds were used within the Group's investiment porifoiio.

The Group considers its maximum exposure to credit risk related o the uncollateralised balances fo
be as follows:

Az at 31 Decamber

11 miifions of LISE Notle 2014 213
Cash and cash equivalenis 27 Ta7 478
Trade and other receivables 26 218 848
Other financial assels 22 252 288
Loans receivable 23 102 50
Total maximum credit risk exposure 1,668 1,466
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35, Financial risk management (continued)

The maximum uncollateralised exposure to credit risk for cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables, other financial assets and loans receivable by geographic region is as follows:

As at 31 December 2014

Trade and
Cash and cash other Other financial Loans
In millions of US$ equivaients recelvables assels receivatia Total
Eurasia 434 270 34 28 764
Europe and Middle East 298 120 2 86 482
Africa 48 49 11 ik 276
Asia Pagific 2 70 - - 72
Rest of the World 21 9 45 - 75
Total 797 518 252 102 1,869
As al 31 Dacember 2013
Trade ang
Cash and cash other Other financial Loans
In millions of US$ squivaients receivables assels recgivable Total
Eurasia 235 288 32 33 569
Europe and Middie East 166 158 16 - 330
Africa 32 44 217 17 310
Asia Pacific - 171 o - 171
Rest of the World 55 7 24 e 86
Total 478 6549 289 50 1,466

In 2014, the top 10 customers as a proportion of the outstanding balance of the Group's frade
receivables accounted for 69% (2013 28%). Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that
no impairment review is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due by up 1o 60 days,

Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated
with iis financiat liabilities that are ssilied by delivering cash or another financial assel. The Group’s
approach to managing lquidity is 1o ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meat is
fiabilities when dus, under both normai and siressed conditions. This is achieved by 3 combination of
producing regular cash forecasts and ensuring that either adequate cash reserves or bank facilities
are in place to meet future liabilities. The Group’s going concern status is discussed further in Nots 1.

The following table summarises the Group’s non-derivative financial assets and liabilities which will be
settled on a2 gross basis info relevant malurity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance
sheel date to the contractual maiurily date. The amounts disclossd in the tables are the contractual
urdiscountsd cash flows, transiated at balance shest daie exchange rates.
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38, Financial risk management {continued)
Mon-derivative financial assets and liabilities

A% 8 31 Decambar 2014

Total Lass

Carrying  contractual han A2 23 -4 4-5 Afier
in miflions of US% Note amount cash flows 1 year yEars years YOArS yezrs 5 years
Barowings 30 {7,881) (9.437Y {2277} (3,548 (1,186) {1,338 {48TY {835}
Trade and other payables 32 {B¥0) {671 {670) - - - - —
Other non-current lisbilities” {113 {18) - (3] 33} {1} 1} {3}
Cash and cash equivalents 27 Yy 797 797 - = - - -
Trade and cther receivables 26 19 £19 £19 - - - - —
Loans raceivable 23 102 422 72 4 ¥ 4 -3 3
Oibar financial asests” 22 57 57 38 8 4 - 7 -
Ket position {7,087} {8,627} {1,521 (3537} [(1,184) {1,33%} {147} {907}

As at 31 Decembper 2013
Total Less -

Carrying  contractual han 1-2 2-3 34 4.5 After
in nitiions of USS Note amourt  cashflows 1 year years YEArs YEars yaars  J years
Borrowings 3G (7,566} {5,245y (1,582) (1238} {3.B0% (467)  {1,204) i9n4)
Trade and cther payables 33 {735} {735} {735} - - - -
Orhar non-current liabifitios 143 {4} - 21 - e {13 (1}
Cash and cash equivalenis a7 478 478 £78 - - - - -
Trade and other receivables 28 549 45 844 - - - -
Loans receivahle _ 3 50 55 14 ¥ 14 5 5 16
Other financial assets’ 22 50 48 34 11 - — 1 -
Net position (7,078} (8,758) (1142} {1.220) (3,788) (462} {1,104) (945)

" The oiher non-current iabilities fotal presented on the Consolidated batance sheet inchide US$12 million of provisions and
guarantees with no confractual cash flows (2013 US314 million).

? The other financial sssete (non-current and current) totals presented on the Consalidated balance sheet inciudes LiS$163
million of investment in quoted ety shares with no confractual cash flows (2013 US$207 rriliion), derivative financial
assets of nit (2013: USS2 million}, and restricted cash held for asset retirement obligations of US$32 million (2013: US$30
million,
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35. Financial risk management {continued)
Foreign currency risk

The majority of the Group’s production costs are denominated in Kazakhstani tange (KZT), Russian
roubles (RURB) and US doltars (US$) while the majority of sales are denominated in US dollars (USS§).
The Group is therafore sxposed fo the sk that movements in exchange rates will afiect both iis

operating profit and cash flows. The Group may enter into derivative financial instruments to hedge
parf or all of these risks,

The Group's foreign currency exposure arises from:

» Highly probable forecast transactions (sales/purchases) denominated in foreign currencies;
and

s Monetary tems {malnly intercompany receivables, payables and borrowings) denominated in
foreign currencies.

The table below summarises the foreign currency exposure on the net monetary position of each
Group entity against s respective funclional currency, expressed in the Group’s presentation
CUITENGY.

I mitiions of USS Ly USH RUB EUR 8P ZAR  Other”
&g gt 31 December 2014

Kazakhstent entliles (LT} niz 847 10 (54} - - 2
Marketing and holding entities (U385 - wla 501 21y {47} 183 -
LK managemsri entiies (GBP) - 174 - - nfa 4 -
African entifiss (primarily USS} - {202} - o {23) Bt 51
Brazilian enfities (BRL) - {264 - - o - -
Net monetary asself({liability} position - 660 $11 {75) (70} 228 53
A st 31 December 2013

Kazakhstani endities (KZT) nfa 448 {3 (2713 - - —
Marketing and holding entities {88 - ] 15 (312) {35) 207 18
Marketing Russian entities (RUE} {1} 33 nia - - - -
UK management entities {GBP) - 61 — 15 nig 5 -
Russian Serov entities (RUB) - 27 na - - 1 -
Afican entifies {urimarnty USSY o (157) - - {118} {8y (173
Rrazifjan entles (BRL) - {261} — - — - —
Net monetary asset/(lability} position { 201 12 {568) {154} 205 (1)

' 18§ balances against African enfiies represents USS balances n non USE functional currency entities.
? The other currency total of USSHS million in 2014 is primasily comprised of Canadian do#ar,

Intercormpany batancss are included to fuily reflect the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk, The
principal exchange rate used for the Kazakhstani tenge and Russian rouble are presented in note 1.
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35. Financial risk management {continued)

As at 37 Descember 2014, based cn the net monaiary position as set out in the previcus table, they
sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in the US dollar exchange rate of the Group's profit belore
tax is as follows:

if the US dollar had strengthenediweskenad by 20% against KZT withy all olhwr variables held
constant, the recalculated profit for the year would have been US$189 million higher/lower (2013
US$100 million higher/lower based on 20%), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/iosses on
translation of US doliar denominated cash arx! cash equivalents, trade receivables and loans
receivable and foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of US dollar denciminated irade payables
and borrowings.

if the US doliar had strengthenediweskened by 30% against RUE with all other variables held
constant, the recaiculated profit for the vear would have been USE150 million lower/higher (2013
US$1 million lower/higher based on 5%), mainly as a resuit of foreign exchange losses/gains on
ranziation of RUB denominated loans receivable.

The Group dees nol consider the sensiivity to a reasonable possible change in the US dollar
axchange rate (5%} against the EUR, GBP, ZAR and other currencies to bs significant.
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38, Financial risk management {¢ontinued)

interest rate risk

The Group has financial assets and liabilities which are exposed to changes in market inlerest rates.
These azsets and liabilities are exposed (o fair value interest rate risk or cash flow interest rafe risk
depending on whether they are subject to fixed or floating rates of interest.

The objective of interest rate risk management is to manage and conirol interest raie risk exposures
within acceptable parameters. The Group’s pelicy is to maintain a balance between fixed and floating
interest rate risks, This is principally achieved by using a2 mix of fixed and floating interest rate
horrowings or if necessary, entering into derivative financial instruments to manage the interest rate of
the debt portfolio. The Group's significant interest bearing asseis and liabilities are as follows:

As at 31 December 2014
Non-interest

In milkons of UBE Note Fixed rals Floating rate bearing Total
Cash and cash equivalents 27 435 282 80 797
Trade and other receivables 26 18 14 489 817
{_oans receivable 23 29 - 73 102
Assets 472 292 652 1,416
Borrowings 30 {3,480} {4,393) i8) {7.881)
Liahilities 13,480) {4,393) {8} {7,881}
Net position {3,008} {4,101} 844 {6,465}
Effect of a 1% increase i interest

rates on profit before income tax nia (41} nia {41)

As at 31 December 2013

Non-interest

in mitlions of US$ HMote Fixed rate Floating rate bearing Totat
Cash and cash equivalents 27 239 187 82 478
Trace and other raceivables 26 13 8 628 549
Loans receivable 23 42 — 8 B0
Assels 204 185 718 1,177
Rorrowings 30 {3,208) {4,351) {7 (7,566
iabilities {3,208) {4,351} {7 {7 566)
Net position (2,914} {4,188} 741 (6,389)
mifact of & 1% increass in nterest

rates on profit before income {8x n/a {42} nia (423

As shown above the impact on profit hefore income tax of a 1% increase in interest rates would be a
LUS$44 million decrease in profit beiore income tax (2013: US$42 million decrease) with an equal bt
apposite effect if interest rates decreased by 1%. The US344 mifiion profit before income ax increase
(2013: US$42 million decrease in profit before tax) is entirely attributable to cash flow risk {floating
rate interest) as the Group does not re-measure fixed rate financial assets and lighiiities o fair value.

The impact on equity is the same as the impact on income. This analysis assumes that ali other
variabies, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant.
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35, Financlal sk management {continued)

Capital risk management .

The Group's obiectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going cencern in order {o provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital

in order fo achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things,
aims 10 ensure compliance with financial covenants attached to its interest-bearing borrowings that
form part of its capital structure (refer to 'Going concern basis’ in note 1),

The key ratios monitored for covenant compliance are:
« Nei debttc EBITDA of 3.84
e  EBITDA to finance charges of 3.11
+ Net debt to tangible net worth of 1.47

As at 31 Dacember 2014 and 31 December 2013 the Group was in compiiance with all required
covenanis, or if not, appronriaie walver letters were obtained.

The Group considers the foliowing halances as a part of its capital management:

As at 31 December
2013

In mitlions of USS$ Nete 2014 45 restated °
Borrowings 3D 7,881 7.566
Capiial reserves 20 3,158 3159
Reserves' 3,647 5114
Total capital 14,687 15,8398

' Reserves include retained earnings, translation reserve, revalustion reserve of financial assels gvailable-for-sale and other
PESBEIVEE.
? e nole 5 business combination for further detalls regarding restatements.

The Group manages its capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions and compliance
with financial covenants. in order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of returned capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets {o manage its debt level

The Group currently has credit ratings of B3 with Moody's (2013: B2} and B~ with Standard & Poor’s
(2013 B) with both ratings on a negative outiocok. The downgrades in credit rating took place on 27
August 2014 and 25 November 2014, respectively. It is possible that these credit ratings could restrict
the Group's access o future sources of debt.
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38, Finaneial risk management {(confinued)

Fair value of financial instrumenis

in determining fair value of financial instruments the Group uses its judgment (o select a variety of
methods and to verify assumptions that are mainly based on market condilions existing at each
balance sheet date, as well as obtaining fair value measurements from other parties.

For the fingncial instrumernts measured on the Consolidated balance sheet at fair vaiue, the Group
has adopted the foliowing fair value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1: Quoted {unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical agsets or liabiiities.

Level 2: Other technicues for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are ohsarvable, either dirsclly or indirectly.

Level 3: Technigues which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that
are not based on chservable markei data.

The fair vaiue of financial instruments traded in the active market is based on quoted market prices at
the bajance sheet date, Thess instruments are included in level 1. As of 31 December 2014 and
2013, the Group’s avaitable-for-sale financial assets (note 22) are included in fevel 1 of the hisrarchy.

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Group did not hold financial instruments that are included in
level 2 or 2 of the hierarchy.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost
The fair value of the following assets and liablilities approximate their carmying amount:

e Trade and other receivables
¢ Cash and cash equivaients
s Trade and other payables

The fair value of borrowings and loans receivable are sef out in notes 30 and 23 respactively. These
items are carried on the Consolidated halance sheet at amortised cost, the fair vaiues disciosad in
notes 30 and 23 are measured by discounting the estimated cash flows with an applicable yieid
determined by level 2 techniguss.

The fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost are based upon expected cash flows
discounted at prevailing interest rates for new instrumeants with a similar credit risk and maturity.
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36. Auditor's remuneration

During the year, the Group {inciuding #s overseas subsidiaries) oblained the following services from
the Group’s external auditor as detailed below:

Yaar/period ended 31 December

in miilions of US$ 2044 2013
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for e audit of the Parent

Company and Consaclidated financial statements 95 ZA
The auditing of accounts of any associate of the Company 3.2 40
Audit-related assurance services .1 -
Taxation advisory services 0.2 -

Cther assurance sernvices - i

Services relating to corporate finance transactions entered into, or
proposed ¢ be entered into, by or on behalf of the Company or any
of g associates - .

All other non-audit services 1.0

Total 7.1 6.4

a7. Bevaluation of the Kazakhstani tenge

In February 2014, the Kazakbstani tenge was devalued by around 19% (o approximately
KZT185/USS$1. A substantial proportion of the Group’s costs in Kazakhstan are in tenge. A net foreign
exchange gain of US$66 milfion arose in February 2014, consisting of a foreign exchange gain on
US$ denominated working capital balances held by subsidiaries with the tenge as their functional
currency, partizlly offset by a foreign exchange loss on the onerous contract provision. This net
foreign exchange gain is included within operating profit in the Consaclidated income statement and
was deducted for the purpose of calculating Underlying EBITDA (refer to note 40).

A significant portion of the currency transtation differences of US$1,931 mitlion included in the
Consolidated statement of comprahensive income, arose on the transtation of property, plant and
equipment denominated in tenge (aiso refer 1o note 19).

fefer to note 1 for the relevant exchange rates used.
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38, Commitments

Captial expenditure commitmenis

As at 31 Digcember
tr mitans of USS 20114 2013

Property, plant and equiprent 367 515

QOperating leasas
The tahie below sets out minimum payments for aggregate future minimum lease paymenis:

As oat 31 December
int muflions of USH 2844 2012

Less than 1 year 9 10
Batween 1 and 2 years 4 10
Between 2 and 3 years 4 4
Between 3 and 4 years 4 2
Betwaen 4 and & years 4 2
After 5 years 13 24
Tofal 38 b2

Rental expenses relating to the operating leases of mining facilities and administrative facilities are
recognised in ‘cost of sales’ and ‘general and adminisirative expenses’ respectively within the
Consolidated income stalement.

Assets pledged and restricted

The Group has the following assets piedged as collaterat
Az at 31 Decamber

204 2013

Asset Related Asged Relaied

in mitlions of USS Mote pledged liability pledgaed Tabiity
Lonig-term deposits and restricted cash 34 v 21 -
Short-term deposits - - 16 .
Rastrictad cash 25 13 — 9 -
Total assets pledged and restricted 47 — 46 —

In addition, there is a pladge over the shares of Kazakhstan Aluminium Smelter JSC as detaiied in
note 30 (h).
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39. Contingencies

Regulatory matters

Between 2011 aznd 2013, ENRC was engaged in an internal investigation into cerfain matters,
including allegations around its operations and assets in, and transactions involving, Kazakhstan and
Africa (in particutar, the DRC). Throughout that period, ENRC voluntarily provided the Sevious Fraud
Office {'SFO'") with a considerabie amount of information resulting from this investigation. In late April
2013 the SFO decided to open a formal investigation into ENRC. The SFO has recently confirmed
that it is no longer "actively investigating” the Company's operations in Kazakhstan. The SFO have
ot indicated to ENRC the precise scope of thelr investigation into Africa. ENRC is represented by
specialist external counsel. The investigation is continuing.

Bahia #inerals BY deferred consideration
In September 2010, FNRC N.V. {a Group company) acquired from Ardile investments N.V. {Ardila’)
the 50% of Bahia Minerals B.V. (BMBV") that it did not already own dnder a Share Purchase
Agreement (the ‘SPA’). BMBYV owns the Pedra de Ferro iron ore mine in Bahia province, Brazil. The
payment terms in the SPA stipulated that part of the consideration was to be paid in instalments. On 8
March 2013, the parties to the SPA agreed to, inter alia, amend the payment terms relating to the
BMBY acquisition. Under the amended payment terms:
e« ENRC N.V. loaned US$65 million to Arcita which was to be repayable on the earlier of the
issuance of a port installation licence for the private ferminal port at Porto Sui i jiheus, Brazil
{the "Port Installation Licence’) or 1 June 2014 (iater extended tc 1 July 20143 and
» The final instalment payment of US$285 million was to be payable on the later of the [ssyance
of the Port Installation Licence or 31 May 2014 (subject to ihe Port Instailation Licence being
issued on or before a longstop date of 21 September 2014, after which, the final instalment
would not be payable).

On 30 June 2014, Ardila filed @ claim against ENRC N.V. in the Commercial Court in London in
connection with the SPA (the ‘English Procesdings’). Ardila alleges that the final instalment payment
under the SPA has been triggered by the issuance of ceriain licences relating ¢ the Pedra de Ferro
mine and by the purporied subsequent issuance of the Port Instaliation Licence on 19 September
2014, with the result that US$220 milfien is now claimed to be pavable by ENRC to Ardila, plus
interest and costs. The Group strongly rejects Ardila's claim as the licence that was purportadly
issued i ot sufficient so as to salisfy the conditions required by the SPA and has filed @ robust
defence. The proceadings are on-going.

The Group is also counterciaiming against Ardila and its guarantor, Zamin Ferrous Limited (Zamin'’)
for the repayment of the USHES million loan made to Ardila in March 2013. In a judgment given by the
Engiish High Court on 11 June 2015, ENRC obtained judgment against Ardila and Zamin int the ful!
amount of USSES million plus interest on a summary basis because the court found that Ardila and
Zamin nhad no real prospect of defending ENRC's counterclaim at trial. That sum is to be paid to
ENRC's lawyers to be held for ENRC's bernefit pending the resolution of Ardila’s claim. The court aiso
ordered Ardila to pay GBP1 milion into court as security for ENRGC's costs of the English
Proceedings.

In connection with the English Proceedings, Ardila applied to the Dutch court, without naotice fo the
Group, for attachment orders over the shares and intercompany receivables of four Dutch subsidiary
companies of ENRC N.V., which the Duich court granted on 13 August 2014 (the ‘Attachment Order’).
ERNRC NV, subsequerdly applisd to the Dutch court fo have the Attachment Order kfted, but such
application was denied.
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39. Contingencies {continued)

The Attachment Order is consarvatory in nature and no enforcement action can currantly be taken
against the attached assets. The Group is considering various options to i the Attachment Order.
Appeal proceedings have already been initiated, but were stayed pending settlement discussions with
Ardila. Considering the judgment rendered by the English High Court on 11 June 2015, the appeal
procaadings will soon be reactivaied,

In addition to the Attachment Order, Ardila has threateped o file for the bankruptcy of ENRC N.V.
Although ENRC NV, is confident that no bankruptey proceedings can be opened against it, because
it is not in a position that it has ceased paying its debts when they fall due, it cannot be exciuded that
Ardila will submit a bankrugtcy petition to the Dutch court in relation to ENRC N.V. The eifects of such
bankruptey petition on the four Dutch subsidiary companies of ENRC N.V. are limnited, although it
could mean that — in case bankruptcy proceedings would be opened against ENRC NV, —~ ihe shares
in each of the four Dutch subsidiary companies would have to be transferred.

Chambishi VAT asssssment

The Group i@ routinely subject o tax audits by the Zambia Revenue Authorities ('ZRA") and received
tay assessments currently stiil being discussed and at various stages of progress with the ZRA. The
outcome of these audits and assessments is uncertain. However, the Group has appealed against the
varous matiers under review and is confident of its position, with no provision against additional tax
considerad nacessary.
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40, Reconciliation of non-GAAP measures
1. Underlying EBIT and EBITDA

Yaariperiod ended 31 December

2013
Irs millions of USS {unless stated atherwise) Note 244 A& restated”
Profit for the year/neriod 162 5444
Adiusimenis for
Finance cost 17 796 113
Income tax expense 18 213 18
Utilisation of inventory held at fair value' 204 187
Restruchinng costs 22 -
Impagments 10 102
Share of loss of joint veniures 21 3 -
MNon-recurring iterms — operating 14 1 145
Nan-recurming kems — financing 1 - 1
Net gain anising from business combinations 5 = &710)
Finance income 18 {66} 10
Net gain on Kazakhstani tenge devaluation 37 {68 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiary 13 {56} -
Net change in onerpus contract provision 10 {289} (32}
Underlying EBIT 986 187
Add back:
Depreciation and amortisation 881 138
Underlying EBITDA® 1,847 285

T Utiisation of inventory held at fair vatue on acquisition of ENRC (see nole 5). 2013 comparative  Underlying ESIT and
Underlying ERITDA have bsen restated to exclude the impact in the prior period.

T Underlying EBITDA: Profit for the period before finznce income, finance cost, income tax expense, ongrous  contract
provision, depreciation, amortisadion, non-recirring Hemns, utilisation of inventory held at fair value, restruciuring costs,
share of loss of joint ventures, net gain arising from business combinations, net gain on  Kazakhstani tenge devaluation

_ and gain on disposal of subsidiary.

® Ses Note S for further details regarding restatsments.
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40, Reconciliation of non-GAAP measures {Continued)

2. Gross availzble funds and net debt

Yearipericd ended 31 Dacember

In millions of US3 214 2013
Gross avallable funds

Cash and cash equivalents 4l 787 478
Term deposits (included in trade and other receivables) 26 17 13
Total other financial assets 22 252 289
Lans:

Investmant in Northam Platinum Limited 22 (163) (205}
Qther financial assets (current and non-current) {67} {543
Total gross avallable funds 836 ' 521
Net debt

Cash ang cash equivalenis 27 787 478
Borrowings - ourrernt 30 {1,805} {895)
Borrowings — non-current 30 {8,076) (6,671}
Total net debt {7,084} {7,088}
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41, Principal subsidiaries

The Group comprises a large number of companies and it is not practical to include all of them in a fist
i1 these Consolidated financial statermnents. Therefore, the Group discioses only those companies that
have a more significant impact on the profit or assets of the Group. A full list of companies is fied
along with these Consolidated financial statements to Registre de Commerce et des Sociéiés in

Luxembourg.

As at 31 December 2014
FHentive
Propottion proportion
of orsdiriary Effective | of ocdinary | Proporiion
shares proporiien shares of
held i of orainary fyadd prefarence
by the shares by non- shares
Parent heid | controlling held
Coumiry of Corapany 1y the interests by the
Subsidiary Frincipat activity Incorporation %31 Group (V) ) Group %)
S5GPC S840 (38GPOY Mining and processing Razalkhstan - 59.81 AL f14.32
Shubarkol Komir JSO Hining and processing Kazakhstan — ag, 51 0.19
THC Kazchrome JSC Mining ant processing Kazakhstan — $9.37 063 ¢ 86.36
Asuminium of Kazakhstan JSG Mining and processing Kazakhstan - 47.03 207 8266 .
Frantier SPRL | Mining and processing DRG - 94.82 598 =
Boss Mining SPEL Mining and processing DRC - 89,87 30,13 -
La Congolaise de Mines et de Mining DRC - 83,81 418 -
Développement (Gomide SPRL) ]
¥arakhstan Aluminium Smelter J3C Metals Processing Kazaknhstan - 95.81 .19 -
Roan Prospecting and Mining SPRL Metals Processing DRE 99.81 018 -
Sary-Arka Spetskoks LLP Metals Processing Kazakhstan 6981 1e —
Serov Ferronioy Plant J8O Sletals Processing fasesian L - 99.81 018
Federation
hambishi Maetals PLE Metals Pracessing Zambia - 8283 1447 —
| Ewasian Energy Corporation JSC Power Generation Kazakhsian - o4 51 314G 78.82
Bahiz Mineragdo {ida Minerai Exploration Brazil - 59.81 0,158
Mineragho Minas Babis A Mineral Exploration Brazti ] - 99.81 018 -
sineragio Pele Bravo BA Mingral Exploration Brazil — 54,81 .19 -
Derita SPRL Minera: Exploration [5:20 — 88 81 .19 -
ENRG Mazambique Livdiada Mirara! Exploration Morambique §9.81 .18
ENRT Manganess (P1y) Limited Hineral Exploration South Africa - 73.56 26,14 -
Freatment of Kingamyambo Tailings Mineral Exploration DRC - 89 87 30.13 -
Company (Metaikol)
Todal Mining (Pvl} Limited Sfinera Exploration Zirnbabwe - 59.89 A0 o
Swanminss SPRL Mineral Explaration DRG - 4771 52.29 ~
Gongo Cobalt Gorporation SPRL Minirg Contracting DRG - 69.81 oty 0 -
Services
MEK Transsystema LLP Transportation Kazakhsian - 99,89 (.15 -
TransGom LLP Transpostation Kazakhstan — 69.81 (.19
ERNRC Logistios LLP Transportation Kazakhstan — 83,81 .18
Sabot Management Holdings Limited Transpartation Seychaiias — 43.81 0.1¢ -
Sabot Holdings 54 (Pry; Limited Temnaporiation South Africa - 88 .81 0.1% —
ENRC Marketing AG Sales & Marksting Switzerdand - 99.81 .58 -
EMRD Markating Allog AG 1 Sales & Marketing Switzertand - 8981 (.99 -
FNRC BMarksting LLP Saizs & Marksling Kazaknhstan — 90,81 .19 -
EMRE Marksting 140 Sales & Marketing Rigsian - 3681 0.1% -
Faderatian
Africo Resourses Eimited Hadding Company Canada — G358 2542 —
Bahiz Minarais BY HMokding Company Metherands 1 - 58.81 0.1¢
Camrose Resources Limited Hoitting Company Britigh Wirgin — 89 81 .19 —
Islands BV
e riolding BV boiding Gompany Netherlands — 89.81 0.1 -
ENRC NV Holding Cormnpany Netherlands - 96,81 0149 -
ENRC Africg BY Holding Company Nethedands - 289,81 0.19 —
Bubic Heldings Limited Helding Company BvI - 89.61 0.19
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44. Principal subsidiaries {coniinued)

As at 31 December 2014
Effective
Proportion proportion

of ordinary Effective | of orginary | ProporBion

shares proportiosn ahares of

hatd | of ardinary held | preference

by the zhares iy on- shares

Parent heid controliing heid

L Country of Compatiy by the interests iy the

Subsidiary Principal activity neorporation £%3 Groupg {%} (%} Groug (%)
United

ENRC Limited Holditg Company Kingdom - 94.81 .19 —

Group Managing

ENRC Kazashsian LLP Company Kazakhstan - 949,81 018 -
Group Managing Linitea

ENRC Management (UK} Limited Company Kingdom 9981 (AL —

Corporate Fund ENRO Komek Charitable Foundation HKazgkhstan e 88.81 0.18 —
Treasury & Holding United

ENRC Finanes Limited Company Kingdom — 99.81 018 —

Group Managing
Eurasian Group LLP Company Karakhstan 100.00 - -
ERG BY Holding Comipany HNethardands igoney 0 - - —

On 11 December 2014, the Group sold its subsidiary Zhairemsky GOK JSC {refer to note 13 for more
detais),

Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is provided below.
Progoriion of equity held by non-controliing interests (%)

As at 31 Decembaer

Subsidiary Country of ingorporation 25614 2013
Frontier SPRL DRC 5.18 518
Africo Resources Limited Canada 36.42 36.42
Boss Mining BPRIL DRC 30.13 3013
Treatment of Kingamyambo Tailings DRC 30.13 30.13
Company {Metaikol)

Swanmines SPRL DRC 52.28 52.28
Atuminium of Kazakhstan JSC Kazakhstan 3.4% 349
TNC Kazchrome JSC Kazakhstan 1.88 1.88
SSGPO JSC (§86PON Kazakhstan 2.84 2.04
Eurasian Energy Corporation JSC Kazakhstan 1.78 1.78
Shubarko! Komir J8C Kazakhsian 3.66 388
Chambishi Metals PLC Zambia 1047 1017
Todal Mining (Pvi) Limited Zimbabwe 40.11 40,11
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41. Principal subsidiaries {continued)
Accumulated balances of material non-controiling interest in net assets/(liabilities)

As at 31 December

In millions of USS ' 2014 2013
Frontier SFRL 21 22
Africo Rasources Limited 37 39
Boss Mining SPRL (291} (292)
Treatment of Kingamyambo Taiings Company (Metalkol) 378 411
Swapminegs SPRL 13 14
Aluminium of Kazakhstan JSC {10} (19)
TNC Kazchiome J5G 93 85
SSGPO JSC (88GPOY 82 77
Eurasian Energy Corporation JSC 18 19
Shubarkol Komir JSC 28 26
Chambishi Metals PLC {24} {18}
Todal Mining (Pvi) Limited {40} (37)

Profit/{ioss) allocated to material non-controlling interest
Yearfpenod ended 31

Dacermber
i millions of USS 2014 2513
Frontier SPRL {2} 1
Africo Resources Limited {2} (1)
Baas Mirdng SPRL 1 {(4)
Treatment of Kingamyambo Tailings Company {Metalkal') {21
Swanminas SPRL {1 -
Aluminium of Kazakhstan JSC 9 -
TNG Kazchrome JSC 8 (1}
SSGPC 80 (8sGPOY 5 1
Eurasian Energy Corporation J5C {1} B
Shubarke! Komir JSC 1
Charnbishi Metais PLC {6) (1)
Todal Mining (Fv6) Limited (3) -
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a1. Principatl subsidiaries (continued;

The summarised financial information of these subsidiaries is provided below. This information is
based on ameunis before intercompany eliminations.

Summarised balance sheet

As at 31 December 2014

Total Totai non-

cufrant rst aurrent net

Currart Currarit asselsf  Non-curent  Mon-cument asasets/
inmeiflions of US% i abifides {fapiities) &1 labilites {liabliiesy Met assets
trroptier SPRL 128 i55) 71 846 (524} 326 387
£fico Resources Limited 143 {13 102 - - - 192
Boss Mining SPRL 141 {43) S8 ¥ (1,436) £1,059) {861}
Traammient of Kingamyamboe Tallings 42 - 12 2,538 {1,283} 1,258 1,267

Cormpany (Metalkol}

Swarmings SPRL - 1590) {65} 446 {22) Fd 24
Aluminium of Karakhstan 350 86 {77} 48 282 {485} {203) {184}
THNC Kazchrome JSG 1,462 {2453} 1,259 2,916 {896} 3,020 4,279
SEOPO IS {S8GPOY 4,088 164} 61 3,042 {417} 2,625 3486
Eurasian Energy Corporation JSC 53 {144} {8F) 1,383 {271} 1,112 1,025
Shubarko! Homit JSG 74 29 46 249 {337 §f2 658
Chgmbishi Melals PLO 43 (92} {35} o9 {248} {147} {183}
Todal Mining (Pt} Limited 2 {2y - {38) (16} (58} {88}
Mg at 31 December 2013

Totat Tolat non-

curreni net current nat

furand Cureant asgetsf  Monecuirent  Non-current ageais!
try endlicnis of LISS Esser liabiities {lrabiitias) aspets ighilites Hiabiiiies) Net agsets
Frontier SPRL 130 {77} 53 833 {455} 378 439
Africo Resowwes Limied 107 - 0w - — 107
Boss Mining SPRL 129 {42} 87 81 £1,112) {1,051) {564}
Treatment of Kingamyambe Talings & - & 2.020 {G61) 1,355 1,364

Comparny {Hetalko!}

Swamnines SPRL = {48} {43} 108 {32} T4 26
Adminium of Kazakhstan J3G it (259 {148} 318 1697) {382} {530}
THO Kazehrome S50 1,051 {2583 796 4,645 {915} 3730 4 526
SEGPO IS (586PQOY 707 (147 560 3,814 {853) 3,281 3821
turasian Energy Comormation JSOC 58 £116) {58} 1,838 (323 1318 1,258
Shubarkel Komir JSC 50 1) 4 1,153 (399) 754 763
Champish Metsis LG Th {52) 23 111 {260) (144 126}
Todal Mining (Pt} Liratesd 1 (40) 39 {29 {16) (85} 84)
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41. Principal subsidiaries (continuad}

Sumimnsrised income statoment

Year anded 3 Decermber 2014

Total
compretiensive
Frofity Poat-tax incormed  Dividends
{inas) et {ither Total {expense} praieh 13
tiafoce flossy frem comprehensive  comprehensive allocated 1o T
income income  continuing ncormef incorme! non-condrolling  cortraiiing
iry miffions of H53% Pevetue faty fax  operalions {expenss {Expanse; interasts inigrests
Frontler SPRL 387 {33} {3 {35} —- {35} {2} -
Alrico Resources Limited e 5 e (5 - {5} {2) -
Bous Mining SPRL 3858 34 N 3 5 i p -
Troatiment of Kingamyambo - (6% - {89) e (B8} (2%} -
Taiings Compary 'Metaikol';
Swannines 3PRL - {2 (2} - i -
Al of Kazakhsian J3C 454 279 {12} 267 77 344 12 -
THE Kazchrome JSC 1,848 585 {59) 488 {720} {234) {4) -
SEGPO JSC (88GEROY 1,114 284 {24) 270 Hiz s {342} (7} -
Eurasian Znergy Comomstion 378 {78) 22 {56} {209 {2689} (5} -
I5C
Shubarko! Komir JOG 188 45 {35} 15 {121) {1906} {4} P
{hambishi Meigls PLC 280 {60} 1 (5%} 2 (57} i) -
Todal Mining (Pt} Linited - (8} - & - 8% H -
Faricd ended 31 Decamber 2012
Totai
comprehansive
Post-tax meomel  Dividengs
{fram prodit/ Oxhey Tolad fpxpenae) panid o
bafora {iss) Bom cotehensive  compiahensive afincatad to 0
Ricome lncome  Sondinung - Bpomed incomed non-cantrefiing  controding
_in millions of USH Revarie sk tax  cperations (expnenge) {expensal intprasts frizerasts
Frordier SPRL a4 15 {43 " $1 1 -
frico Resources Limited - {4} - 3 - t4) -
Boss Mining SPRL 65 {11} {2} {13; - {13) {# -
Treaknant of Kingamyamba - {1} - {1} - {4 ' - -
Taiiings Company {Matalkol}
Swanminas SPRL - 1N = (1} - {1} - -
Al of Kazakhstan J5C 82 4 B 10 {2) 3 - E
TNG Kazchromes S50 317 {82} 22 {60} 22 {38) i -
“EOPO JSC 56RO 262 57 {15} 52 18 ro! 1
Eurasian Enargy Corporation T3 1 £1) - & & -
JeC
Shubarket Komir JSC 45 17 {9} 3 4 12 - -
Chamsisht Melals PLC 44 @ (6 - &) 4 -
Todal Mining (Puth Limited {1} - {1} s (1} -
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41, Principal subsidiaries {continued)

Summarised cash flows

Year ended 31 Deceimber 2014 Pednd ended 31 Decembar 2013
bat increasel Met increasel
idegeease) in {dersease) 0
ash and cash cash and cash
I millions of USE Opnerating Wivesting  Financing eguivalents Operating ivesting Finansing aquivalents
Frondier SPRL 8 {125} €2 1 5 {28} 22 -
Afrioo Resouroes ] “n (2) & M 4 - 3
Lirnited
Boss Mining SPRL 52 {13) (26) 53 2 (7} 3 {3
Fremtment of (21 {5) 24 (2 4} (15} 19 -
Kingamyambo Tallings
Company {Metalkol)
Swanmines SPHEL {2} 2 - - - -
Aluminilm of 34 (41} 1 4 {t1) (%) 18 4]
Kazakhstan JE8C
TN Karchromes J8C 537 {H40) 36 27 -8B {55 {44) {1
EBGP0 JISC 88GHFOY 50t {507} {4} {10} o4 3% (61) {1}
Eyrasian Energy 72 {152} {6} 14 5 {27} 1 (1
Corporation JSC
Shubarkel Komiy JSC 7% {50} {14} (12) 13 5] (10} {23
Chambishi Metals PLO B {8 - {3 2 2 - -
Todat Mining (Puf) £ 7 () - 1 P
b il
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42. Events after balance sheet dale

Supply agreement with Magnitogorsk fron and Steel Works QJSC (MMK}

On 20 January 2015 the Group entered into agreement with ffagnitogorsk ron and Steel Works
OJSC (MMK) to supply iron ore materials for a total volume of 22,655 000 MT until 31 December
20417 for approximately US$1,400 million,

Pushdown of axisting Sberbank facilities

At 31 December 2014, the Group had drawn down US$2,405 millien under two faciities with
Sperbank of Russia (term loan facility of US$2,000 million and term loan faciity of US$500 miliion).
The term loan faciity of L18$2,000 milfion bears an interest raie of LIBOR plus 6.80%, with an
increase of margin to 7.30% in October 2014, and is repayable In January 2017. The term loan facility
of US$500 million bears an interest rate of LIBOR plus 7.25% with a possible increase of margin 10
8 95% under certain circumstances and is repayable in June 2018 ENRC Limited is the borrower
under both agreements.

On 15 September 2014, an agreement was signed with Sberbank of Russia to push down the existing
facilities into JSC TNC Kazchrome and SSGPO JSC. Subsequently on 10 Aprii 2015 similar
agrsement was signed with Sberbank Kazakbstan. The term joan facilities are for a total of US$2,220
milion: bear interest at 7.15%, with a possible increase to 7.4% in cerfain circumstances; and are
repayable 42 months from signing date. The loans are secured by guarantees issued by ERG,
Eurasian Resources Group BV, SSGPO JSC, JSC TNC Kazchrome, Aluminium of Kazakhstan JSC,
Eyrasian Energy Corporation JSC and Shubarkol Komir JSC.

The pushdown of the existing Sherbank facilities into SSGPO JSTC and JBSC TNC Kazchrome was
completed in May 2015,

In March 2015 the Group has fully repaid the original US$500 milion facility and in Apni 2015 the
Grroup has fully repaid the criginal U8$2,000 raiflion facility.

Sale of Northam Platinum Lid shares
On 17 Mareh 2015 the Group sold the shares held in Northam Platinum Lig for cash proceeds of
LISS202 million, with a resulting foss of $14 million recorded.

Prepayment of VTB Backstop Credit Fagility ‘
On 30 March 2015 the Group made a US$51 million prepayment of the VTB Backstop Credit Faciiity
from the procesds of the Northam Platinum Lid disposal.

Disposal of Serov Group of companies

On 1 April 2015 the Group completed the disposat of its entire shareholding in Serov Fetrroatioy Plant
18C and Saranovskaya Mine Rudnaya (Serov) for a total consideration of approximately US$277
million, US$153 million of which was received in cash and the remaining consideration is payable in
‘nstaliments until 2020. Simultaneousiy, the Group entered info an agreement with the purchaser of
Serov to supply chrome ore for a total volume of 2,500,000 MT untit 2020 for approximately Us$225
mitlion. USS113 million was received as a prepayrment under iis contract, with the remainder payable
on supply.
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42, Events afier halance sheet date (continued)

suasian Commercial Bank (Cyprus) Limited {part of the VT8 Group)
On @ April 2015 a loan faclity with Russian Commercial Bank {Cyprus) for US$1,000 million has baen
amended 1o exiend Tranche A for US$500 million untit March 2017, The Tranche A interest rate has

increased to 10%. If the Groun's credit rating falls below B - (B3}, the interest rate for both tranches
will increase by 0.5%.

Export Credit Facility {‘ECA Facility’)

On 23 June 2015 an agreement has been signed relaling to the ECA facility originally dated 21
December 2012, The agreement amends the prepayment rights to the earlier of sither 30 days after
30 Novermber 2015, or the date that the faclity is fully drawn down.

YTB Backstop Credit Facility

On 26 June 2015 the availabiity period of the VTR Backstop Credit Facility for LUIS$1,000 million was
axtended to 30 May 2016
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Included i the e
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fon of Eurasian Resources Group 5.4 r.l. for the year ended 31 December 2014

Proportion of

EMREC Logistics LLP
ENRC Mamatwan {Pty] Limited

Subsidiary Name - Registerad Mdress capital hatd
Africa Technical Services Limited Eegistered OFfire: 40,815
Suite 24 Leyel 2, Alexander Hause, 35 Cybercity, Ebene, Mavritius
Aftioo Resaurces Limited 1113 \Wigst Georgia Street, Vancauver, British Columbia, VEE 403 £i3.58%
Carada
AktabePromTrans LLF Legal address: Kazakhstan, 030015, Aktobe city np. 312 Strelkovoy 95.81%
Dievizli  North-‘West Industrial Zene.
1 Alumninium of Kazakhstan [5C 14013, Republic of Kazzkt Paviadar reglon, Paviadar 96.51%
1Amalahle Resources (Pry) Limited Registered Address: The Reserve, 54 Mebville Road, lave, 73.86%
Johanneshurg, 2195
ASEK Reinsurance &G tfo MARSH MANAGERMENT SERVICES LUXEMBOURG S.A., Zurich 20.81%
Branch
Tessinerplaz 5
BODZ Zirich
Asmare B.Y, Jlan Luijkenstraat & bg, 1071 CM Amsterdam The Netherlands 96,14%
ATS Assets Wauritius Limited Registered Offic 92.81%
Skh Floor, Barkly Whar, Le Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis, epubllc
of Maurritius
Bahia Mineragdo 5/a Ivenida Professor Magalhaes Mebo, 1752, 152 Andar Salas 150 A o9.B1%
1511, Ed. Lena Empresarial, Pituba, Salvador, Ba,
41810012
Bahia alnerals .Y, Registered Address since 05/03/2015: Jan Luijkenstraat & bg, 1071 59.21%
M Atrwterdam The Netherands
Bashling Investinents [Private) Limited Maclonald House, 10 Seleus Avenue, Harare. 59 81%
BEREKE 2004 LLE ¥azakhstan, Ekibastuz city, 1 Depovskaya str. 95.81%
Bess Mining Sodété par acticns simplifide [5A5) Replsterad Office and Physic| Address: E9.87%
238 Raure Likast, Commune Annetes, Lubumbashi, Cemooatic
Republic af Congo
CAMEL Finance Umited Registered & Physlcal Address: 99.81%
2hd Flaor, 16 5t_ James” Streat, Landon, SW1A 1ER, United Kingdam
Camec Guinea 54 Lonakry, Republic of Guinea 00.81%
Lamee Kenya Limited LR. Na. 208/5221, 5 Floor, ICEA Lon Centre, Riverside Park West 98.81%
‘Wing, Chiroma Road, Westlands, P.0. Box 106545-00100, Nairobd,
Kenya
Lfamersa (Ply] Limited Repistered Address: The Reserve, 54 Melvile Road, lleva, 8.531%
Iohannesburg, 2196
Camrose Resaurces Limibed Trident Chambets P.0O. Box 148 Raad Town Tertola VG 1110 British 92 81%
Airgin |slands
cargo tard crs Internatiomal Hauliers (Pye) Limized 1 Clivedon Close, Fiphlands, Harare, Zimbahwe 45.B1%
Central African Mining and Exploration Company [Namibia) {Pby} Limited *hysical Address: 12th Floor, Sanlam Centre, 145—157 5.61%
‘ndependence Avenue, Windhoek, Mamibiz.
*ostal Address: PO Box 2558, Windhook, Namibia
Central African Tantalum Limited Ragitered & Physical Address: 9%.81%
2nd Floer, 16 St. James' Street, London, SW1A 1ER, United Kingdom
Chambishi Metals Pic Beglstored and Physical Address: £85.83%
Chingala Road, &ppasite £ hip Turmn-Gff,
-8 M, of Lot 10/, Chambishi, Zambia
Compagnie Miniere de Sakanla Soclétd A responsabilits limitée [Comisa Sarl} Registered Office and Physleal Address: 02.61%
234 Reoute Likasl, Commune Annexes, Lubumbashi, Democratle
Republic of Canpa
Conge Cobalt Corparation Socidté & responsabilitd limitde (COC Sarl} Re, Offlce and Physical Address: 9%.81%
238 Route Likasi, Communc Antiexes, Lubumbashi, Demacratle
Republit of Canga
Congo Mincral Develapments Bimited Trident Chambers PO Bex 146 Road Town Tartola Y& 1110 Brltish 93.81%
\Virgin lslands
Costlspas {Phyh Limited |Reg[smred Address: The Reserve, 54 Mefville Road, Ulove, on.81%
Johanncshurg, 2136
Crezita Investments Umited Nemaurs Chambers PO Box 3170 Road Town Tortala British Yirgln 98.81%
Islands
Drezita | Sacidté A respansabilite limitée [Sa) Reglstered Dfflen and Physical Address: S9.81%
238 Route Likasi, Comomunc Annexes, Lubumbashi, Demecratic
Republie of Congn
EEC 1SC 140100, 31 Maberezhnaya str., Aksu ¢ity, Pavladar region, O 1%
|Ka2akhstan.
Eire Mineracio Limitada Awenida Professor Magalhaes Weto, 1752, 558 Andar, Sala 1501, 90.81%
Pltuba, Salvador, Ba, 41810-012
EMRC Africa L Limited Registered K Physical Addrggs: 00.21%
2nd Flowy, 16 5. James’ Street, Landon, $W1A 1ER, Unlted Kingdam
EMNRC Africa BY an Luijkenstrast B bg, 1071 €M Amsterdam The Netherlands 90.21%
EMRC Afric Holdings Limited Registered & Physical Address: 90.21%
2l Floor, 16 5t_ James” Street, Londaon, 314 1ER, Unlted Kingdom
ENRC Congo BV, -an luijkenstraat & bg, 1071 ChA Amsterdam The Nethedands 99.81%
EMRC Finanee Limited 5th Floor, § 5t Andrew Street, Eandon, United Kingdom EC3A 3AE 99 81%
ENALC Kazakhstan, LLP Republic of Kazakhsten (16000 Astana city, 30 & Kabanbay Batyrg 92.85%
avenue
EMRL Eeasing BV, Jan Luijkenstraat & bz, 1071 CM Amsterdam The Netherdands 99.81%
EMRC Logistics BY Jan buijkenstraat & b, 1071 Ch Amsterdam The Netherlands 49.581%
1050030, 291734 Dostyk Avenuc, Alenaty, Kazakhstan. 95.81%
|Registered Cifice: Zeelie Qffive Park, 381 Ontdekkers Road, Florida 03.51%

Park, Extension 3, Raodepoart, £709
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Avenue, Lusaka, Zambia

- . Prepartion of
_SuhsTd]ar\r Kame Regu;hered__.l\d:lre?s capital hald
ENRC Management [South Africal {Pty} Limited [Registerad Address: The Reserve, 54 Melville Road, lllove, 99 E1%
Johannesburg, 2196
ENREC Management Urmlted Sth Floor, & 5t Andrew Strec, Londen, United Kingdom EC44 SAE 95.61%
ENRC fanganese {Pty) Limited Regicstered Address: The Reterve, 54 Melville Road, lllove, 73.86%
ahamnesburg, 2105
ENRLC Manganese Holdings Limnited Trident Chambors PO Box 146 Road Town Tartela G 1110 Britlsh 93.81%
ENRL Marketing {Africa) BRCC Unit N, 1501, Saba Tower 1, Plot Moo E3, Jumeirah Lake Towers PO 93.81%
|Boe 17674 Dubai United Arab Emirates
ENAL Marketing Africa AG Company Address: Bale Zimmermann-Strasse 7 8302 Kloten 983.81%
Pasta| Acdress: Postfach 2058 Zurlch-Flughaten
ENRL Marketing AG Company Address: Balz Zimmermanin-Sirazse 7 8302 Klaten 95.51%
Pastal Address: Postfach 3058 Zurich-Flughafen
ENRL Marketing LIS Bolshay Kislowsky Perculek, 9, Sth floar 99,81%
Russlan Federation, 125008
EMRC bozambigque Limitadz Rua da Mukumbura, no 434, Distrito Urbane 1, Mapute Cidade, 90.81%
Mozarmbique
ENRCPMZLLP Republic of Kazakhstan, Paviodar, Pavlodar, ya. Lamova str, 180, o0.51%
index 140013
ENRC Switzerland LLE oo Pestal ozal Rechtsanwdlte A 98 51%
Léwenstrasse 1, CH-BOOL Zlirich, Switrerland
ENRC Treasury — Africa Limited [Suite 2004 Level 2, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius 59.81%
Enya Holding B.W, Jan Luljkenstraat B bg, 1071 €M Amsterdam The Netherlands 90.31%
Eurasian Graup, LLP Republic of Kazakhstan 010000 Astana clty, 20 A Kabanbay Batyra 100.080%
avenue
Eurasian Natural Resources Corparation Umited 5th Flaor, 6 5t Andrew Strect, London, United Kngdam EC44 3AE 99.531%
Eurasian Natural Resources Corparation My Fan Luijkenstraat 8 bg, 1071 £0A Amsterdam The Netherlands 99.81%
Eurasian Resaurees Group BY Jan Lulkenstraat 8 bg, 1071 Ch Amsterdam The Nethaerlands 100.00%
Eurasian Resourecs Group Sarl 9, Rue Ste Zithe L-2763 Luxembaurg Ultimate
haldlng
COmpal
Eurasian Resources Trade House LLP Republic of Kazakhstan G10000 Astana clty, 30 A kabanbay Eatyra 100.00%
avehle
Expl MEnciras do Mae Limitada (ERAR} Maputo Cidade, DISTRITS URBANG S5, Baima da Chamanmul g, Av. 49.81%
D2 Mozambigue, no 554 R/C
Frantier Gperations Zambia Limited Registered Office: The Globe Building, Plot No. 2386 Longalonge 03.81%
Road, Fairvlew, Lusaka, Zambia
Frontler Soclété Anonyme (58] Repistared OFffce and Physical Address: 94.82%
232 Rowte Likasi, Commune Annexes, Lubumbashi, Demogratic
Republlc of Congo
Gaantagab Tin and Tantalum Company [Py} Umited Physical Address: 12th Flogr, Sanlam Centre, 145 — 157 T4.66%
Independence Avenue, Windhoek, Namibiz.
Postal Address: PO Box 2558, windboek, Namibia
Gaugh Aviation Py} Limited Repistered Address: The Reserve, 54 hclvllle Road, lllavo, 23.51%
Johannesburg, 2196
Xazakhstan Al smelter J5C The Republic of kt Pavlodar, ul Stalovaroy 24 93.51%
Kazsoda LLP 140013 Pavladar city, Al af Kazakhstan, J3C 99.81%
Eolwesi lnvestment Lionited Nemaours Chambers PO Box 3170 Road Tawn Tortola Britlsh Virgin 95.81%
Islands
la Campagnie de Traitement des Rejets de Kingamyambao Sccigté Ananyme (Metalkol Sa} Registered Office and Physjeal Address: 65,874
282 Route Likasi, Commune snnexes, Luburbashl, Demacratic
Republic of Congo
La Cangalaise Des Mines et de Developp Sorigté a responsabilies limitée (Comide 5ar] Resistered Office and Physleal Address: 09.61%
B Avenue Industrielte, Cammune de Kampemba, Lubumbasihib,
Pravince Katanga, Democratle Republic of Conge
Lefever Finance Limited ¥rident Chambers P.C. Box 146 Road Tewn Tortola Y& 1110 British 29.81%
Mirgin |slands
Mali Mineral Resouroes SA Reglstared & Physical Addrass: F9.E55
{Hamdallaye ACE 2000
jlmmeuble Hamary DEMBELE, 2&mc ttage
BP.E 25, Bamako
Iali
Mamatwan tdanganese (Pty) Limited Registerad Address: The Reserve, 54 Melville Road, Llowe, 50.90%
lohanneshueg, 2196
Menwood Trading (Pvt] Limited 71 Woglwich Road, Willowvale, Harare, Zi 99.81%
Metallurg, LLP 111500 Kzzakhstan, ¥ostanay region, Rudny city, Industrial zone 95.81%
(Mineraclio Minas Bahla 5.4, Ruz Permambuco 1000 Sala: 601 Parte A; - Funcionarios Cep.: o4.81%
|3m3m£1 Balo Horizonte/ Mg Brazil
Wlncragiio Pelve Brave S/4 Fua Pernambirco 1000 Sala: 601 Parte A; - Funcionarios Cep.s 59.81%
20139151 Belo Horizonte g Brasil
Ipzambigue Coal Limited Registered and Trading Address: S0.81%%
Minerva Fiduclary Scrvlces [WMauritios) Limited Suite 2004 Level 2,
nlexander House, 35 Lvberciey, Ebene, Mauritius
Pacifit Eask Company Limited Svite £, Third Flear, Capital City Bldg, Independence Avcnue, 59.81%
ictaria, Mahe, 5 elles
Pedra Clnza Mineragda Limitada Professor Avenue MagalhZes Neto, 3752, 15 Floor, Room 15002, 99.81%
Pituba, Salvacdor, Ba, 41810-012, Arazil
Remniput LLP Legal Address: Karakhstan, 050057, Mmaty, 76/109 Abay avenue, 99.81%
affice 400
Fubia Hoddings Limited Trident Chambers P.0. fiox 146 Road Town Tortola W& 1114 British 09.81%
“irgin fslands
54 Fluorite [Pty) Limited Registered Address: The Reserve, 54 Melville Road, lllava, 50.90%
Johannesburg, 2195
Sahat Holding 54 [Pry) Limited Registered Address; 107-102 EF Malan Road, Cnr Constantia 99.81%
Awenue, Pomona Estate, Kempton Park, 1620
Sabot Holdings 2ambia Limlted Tegistered Address: 3rd Floor, Mpile Cffice Park, 74 Independence 43.81%
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Froportien of

Rynochnaya street,

Suhsldiarvﬂ_ame capital held

2abet Management Limited Registered Address: (Hiaji Trade Centre, 18t Floor, Yictoria, Mahe, 00.81%

Sabot Properties Limited Flet Ne BE 200, Johnstone Read, Blantyve 3, Malawi 99.81%
P.0. Box 728, Blantyre, Private Bag 405, Lilongwe 4

Zabel Properties Zambia Limited Registered Address: 3rd Floar, tpkle Office Park, 74 Independence Q9.A1%
Avenue, Lusaka, Zambia

Szbot 54 {Ptyh Limited Registered Address: 107-108 EF Malan Road, Cnr Constantla 99.81%
Avenue, Pomona Estate, Kempron Park, 1620

Sabot Zambla Limited Registered Address: 3rd Floor, Mpile Office Park, 74 Independence 92.81%
Avenue, Lusaka, Zambia

Zarya Arka Spoetskoks 150 1000149, Karakhstan, Karaganda city , Kazybek bi districe, 7 6. 14%

Xinlang, 830004 China

Shubarkol Kemir, 15C Kazakhstan, 100004, Karaganda region, 18 Asfaltriaya str. 6. 14%
Sociéré [¥Exploliatlan Des Gi De Kalukordi ) Sociéte par actions simplifige [SA5) Mo, 30. Route Du Galf, Commune et Ville Lukbumbashl, Lubumbashi, 47.68%
DRC
Sofdex Investments [Pui) Limlted LacDonald House, 19 Selous Avenue, Harare, 95.81%
South Africa Coal Lirahed Reglstered and Trading Sddress: 93.51%
Minctva Flduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited Sulte 2004 Level 2,
Alexandar House, 35 Cybereity, Ehene, Mauritiug
South East Africa Coal Holdings Limited ‘Reglstered office address and strest address: an.81%
Mont Crevelt House
_Bulwer Avenue
§5t Sampson
Guernsey GV2 4LH
South East Africa Mining Limitoed Registerad offil 255 and street address: BO.81%
IAont Crevelt Hause
Bulwer Avenue
&t Sampeon
Guernscy GY2 ALH
Southern Palace Inveskments 385 {Pry} Lionibed Reglstared Address: The Reserve, 54 Melville Road, ova, 73.26%
Johanneshurg, 2196
SSEP0 IS0 111540 Kazakhstam, Kostanay region, Rudry city, Lenina 26 str. 597 56%
Smnbcrg_' Investmeants {Pyvt] Limited Swite 4, Survey Housg, 101 Park Lane, Harars 839.93%
THC Kazchreme, 1SC Repubic of Kazakhstan, 030006 Aktobe region, 4 A WMametova skr, 98.129%
Todal Minlag {Privare} Limited Repistered B Physical Address: 59.89%
18 Kenilworth Road, Highlands, Harare, Zimbabwe
Transcom LLP 154020, Kazakh Almaty, 291/24 Dostyk avenue 99.81%
Tr Ron LLP Kazakhstan, Rudny citr.ZheIeanrudnaya station. 99 B1%
Transystema LLF 050020, kit Almaty, 291724 Dostyk avenue 99 85%
Zambezi Coal (Pry) Limited i d Address: The Reserve, 54 Melville Road, llove, 18.81%
Johannesburg, 2195
Zatabed Cozl Management Senvices {Pty) Limited Regisiered Address: The Resatve, 54 Melville Road, llove, 8815
Jahannesburg, 2186
Zhana Temilr Zhol LLP Legal Address: Kazakhstan, DS0057, Almaty, 76,1049 Abay avenue, 03.81%
office 202
TOD RemZholScrvice Legal Address: Kazakhstan, 50026, Almaty, 128 Kezhambkolaw str. q5.81%
Actual address: 0SODZD Kazakhstan, Almaty 291734 Dostyk avenue
Sokolovka LLP Kazakhstan, Kostanay, Rudny city, strect 40 years of October, the 09.81%
house 45, the Index 111500,
Klnjlzng Hengfa Xinlang Intemnatignal Trade Co, Ltd Xinjiang, Urumagi, South Street, Betllng International Center Med16 45.81%
|Inke, Buildlng Mol 294
ENRE Business and Tedinology Services UK LTD Sth Floar & St Andrew Street, Landon, United Kingeom, ECA4 3AE 9%.81%
ENRC Marketing Kazakhstan LLP Republic of Kazakhstan 010000 Astana city, 30 A Kabanbay Batyra 94.81%
| Evenue
Credit Partmershlp ENRE Credlt LLP Republic of Kazokhstan 010000 Astana city, 30 A Kabanbay Batyra 98.11%
venue
EWRC Kamek {Corporate Fund) Republic of Kazakhstan 010000 Astana city, 30 & Kabanbay Batyra 99.81%
@VENUE
ENRC Business & Technology Service LLF 1 bic of Kazakhstan of Kazakhstan , Astana, Syganak 29 99.61%
lsmet Campany LLP kazakhstan, Favipdar, Loy str, 180 8.44%
Kazchrome Avlation Limibed P.OLBox 837 The Valley Anguilla 00.81%
Sdentific-research englnecrng ceater ERG LLP Republic of ¥azakhstan 010000 Astana city, 30 A Kabanbay Balyra 90.81%
avenue
Soeew Ferroalioy Plant |50 1 Ulitsa Nakbabina, Serov, Sverdlovskaya Dblast, Russian Federation B9.E1%
Industrial Metals ELC 52 Naberezhnaya Ky Jarmianzk building 4, floor 4, Blverside 59.81%
Towers Business Centre, Moscow, Russian Federation
Sercv Metalconcentrate Wocks 150 1 Ulitsa Makhablra, Serov, Sverdiovskaya Oblast, Russlan Federation 90.21%
ya Mine “Rud " I5C 25 Ulitsa Lenlna, Posclok Sarany, Garnozavadsky Ralon, Permskaya 98.73%
Ohlast, Russian Federation
tofnt Venture Name i C. i Address Share held -
K5 Halding Group Sarl 156, boulevard Royal L2449 Luxembaurg 25.00%
Taurug Gold Limited 3076 5ir Francis Orake's Highway, Road Town, Tartolla, BV, Y1110 34.83%
Xinjiang Asmare Caking Coal Co., Ltd Rm.60B, Yinxing Hotel, Qital Rd., Shayibake Dist. Wulumugi, 67.42%
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Not includad in the consolidation of Eurasian Resources Group 5.4 r.. for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2014,

Subsldlery Name . . S Registerad Address. Proportionch | o con not included
. C capltal held |-
Africa Resgurces (B.C.} Limited 1311 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Calumbia, W6E 403, 99.91% Imimaterial
Canada
Afrleo Resources {DRC} Sociéts a respensabilité [Imitée (Sarl} Physical Addeess {Headguarters}: Propartion of | Immaterlal
Mo. 3%, Avenuc Lofol, Surarter Golf, Commune de Lubumbashl, capital beld by
Cremaocratic Republic of Conge ERG
Akzhar-chrome , LLP Kazakhstan , Aktobe region, Chrometau district, Chrometau clty, 2 95.81% Imrnaterlal
Okraina str.
Bluc Narclssus Umited Trident Chambers P.O. Bux 146 Road Town Tortala W& 1110 British 99 81% Immaterial
[irgin |slands
Camec Marketing Limited Kason, Hayes & Curran 93.81% lmmaterial
Gith Floer, Sauth Bank House, Barrow Street, Dublin 4
Cafiparinter — Lo Compagaie Financore de Participations Internationales 5.4 Registered Diffice: 95.81% Immaterial
34, Boulevard du Frince Heari, L— 1724, Luxembourg
Cofipatiner Limited Massack Fonseca & Co (BYI} Limited 95.81% Immaterial
P O Box 3136, Road Tawn, Tortals, BYI
Daletana Properties Limited Trident Chambers PO, Box 146 Road Tewn Tortola W6 1110 British 9%.81%  |[Immaterial
Wingln Islands
Denziftan Investments [Pve) Limited 1 Clivedan Close, Highlands, Hararc, Zlimbabwe 49.61% Immaterial
Donskaya Meftebaza J5C ARtobe reglen , thrametau city, 12 Okraina str. 77475 Immaterlal
DRE Resourees Haldings Limited Reglstered Office: 93.81% Dormant
{Cains Fiduciaries Limited
Fort Anne, Douglas, Isle of Man
ki1 SPL
Enengo-2007, LLP 111500 Kazakhstan, Kostanay reglon, Rudny cty, industrial zone a%.81% Immaterial
ENRC Managemenl (Canga) Limibed Trident Chambers P.2, Box 146 Road Town Tartola Y@ 1110 British 95.81% Immaterial
EMRC Servlces (Conga) Limibed Trident Chambers P.Ou Box 146 Road Town Tartola Y@ 1110 Britdsh 95.81% Immaterial
Virgin |zlands
Forcenage Investmants {Fut] Limited 1 Civedon Close, Highlan:rs‘ Harare, Zi 99819 Inmaterial
Fortfs LLP 111500 Kazakhstan, Kostanay region., Rudny dty, Inustrial zone 59 .81% Immaterial
Haomnyak LLF 111500 Republl of Kazakhstan, Kostznay regicn,, Pudny city 1 Mira 99.81% tmmaterial
Jstr.
Highwind Preperties Limited Trident Chambers PG Box 146 Road Tawn Tartola ¥ 1110 British 99.81%  |Immaterial
Interim Holdings Limiled Trident Chambers PO Bax 146 Road Tawn Tortola WG 1110 Gritish 59.81% Immaterial
Virgin Islancs
Just Wise Trading 31 {Pty} Limited Registered Address; The Reserve, 54 Malville Rezd, llove, 99.81%  |Besmant
lmmum- 2196
Kheomtau Brick Faclary LLP Aktobe reglon, Chremetalr dishrict, Chrometau ity [Industrlal Zone, 59.81% Immaterial
Ceraina str, sectlan 2
Kigala Multinational Limited Merrours Chambers PO Box 3170 Road Town Tortola British Wirgin 90.81% Immaterial
|tstands
Kinsankala Mining Corp, 1111 West Grorgla Steeet, Vancouver, Eritish Columbia, VEE 4v3 59.81% Immaterial
Canada
Lotas Aktobe LLP 030015 Aktobe dty, Industrial zone 312 Strelkovoy Diviai, str. 80219 Immatcrial
alprey Investments [Fyth Lmited 71 Woalwich Road, Willowwale, Harare, Zimbabwe 59.21%  limmaterial
Mplservice. LLP Bishkul village, 43 Spartivnaya str, 90.21% Immaterial
Byzylzhar Distdct
P03 Martins Properties {Pvth Limited 7 Harmandy Road, 4 Park, Harare, Zlmbabwe 96.81% Cosmant
Pareaz Limited Trident Chammbers P.0. Bax 145 Road Town Tortola VG 1110 British 90.21%
Wirgin lslands
Pesmec Enterprises (Private) Limited 17083 Wathog Clase, Barrowdale, Harave, Zimbabwe 0B.51% Darmant
PRIZ JSC Kazakhstan, Favlodar region, Paviadar city, 180 Lomova sreet 90,219 Immatctial
Rasswet LLF 111500 Kzzakhstan, Kostanay Reglon, Rudny diy, 49 Parkowaya 29.%21%  [Immaterial
Strect
Ringmaster Trade and Invest 38 (Pty) Limlted Repistered B Physical Address: 90.21%  |Immatesial
54 Wlglville Road, The Reserve, First Floor, East Wing, o, 2196
Rokesly Interrational Limlted Trident Chambers B,0, Box 145 Road Town Tortola VG 1110 British 99,21% Immaterial
wirgln Islands
Rudnenskaya teplosct LLP 131500 Kazakhstan, Hostanay region., Rudny city, Industriz| zone 949.91% Immaterial
Sabat DREC Soclété i responsabitlité limibée (Sad) Registered Office and Physlcal Addrss: 949.51% Immaterial
3% Route Likasi, Commune Annexes, Lubumbashl, Demetratic
Republic of Cango
Sabat Heldings Bimlted Plat Ma BE 200, Johnstone Road, Blantyre 3, Malawi 99.83% Immaterial
P.0, Box 786, Blantyre, Private Bag 405, Ulongwe 4
Sabot; Linnited Plat a BE 200, Johnstene Road, Blantyre 3, Malawi 099.893% Immaterial
P.0, Box 786, Blantyre, Private Bag 405, Lilongwe 4
Sabot Management Holdings Limited Internatlenal Trust Building, P.C Box £59, Road Town, Tortola, 95.891% Immaterial
British irgin Iskands
Sabot Praperties 54 {Pty) Limited Registered Address: 107-108 EP Malan Road, Cne Senstantia 09.81% Imimaterlal
Avenue, Pomona Estate, Kempton Park, 1620
Zervica LLP 111500 Kazakhstan, Kostanay region., Rudny clty 9 Stroitelnaya 99.81% Imimaterlal
Simplex Holding Société a responsabllité Imitée {Sarl) Registered Office and Physical Address: 09.81% Imimaterial
Iyenue dos Roches, Gurarbier Gelf, Commune de Lubumbashi,
Demacratic Republlc of Congo
Someden Investments [Pet) Limited 3B Ridpeway South, P O Chrisipite, Harare, Zi 98.81% Darmant
Swanex Zambia PEy Limltcd Registered Qffice; BOO Lusaka 95.81% Immaterial
Unit B, Caunting Hause Square, Yhabo Mbeki Road, Lesaka, Zambia
TransRudnyAute LLP 111500 Kazakhstan, Kastanay regiorn., Rudny dty , Industrial zone 95.81% Immaterial
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